

Université de Liège Faculté de Médecine GIGA-Neurosciences



Unité de recherche sur la Régénération axonale et la Douleur céphalique

Professeur Jean Schoenen

Role of Placental Growth Factor (PIGF) and molecular characterization of the signalling pathways regulating its expression in the inflammatory context of Wallerian degeneration



Linda CHABALLE Licenciée en Sciences Biomédicales

Promoteurs:

Professeur Jean Schoenen Docteur Rachelle Franzen Docteur Alain Chariot

Mémoire présenté en vue de l'obtention du grade de Docteur en Sciences Biomédicales et Pharmaceutiques

Année Académique 2010-2011



Université de Liège Faculté de Médecine GIGA-Neurosciences



Unité de recherche sur la Régénération axonale et la Douleur céphalique Professeur Jean Schoenen

Role of Placental Growth Factor (PlGF) and molecular characterization of the signalling pathways regulating its expression in the inflammatory context of Wallerian degeneration



Linda CHABALLE

Licenciée en Sciences Biomédicales

Promoteurs:

Professeur Jean Schoenen Docteur Rachelle Franzen Docteur Alain Chariot

Mémoire présenté en vue de l'obtention du grade de Docteur en Sciences Biomédicales et Pharmaceutiques

Année Académique 2010-2011

Remerciements :

Au cours de ces cinq années de thèse, le nombre de personnes m'ayant aidée et soutenue afin de réaliser ce travail n'a cessé de croître. Il me semble donc important, avant toute autre chose, de remercier ces nombreuses personnes qui ont participé, de près ou de loin, à la réalisation et à l'aboutissement de cette thèse.

Je tiens tout d'abord à remercier le Professeur **Jean Schoenen** pour m'avoir accueillie au sein de son laboratoire. Je le remercie pour ses conseils précieux concernant les présentations orales et la création de diapositives « self-explaining ».

Toute ma gratitude et ma reconnaissance s'adressent ensuite au Docteur **Rachelle Franzen**, dit Rach ou Mamie pour les intimes. En plus d'être une chef toujours disponible, donnant de judicieux conseils, et ouverte au dialogue, tu es devenue, à mes yeux, une véritable amie. Du fond du cœur, Rach, je te remercie pour TOUT. Je te suis reconnaissante avant tout pour m'avoir recrutée dans la Schoenenette Team, ensuite, pour m'avoir proposé un projet de recherche passionnant et pour m'avoir enseigné ton savoir et savoir-faire d'excellente chercheuse, et, enfin, pour m'avoir accordé ta confiance en m'offrant la possibilité de poursuivre mes recherches encore pendant 3 ans au sein de cette fameuse équipe qu'est la nôtre.

En effet, le labo du Professeur Schoenen est composé d'une équipe extraordinaire, où travail rime avec qualité, convivialité et gâteau chocolaté. Je tiens à remercier individuellement certains membres, passés ou présents, de cette Schoenenette Team.

Tout d'abord, **Jeanine Mosen**, notre encyclopédie de l'histologie, notre Lucky Luke du cryostat. Je la remercie pour m'avoir enseigné le b.a.-ba des immunomarquages et des coupes au cryostat, ainsi que pour les nombreux coups de main qu'elle a pu me donner durant toutes ces années.

Mes remerciements s'adressent ensuite à **Murielle Wouters**. Mumu, en plus de ton aide plus que précieuse pour les coupes semi-fines et la microscopie électronique, je te remercie pour ta bonne humeur, ta sympathie, ta franchise, et pour tous les bons moments passés en ta compagnie.

Sur le plan « aide technique », je terminerai en remerciant **Coralie DiPrima**. Tout comme Jeanine, je la remercie pour avoir allégé mon temps de travail au cryostat, mais également pour la patience qu'elle a eue lors du teasing.

Pour leur patience, car il en faut pour me supporter au quotidien, je remercie mes collègues de bureau : **Renaud**, **Virginie** et **Dorothée**. Un merci spécial pour Virginie car en plus d'être une collègue parfaite, c'est une amie de confiance, et une cat-sitter hors pair.

Pour leurs conseils toujours utiles, pour les moments agréables passés en leur compagnie au labo et hors du labo, et pour leurs délicieuses pâtisseries, je remercie les docteurs **Sylvie Multon** et **Delphine Bouhy**.

Pour son aide administrative, pour sa bonne humeur et son dynamisme, je remercie notre Super Secrétaire, Jessica Thys.

Pour sa gentillesse et sa disponibilité, je remercie notre dernière Schoenenette récemment recrutée, Alexandra Pieltain.

Lors de ma thèse, j'ai également eu l'occasion de bénéficier de l'aide d'élèves moniteurs. **Stéphanie Delstanche**, **Maxime Sempels** et **Julien Fanielle**, je vous remercie d'avoir donné un peu de votre temps pour contribuer à la réalisation de ce travail.

En plus d'être composée de personnes exceptionnelles, notre petite équipe a le privilège de faire partie d'un centre d'excellence, le GIGA Neurosciences. Parmi les membres de ce centre, certains ont marqué, à leur façon, ma vie au labo et ont contribué à l'achèvement de ce travail. Tout d'abord, je tiens à remercier les nombreux seniors, Brigitte Malgrange, Laurent Nguyen, Vincent Seutin, Bernard Rogister, Sabine Wislet, Lucien Bettendorff, Bernard Lakaye, Jacques Balthazar, Pierre Leprince et Thierry Grisar, qui, grâce à leurs remarques constructives lors des réunions du mercredi midi, m'ont permis d'améliorer mes recherches. Je tiens également à remercier

le Docteur **Manuel Deprez** du service de Neuropathologie pour le temps qu'il a consacré à m'aider à la réalisation de la partie « microscopie électronique » de ce travail.

Ensuite, je remercie les nombreux doctorants et post-docs qui sont responsables de l'ambiance si sympathique du GIGA Neuro. Quelques dédicaces spéciales pour **Sophie**, pure blonde, qui pense que la MCH se retrouve en forte concentration dans les paninis courgette ; pour **Phil**, le français fan de knackis qui s'avère être ma tête de Turc préférée ; pour **Emerence** et **Christine**, compatriotes SBIM avec qui je partage de nombreux bons souvenirs intra- et extra-labo ; pour **Jean** le bavard avec qui j'aime tant discuter « sciences » ; et pour tous les autres qui mériteraient bien d'être cités ici, malheureusement je dois m'arrêter là sinon je vais dépasser les 3 pages de remerciements.

Enfin, je terminerai la partie GIGA Neuro en remerciant les fondations des labos, les techniciens. De tout cœur, je remercie Alice Marquet, une main de velours dans un gant de fer (ou serait-ce l'inverse ???), pour ses nombreux conseils, son amitié et sa disponibilité. Merci à Patricia Ernst pour son aide précieuse en culture, à Bernard Coumans pour son aide en bio mol, à Laurent Massotte et Arlette Brose pour nos discussions pendant les temps de midi, et à Christelle Gillissen pour sa gentillesse et son intérêt porté sur l'avancée de mon travail.

Outre les membres du GIGA Neuro, j'aimerais exprimer ma gratitude auprès de certains autres chercheurs faisant partie de cette « GIGA famille ».

Tout d'abord, je remercie le Docteur Alain Chariot d'avoir accepté d'être co-promoteur de cette thèse. Ses nombreux conseils avisés m'ont permis d'accroître mes connaissances dans le domaine de la biologie moléculaire et des voies de signalisation intracellulaires.

Mes remerciements s'adressent ensuite au Docteur **Pierre Close**, mon mentor de la bio mol. Je le remercie de tout cœur pour son aide essentielle à la réalisation de la partie « NF- κ B » de ce travail, mais également pour sa disponibilité et sa patience.

Pour son aide technique concernant les cytokine arrays, je remercie Alexandra Paye, doctorante dans le laboratoire du Professeur Agnès Noel, que je remercie également pour avoir accepté de faire partie du jury de cette thèse et pour m'avoir judicieusement conseillée lors de l'écriture de mon premier article scientifique.

En tant que Président du jury de cette thèse, je remercie le Docteur **Jacques Piette** pour sa participation à tous mes comités de thèse et pour ses nombreuses remarques constructives à l'égard de mon travail.

Au sein de la plateforme GIGA-Imagerie, je tiens à remercier **Sandra Ormenese** et **Raafat Stefan** pour leur disponibilité, leur savoir-faire et leur sympathie.

Parmi les nombreux laboratoires du GIGA, le LBTC mérite une dédicace spéciale pour avoir supporté mes interminables monologues plaintifs. Je vous remercie tous (Audrey C, Audrey H, Audrey S, Alexia, Giang, Nancy, Lauriane, Johanne, Pierre, Thibaut, Victor, Ziad, Lionel, Romain, Charly, Tony, Nancy) pour m'avoir accueillie dans votre labo même si je n'y venais que pour causer, pour avoir fait semblant de m'écouter, et pour m'avoir conseillée voire même réconfortée lorsque j'en avais besoin.

Voici en plus quelques mercis bonus : merci à **Tony** pour m'avoir donné le protocole miracle pour réussir mes RT-PCR, merci à **Thibaut** pour ses conseils sur le flexercell (même si au final ça n'a jamais fonctionné), merci à **Alexia** pour sa soirée apprentissage « comment bien rouler les sushis », et merci à **Romain** pour avoir accepté d'être ma tête de Turc.

Je terminerai cette dédicace spéciale en remerciant les Audrey, la blonde et la brune. Audrey « blonde », nous nous sommes rencontrées en septembre 2001, et près de 10 ans plus tard, tu me supportes toujours. Nous avons fait nos séances de TP ensemble, nous avons guindaillé ensemble, nous sommes allées en soirées, en festivals et même en vacances ensemble. Tu es une véritable amie, je dirais même plus, tu es ma meilleure amie. Je te remercie donc pour tous les moments passés ensemble et pour l'amitié que tu me portes. Enfin je te remercie car grâce à toi j'ai rencontré une autre personne exceptionnelle, devenue également mon amie, Audrey « brune », appelée aussi Cocotte (à croire que les Audrey sont particulièrement sympathiques). Cocotte est un petit être d'origine elfique, capable de me remonter le moral et de me rendre le sourire par un simple regard ou une bonne citation du genre « la vie est une … ». Tout comme pour la blonde, je te remercie pour les moments qu'on a pu

avoir ensemble, pour la balade chez IKEA en cocotte mobile et pour toutes nos conversations sérieuses (ou pas).

Je pense qu'il est également important d'exprimer toute ma gratitude envers les nombreuses souris ayant participé à cette étude. Ces souris héroïques ont dévoué leur vie au progrès de la science. Je les remercie pour leur caractère calme et leur bonne volonté lors des tests de foot-print. Mes remerciements s'adressent également à l'équipe de l'animalerie centrale de l'ULg qui a pris soin de mes petites chéries.

En parlant de souris, je tiens également à remercier le Professeur **Peter Carmeliet** de la Katholieke Universiteit de Leuven, avec qui nous avons collaboré. Il nous a fourni les souris knockout pour le PIGF générées dans son laboratoire et nous a permis d'avoir notre propre élevage à Liège, ce qui a grandement facilité mon travail.

Sur le plan international, je remercie le Docteur **Fatiha Nothias**, de l'Université Pierre et Marie Curie de Paris, pour m'avoir accueillie au sein de son laboratoire lors d'une journée où les secrets de la culture des cellules de Schwann m'ont été dévoilés.

Ces recherches n'auraient pu être réalisées sans le soutien financier de nombreux organismes: le Fonds de la Recherche Scientifique-FNRS, le Fonds Léon Fredericq, la Fondation Charcot, l'Association Belge contre les Maladies Neuro-Musculaires, et le Fonds pour la Recherche Scientifique sur les lésions de moelle épinière (Fonds voor Wetensschappelijk Onderzoek naar Ruggemergletsels). Pour la confiance qu'ils ont accordée à ce projet, je les remercie.

Sans mes parents, je n'aurais jamais pu étudier les Sciences Biomédicales à l'Université de Liège. Je les remercie donc pour leur soutien moral et financier durant ces nombreuses années. J'ajoute ici un petit merci spécial pour Dom qui a accepté de faire un détour par le CHU chaque matin pendant près de 5 ans.

C'est durant mes études et mon doctorat que j'ai eu la chance de rencontrer certains de mes amis les plus chers. Nath et Oli, Ju et Fla, et Dani, je vous remercie tous pour votre soutien et pour tous les bons moments passés ensemble tels que les nouvel ans (parfois foireux), les soirées ciné ou soirées jeux, les bonnes bouffes et tous les autres excellents souvenirs que nous avons en commun.

Je terminerai en remerciant l'être qui m'est le plus cher et qui mérite plus que toute ma gratitude pour sa présence, son soutien, son amour, mais aussi et surtout pour sa patience au quotidien. **Jonas**, merci d'être là, merci d'être toi.

Abbreviation list

Ab: Antibody **ALS:** Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis ATP: Adenosine Triphosphate ATF3: Activating Transcription Factor3 BCIP: 5-Brom-4-Chlor-3-IndolylPhosphate Bcl-2: B-Cell Lymphoma 2 Bcl-xL: B-Cell Lymphoma-Extra Large **BDNF:** Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor **BF-2:** Brain Factor-2 **bp:** base pair BrdU: Bromodeoxyuridine Brn2: Brain 2 **BSA:** Bovine Serum Albumin **CNS:** Central Nervous System ct: cycle threshold DAB: 3,3'-diaminobenzidine DAPI: 4',6'-diamidino-2-phénylindole **Dhh:** Desert hedgehog **DMEM:** Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium **DNA:** Deoxyribonucleic Acid **DRG:** Dorsal Root Ganglion **EC:** Endothelial Cell **ECM:** Extracellular Matrix EDTA: Ethylenediaminetetraacetic Acid Egr2: Early growth response protein 2 Epo: Erythropoietin erbB: Erythroblastic Leukemia Viral Oncogene FBS: Foetal Bovine Serum FITC: Fluorescein Isothiocyanate Flt: Fms-Like Tyrosine kinase Flk: Fetal Liver Kinase Fos: FBJ murine osteosarcoma viral oncogene homolog GAP-43: Growth Associated Protein-43 GAPDH: Glyceraldehyde 3-Phosphate Dehydrogenase GCM1: Glial Cell Missing1 **GDNF:** Glial Derived Neurotrophic Factor **GFAP:** Glial Fibrillary Acidic Protein

GM-CSF: Granulocyte Macrophage-Colony Stimulating Factor gp 130: glycoprotein 130 HMG-CoA: 3-Hydroxy-3-MethylglutarylCoenzyme A HNK-1: Human Natural Killer-1 **HRG:** Heregulin-β1 ICAM: Intercellular Adhesion Molecule **IF:** Immunofluorescent **IFN:** Interferon **ΙκΒ:** Inhibitor of NF-κB **IKK:** IKB Kinase **IL:** Interleukin iNOS: inducible Nitric Oxyde Synthase i.p.: intraperitoneal **IP:** immunoprecipitation **ISH:** In Situ Hybridization KDR: Kinase-insert Domain Receptor **Ki67:** Kiel 67 **KLF:** Krüppel-Like Factor Krox20: Krüppel box 20 LDL: Low-Density Lipoprotein LFA: Lymphocyte Function-associated Antigen LIF: Leukemia Inhibitory Factor LRP: LDL Receptor-related Protein MAG: Myelin-Associated Glycoprotein MAP1B: Microtubule-Associated Protein 1B **MBP:** Myelin Basic Protein MCAO: Middle Cerebral Artery Occlusion MCP: Monocyte Chemotactic Protein **MHC:** Major Histocompatibility Complex MIP: Macrophage Inflammatory Protein **MMP:** Matrix Metalloproteinase MTF-1: Metal regulatory Transcription Factor-1 Nav_{1.6}: voltage-gated sodium channels 1.6 **NBT:** Nitrotetrazoliumblue **N-CAM:** Neural Cell Adhesion Molecule **NEMO:** NF-**KB** Essential Modulator NeuN: Neuronal Nuclei **NF-H:** Heavy Neurofilament subunit

NF-κB: Nuclear Factor Kappa-light-chainenhancer of activated B cells **NGF:** Nerve Growth Factor Ng-CAM: Neuronglia Cell Adhesion Molecule Nmnat: Nicotinamide mononucleotide adenylyltransferase NO: Nitric Oxyde **NPL:** Normal Print-Length **NRG:** Neuregulin **NRP:** Neuropilin NS: Nervous System NT: Neurotrophin **Oct6:** Octamer binding factor 6 **OMgp:** Oligodendrocyte Myelin glycoprotein **OPL:** Operated Print-Length **P0:** Protein 0 P2R: type-2 Purinergic Receptor p75 NGFr: low affinity nerve growth factor receptor p75 PAI: Plasminogen Activator-1 Inhibitor **PFA:** Paraformaldehyde *Pgf*^{-/-}: PlGF knock-out **PLF:** Print-Length Factor PIGF: Placental Growth Factor Pmp22: Peripheral myelin protein 22 PNS: Peripheral Nervous System POU: Pituitary-specific 1, Octamer transcription factor proteins, neural Unc-86 transcription factor Ptc: Patched **qRT-PCR:** quantitative Real-Time Polymerase Chain Reaction **RNA:** Ribonucleic acid **RT:** Room Temperature **RT-PCR:** Reverse Transcription Polymerase Chain Reaction SC: Schwann Cell Scip: Suppressed cyclic AMP-induced POU protein **SDS:** Sodium dodecylbenzenesulfonate **SE:** Standard Error **SOCS:** Suppressors Of Cytokine Signalling **Sox:** Sex determining region Y-box **TGF:** Transforming Growth Factor TLR: Toll-Like Receptor **TNF:** Tumor Necrosis Factor Trk: Tyrosine kinase **UFD2:** Ubiquitin Fusion Degradation 2 **UI:** Uninjured **UPS:** Ubiquitin Proteasome System UTP: Uridine-5'-triphosphate **VEGF:** Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor VLA-4: Very Late Antigen-4 **vWF:** von Willebrandt Factor **WD:** Wallerian Degeneration wt: wild-type

Table des matières

Section I Introduction	1
I.1. Central and Peripheral Nervous System: anatomical and cellular differences.	2
I.1.1. The outcome of NS injuries depends on the localization of the lesion: CNS versus PN	S 3
I.1.2. Permissive environment for axonal regeneration created by Schwann cells	6
I.1.3. Inhibitory environment for axonal regeneration in the injured CNS: the coalition of	
oligodendrocytes, astrocytes and microglia	6
I.2. Wallerian degeneration in the PNS	8
I.2.1. Axonal breakdown	9
I.2.2. Glial response and myelin fragmentation	9
I.2.3. Inflammatory reaction	.10
◆Initiation of inflammatory response	.10
	.11
♦ Macrophage recruitment and myelin phagocytosis	.13
◆Inflammation "turned-off"	.14
I.2.4. Axonal regeneration and remyelination	.14
◆Axonal regeneration	.15
◆Remyelination	.16
I.3. The transcription factor "nuclear factor kappa B"	.18
I.3.1. Activation factors and target genes of NF-κB	. 19
I.3.2. NF-κB functions during Wallerian degeneration	.20
✤Regulation of neuronal survival	.20
Induction of cytokine expression and neuropathic pain	.21
Regulation of remyelination and Schwann cell number	.21
I.4. The Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Family	.22
I.4.1. Members	.23
♦VEGF-A	.23
♦VEGF-B	.24
♦VEGF-C	.24
♦VEGF-D	.25
♦VEGF-E	.25
◆VEGF-F	.25
✤PIGF	.25
I.4.2. Receptors	.27
◆VEGFR-1	.27
♦VEGFR-2	.28
◆VEGFR-3	.28
♦Neuropilins	.29
I.4.3. Therapeutic uses	.29
◆Anti-VEGF therapy	.30
◆Pro-VEGF therapy	.30
Section II Objectives and Experimental approach	27
II 1 DIGE expression	. 52
II.1. FIOF CAPICSSION	21
II.2. FIOF fullctions	21
II.5. The model of wallerian degeneration	. 54
11.4. The experimental protocol	. 34

Section III Results	.36
III.1. PIGF expression pattern in the adult murine nervous system.	.37
III.1.1. PIGF expression in normal and injured adult mouse sciatic nerves	.38
III.1.2. PIGF expression in ventral spinal gray matter and dorsal root ganglia	.41
III.2. Signalling pathways regulating PIGF expression during WD: the role of NF-κB	.42
III.2.1. Prediction of NF-κB binding sites in mouse <i>Pgf</i> gene promoter	.42
III.2.2. PIGF expression regulation by NF-κB during Wallerian degeneration	42
III.3. PIGF and myelin sheath structure	
III.4. PIGF functional roles in Wallerian degeneration	.46
III.4.1. PIGF role on Schwann cell proliferation and formation of bands of Büngner	
Proliferation of Schwann cells is decreased in transected Pgf ^{-/-} nerves	
◆Proliferating Schwann cells are decreased in Pgf ^{-/-} SC cultures	47
Schwann cell alignment is delayed in transected Pgf ^{-/-} nerves	.49
✤Migration of Pgf ^{-/-} Schwann cells in vitro is non significantly decreased	. 50
III.4.2. PIGF role on macrophage recruitment.	.51
III.4.3. PIGF role on cytokine and chemokine expression	. 53
III.4.4. PIGF effect on myelin sheath degradation	.54
III.4.5. PIGF effect on the phagocytic phenotype of SC as indexed by c-Fos expression	.55
III.4.6. PIGF role on axonal regeneration	.57
III.4.7. PIGF role on remyelination	. 59
III.4.8. PIGF role on motor recovery	. 59
Section IV Discussion	.61
IV.1 PIGF is expressed in the normal nervous system	. 62
IV.2 PIGF expression changes during Wallerian Degeneration	.63
IV.3. PIGF is a target for NF-κB	. 64
IV.4. Periaxonal PIGF has no role in myelin sheath formation or preservation	.64
IV.5. PIGF deletion delays the cellular and molecular events of Wallerian Degeneration.	.65
IV.5.1. Impaired Schwann cell dedifferentiation and proliferation	.66
IV.5.2. Delayed cyto/chemokine expression	.66
IV.5.3. Delayed macrophage recruitment	.67
IV.5.4. Delayed myelin clearance, but no effect on the phagocytic phenotype of SCs	.67
IV.5.5. Delayed formation of Büngner's bands	.67
IV.5.6. Delayed axonal regeneration, but normal remyelination	.68
IV.5.7. Lack of functional motor recovery	.68
Castien V. Canalasian and Dramate	70
Section V Conclusion and Prospects	. /0
Section VI Materials and Methods	73
VI 1 Primary antibodies	74
VI 2 Animals and tissue samples	74
VI 3 Surgical procedure: sciatic nerve complete transection	75
VI 4 Motor recovery evaluation	76
VI 5 Immunostainings	77
VI.5.1. Tissue processing	.77
VI.5.2. Immunofluorescent staining protocol	.77
VI.5.3. DAB immunostaining protocol	
VI.6. Morphometric analyses	.78
VI.6.1. Quantification of <i>in vivo</i> Schwann cell proliferation	
VI.6.2. Quantification of Schwann cell c-Fos expression	.78
-	

 VI.6.4. Quantification of Schwann cell dedifferentiation
VI.6.5. Quantification of recruited macrophages
VI.7. Primary Schwann cell culture
VI.8. In vitro BrdU assay
VI.9. Schwann cell migration assay
VI.10. In situ hybridization
VI.11. Semi-quantitative reverse transcription PCR
VI.12. Total protein extraction from sciatic nerves
VI.13. Cytokine array
VI.14. Prediction of NF-KB binding sites
VI.15. Chromatin immunoprecipitation assay
VI.15.1. Immunoprecipitation and DNA purification
VI.15.2. Quantitative real-time PCR
VI.15.3. Relative quantification of NF-kB binding
VI.16. Luciferase assay
VI.17. Myelin sheath morphology
VI.17.1. Tissue processing
✤Toluidine blue staining and electronic microscopy
✤Teasing
VI.17.2. Morphometric analysis of myelin sheaths
Number of intact myelin sheaths
♦ Myelin sheath thickness
♦Internodal lengths
VI.18. Statistical analyses
Section VII Bibliography
Section VIII Appendices

Section I

Introduction

The nervous system (NS) is probably the most elaborated structure of living creatures. It allows the body <u>to receive</u> information coming from surroundings, <u>to analyse</u> them and <u>to</u> <u>adjust</u> the body response to them. Since the first description of **glial cells** in the treaty of Theodor Schwann in 1839 (for review Kosinski, 2004) and **neurons** thanks to Heinrich Wilhelm Waldeyer and Santiago Ramón y Cajal at the end of the 19th /beginning of the 20th century (for review Lopez-Munoz *et al.*, 2006; Winkelmann, 2007), knowledge about the structure and functions of the NS has been constantly growing over the years, and at an exponential rate during the last decade. Nevertheless, numerous unresolved questions persist notably concerning the mechanisms of the NS's response to injury or the role of newly discovered molecules in nervous functions. Our research project was conceived with the aim to increase knowledge in these two areas by studying the role of a specific molecule in the normal and lesioned NS. This introduction is meant to set the stage and to present the state of the art in our research domain, also for readers who are not neuroscience experts.

I.1. Central and Peripheral Nervous System: anatomical and cellular differences.

The NS is made up of two parts, the central (CNS) and the peripheral (PNS) nervous system (figure I.1). The CNS includes on the one hand **the encephalon**, located in the skull and formed by the brain, the brain stem and the cerebellum, that interpret information coming from the environment and regulate complex processes such as homeostasis, perception, emotions and cognition, and on the other hand **the spinal cord**, located in the spinal canal, that conveys information coming from peripheral structures to the encephalon and transmits motor and autonomic commands coming from the encephalon to peripheral targets. The PNS allows the CNS to interact with the rest of the body and the environment. It includes cranial nerves, spinal nerves, autonomic nerves and their respective ganglia.

Two main cell types are found within the NS: neurons and glial cells. Neurons are highly specialized cells that transmit electrical signals across the NS. Glial cells are the most numerous cells in the NS, representing about 90% of the total cell population. They are vital to neurons and neuronal functions providing them support, protection, myelination and metabolic homeostasis.

Astrocytes, oligodendrocytes and microglia are the glial cells specific to the CNS, while Schwann cells (SCs) and satellite cells are specific to the PNS. This different glial cell composition has been considered responsible for one of the major functional differences

between CNS and PNS, that puzzles neuroscience researchers worldwide since many years: axons regenerate readily in the injured PNS, whereas the regenerative capacity of injured neurons in the adult mammalian CNS is extremely limited. The next paragraph clarifies this difference in post-injury outcome between CNS and PNS.



Figure I.1: Anatomy of the nervous system (Biol 492/592 Human Neuroanatomy-Keith A.Carson)

I.1.1. The outcome of NS injuries depends on the localization of the lesion: CNS versus PNS

Since Ramón y Cajal's famous works at the beginning of the 20th century (Ramón y Cajal, 1928), it is well known that axon regeneration in the mature mammalian CNS is extremely limited after injury, contrasting with the remarkable ability of PNS axons to regenerate and to allow for recovery of function after peripheral nerve damage. The reasons for which the outcomes of PNS and CNS injury are so strikingly different have been extensively studied. At first, the inability of CNS axons to regenerate after a lesion was attributed to **a lack of intrinsic growth capacity of mature CNS neurons**. In fact, it has been shown that CNS neurons do not up-regulate growth-associated genes such as GAP-43 to

the same extent as do PNS neurons after injury (Fernandes et al., 1999). GAP-43 is a target gene of KLF-7, one of the members of the Krüppel-like factor family (Kajimura et al., 2007), a group of transcription factors that regulate intrinsic axon regeneration ability. It is now established that coordinated activities of different KLFs regulate the regenerative capacity of CNS neurons (Moore et al., 2009). Also, numerous experiments have shown that CNS axons are able to regenerate under certain conditions, as for example when they can grow through PNS nerve implants (Aguayo et al., 1981; Lavdas et al., 2008; Huebner & Strittmatter, 2009). This finding suggests that the PNS environment is permissive while the CNS environment is inhibitory for axon growth, and one of the main causes of this permissive or inhibitory environment is the difference in glial cells between PNS and CNS. Hereafter, we will discuss the essential roles of SCs in PNS regeneration and the detrimental roles of oligodendrocytes, microglia, and astrocytes on CNS regeneration. Figure I.2 summarizes the main differences between post-injury responses in PNS and CNS.

(A) Peripheral nervous system



Figure 1.2: Main differences in post-injury responses between the PNS (A) and the CNS (B.) From: "Neuroscience 2^{nd} edition" The changing brain" Chapter 25: Plasticity of Mature Synapses and Circuits" recovery from neural injury. Purves D, Augustine GJ, Fitzpatrick D, et al., editors. Sunderland (MA): Sinauer Associates; 2001.

I.1.2. Permissive environment for axonal regeneration created by Schwann cells

After nerve injury, SCs proliferate and express a multitude of factors supporting axonal regeneration through three different mechanisms: (I) neuronal survival and neurite growth improvement, (II) axonal and myelin debris phagocytosis, and (III) axonal guidance.

To improve neuronal survival after injury, SCs secrete neurotrophic factors (see section 2.4) that are retrogradely transported towards the neuronal cell body to induce the expression of anti-apoptotic (Culmsee *et al.*, 2002; Almeida *et al.*, 2005; Pazyra-Murphy *et al.*, 2009) and regeneration-associated genes (Cafferty *et al.*, 2001; Cafferty *et al.*, 2004).

SCs play another key role after injury. They initiate the phenomenon of Wallerian degeneration (WD) (see section I.2) that leads to a rapid clearance of myelin debris, the overriding step to assure axonal regeneration. Indeed, PNS and CNS myelin sheaths contain axonal growth inhibitory proteins such as myelin-associated glycoprotein (MAG) (McKerracher *et al.*, 1994; Mukhopadhyay *et al.*, 1994; Shen *et al.*, 1998), Nogo (Huber & Schwab, 2000) as well as oligodendrocyte myelin glycoprotein (OMgp) (Kottis *et al.*, 2002). SCs promote rapid myelin clearance via two mechanisms. First, they participate to both the breakdown of their own myelin sheath into small ovoids and the phagocytosis of the resulting debris (Stoll *et al.*, 1989; Fernandez-Valle *et al.*, 1995). Secondly, SCs release a wide variety of chemo- and cyto-kines (see section I.2.3) that enhance the recruitment towards the lesion site of the second cell type essential for a rapid myelin clearance, the blood-derived monocytes.

Finally, SCs also promote axonal regrowth and remyelination by providing structural guidance through their migration and alignment to form guiding tubes called "bands of Büngner" (Weinberg & Spencer, 1978) and by producing a basal lamina (Sketelj *et al.*, 1989), which contains extracellular matrix proteins that interact with integrins expressed on the surface of axons (see section I.2.4).

I.1.3. Inhibitory environment for axonal regeneration in the injured CNS: the coalition of oligodendrocytes, astrocytes and microglia.

In contrast to SCs, oligodendrocytes do not participate in the establishment of a permissive environment for axonal regrowth. Indeed, after a CNS injury, the loss of axonal contact leads to oligodendrocyte apoptosis (Shuman *et al.*, 1997; Casha *et al.*, 2001). Even if oligodendrocyte precursors are recruited at the lesion site, they possess a limited remyelination capacity (Blakemore & Keirstead, 1999). Contrary to the PNS where myelin debris are rapidly eliminated thanks to SCs and monocyte-derived macrophages, in the CNS,

oligodendrocytes do not clear myelin ovoids (Ludwin, 1990) and haematogenous macrophage recruitment is limited and occurs later than in injured PNS (Avellino *et al.*, 1995; Popovich & Hickey, 2001). This slower clearance of myelin in CNS compared to PNS results in the prolonged presence of inhibitory myelin proteins that contribute to the failure of CNS axonal regeneration (Vargas & Barres, 2007).

Resident microglia represents the main population of phagocytic cells after CNS injury (Popovich & Hickey, 2001). However, compared to macrophages, rapidly recruited and active after PNS injury, microglial cells have a weak phagocytic activity (Milligan *et al.*, 1991) and their number increases later (Lawson *et al.*, 1994) leading to an extremely slow myelin clearance. In addition, microglia is also responsible for neuronal death through the secretion of several neurotoxic agents such as reactive oxygen species, nitric oxyde (NO), and glutamate, leading to further extension of the primary lesion (Giulian *et al.*, 1993; Langmann, 2007).

After CNS injury, astrocytes proliferate and become hypertrophic. This leads to the phenomenon of astrogliosis, resulting in the formation of an astroglial scar, a physical and chemical barrier to axonal regeneration. Indeed, in addition to the physical barrier created by the cells themselves, reactive astrocytes secrete inhibitory molecules of which the main ones are chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans such as neurocan, versican, and phosphacan (Morgenstern *et al.*, 2002).

Despite this accruing knowledge on the factors facilitating PNS regeneration and those that limit CNS regeneration, many questions remain about the molecular and cellular mechanisms responsible for the success of axon regrowth in the PNS, and about possible novel therapeutic strategies to promote CNS regeneration, underlining the need for more research.

I.2. Wallerian degeneration in the PNS

Injury to the NS initiates an organized sequence of degenerative cellular and molecular events in the segment distal to the lesion site, named the Wallerian degeneration (WD), critical for successful repair (Waller, 1850). In the PNS, WD consists of axonal rupture and fragmentation, loss of contact between axon and myelin, debris removal by phagocyting SCs, which also dedifferentiate, proliferate and migrate to form the bands of Büngner along which regenerating fibres will regrow (figure I.3). Due to chemokine secretion by SCs, monocyte-derived macrophages are recruited from the circulation and participate, along with SCs, in axonal and myelin debris clearance. SCs and macrophages also secrete several inflammatory and neurotrophic factors beneficial to neuronal survival and to axonal regeneration. These main steps will be described in more details in this paragraph.



Figure I.3: Schematic representation of Wallerian degeneration (www.neuroanatomie.at/uploads/pics/4.jpg)

I.2.1. Axonal breakdown

The degradation of axolemma and axoplasm is an early step of WD. Axonal breakdown is an active and rapid process that occurs as soon as 36 to 44 hours after injury, due to intrinsic properties involving homeostatic mechanisms, and is completed after 48h. WD progresses as a wave which sequentially affects adjacent regions of the axon. However its orientation depends of the lesion type; axonal degeneration is anterograde after transection, but retrograde after a crush (Beirowski et al., 2005). Propagation of axon degradation is asynchronous among the axonal population of a peripheral nerve and is directly correlated with fibre diameter and internodal length (Lubinska, 1977; Veronesi & Boyes, 1988). The major early axonal changes include fragmentation of rough endoplasmic reticulum and dissolution of neurofilaments and microtubules. Nerve injury disrupts the integrity of the axoplasm and exposes it to the external ionic environment. Consequently, intra-axonal calcium increases and activates cystein proteases called calpains. These enzymes are responsible for the degradation of neurofilaments (Glass et al., 2002). The ubiquitin proteasome system (UPS) is also involved in neurofilament dissolution as well as in microtubule depolymerization (Zhai et al., 2003). Part of the evidence for the implication of UPS in WD comes from the discovery of the spontaneous mutant strain Wld^S in the C57Bl/6 mouse. In Wld^S mice transected axons live and thrive for weeks independently of their native cell body (Lunn et al., 1989). This phenotype of slow WD is due to the expression of a novel chimeric protein consisting of the N-terminal portion of the ubiquitin regulatory enzyme UFD2 and the nicotinamide mononucleotide adenylyltransferase (Nmnat). The ability of UFD2 for multi-ubiquitination is therefore impaired, which suppresses the neurofilament and microtubule targeting by the UPS hence preventing their degradation (Mack et al., 2001).

I.2.2. Glial response and myelin fragmentation

In response to this axonal degeneration, SCs undergo molecular and cellular changes called dedifferentiation. SCs downregulate myelin gene expression like P0, MBP and MAG (LeBlanc & Poduslo, 1990), fragment their own myelin sheaths into ovoids and phagocyte the resulting debris (Stoll *et al.*, 1989; Fernandez-Valle *et al.*, 1995). Concomitantly, they upregulate several specific genes of the immature SC phenotype, such the cytoskeletal protein GFAP, the low affinity nerve growth factor receptor (p75 NGFr), as well as cell adhesion molecules like N-CAM and L1 (Taniuchi *et al.*, 1988; Thomson *et al.*, 1993; Martini, 1994). These changes of the SC phenotype require several environmental signals. The initiation of SC dedifferentiation and proliferation is consecutive to the loss of axonal contacts (Lunn *et*

al., 1989). Injured neurons also release several factors such as the type II and III isoforms of neuregulin-1 (NRG1) (Carroll *et al.*, 1997; Kwon *et al.*, 1997; Osheroff *et al.*, 1999; Guertin *et al.*, 2005), as well as TGF- β 1 (Rogister *et al.*, 1993), which induce SC demyelination and proliferation. Moreover the blood-nerve barrier breakdown after the injury induces a fibrin deposit that stimulates p75 NGFr expression in SCs, maintains them in a non-myelinating state and prevents the synthesis of myelin proteins (Akassoglou *et al.*, 2002). Dedifferentiated SCs also exert an autocrine activity to maintain their unmyelinating and proliferating state by the expression of several molecules and their receptors such as Epo/Epo-R (Li *et al.*, 2005), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and its receptor VEGFR-2 (Sondell *et al.*, 1999a). In this dedifferentiated and proliferating state, SCs also induce the inflammatory response (see section I.2.3) and provide the favourable environment for axonal regeneration by organising themselves into axonal guiding tubes called bands of Büngner, and by secreting neurotrophic factors (see section I.2.4).

I.2.3. Inflammatory reaction

In both CNS and PNS, traumatic injuries lead to a local inflammatory response regulated by numerous signalling molecules. Their production and local effects influence the outcome of trauma. In the PNS, the well-organized inflammatory process that follows axotomy plays a beneficial role for nerve repair. Indeed, it induces a rapid clearance of axonal and myelin debris by recruited macrophages and SCs, thus contributing to the establishment of a permissive environment for regrowth.

* Initiation of inflammatory response

Following a nerve lesion, injured glial and neuronal cells release several molecules named "damage signals". These endogenous molecules rapidly stimulate SCs through two types of receptors, the Toll-Like Receptors (TLRs) and type-2 Purinergic Receptors (P2Rs) (Pineau & Lacroix, 2009), leading to the activation of transcription factors NF- κ B and c-Jun (figure I.4). These factors induce the synthesis and release of pro-inflammatory cyto/chemokines controlling the recruitment and the activation of both glial cells and blood-derived immune cells (Camara-Lemarroy *et al.*, 2010). The endogenous TLR ligands present within the lesion site include several heat shock proteins (Willis *et al.*, 2005; Lehnardt *et al.*, 2008), as well as self-derived RNA, DNA and associated proteins (Scaffidi *et al.*, 2002; Barrat *et al.*, 2005; Kim *et al.*, 2006; Park *et al.*, 2006). P2Rs are activated by nucleotides such as ATP and UTP, also released after injury (Inoue, 2002; Tsuda *et al.*, 2003).



Figure 1.4: Receptors and signalling pathways initiating neuro-inflammation after injury (Pineau & Lacroix, 2009).

✤ Cyto/chemokine network

Molecules derived from damaged neurons stimulate nearby Schwann cells that initiate the process of WD by releasing pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines involved in leukocyte recruitment and activation. Fibroblasts and thereafter, more importantly, recruited macrophages also take part in the development of this complex cyto/chemokine network (figure I.5). The three first cytokines secreted by SCs a few hours after the nerve injury are TNF- α , IL-1 α and IL- β (Taskinen *et al.*, 2000; Shamash *et al.*, 2002; Perrin *et al.*, 2005). These cytokines are essential for WD. They initiate and control the cyto/chemokine network by the induction of several other pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines such as MCP-1 and MIP-1 α (Taskinen & Roytta, 2000; Subang & Richardson, 2001; Tofaris *et al.*, 2002; Perrin *et al.*, 2005), but also anti-inflammatory molecules such as IL-10 (Shamash *et al.*, 2002).



Figure 1.5: Schematic representation of the cyto/chemokine network of Wallerian degeneration (modified from Shamash et al., 2002). The early secretion of TNF- α , IL-1 α and IL- β by SCs induces the expression of other pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines by macrophages and fibroblasts (arrows) but also the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 that, in turn, downregulates the expression of pro-inflammatory molecules (dotted lines).

Cytokines promote macrophage recruitment (see below), and, indirectly, myelin clearance; they induce the secretion of neurotrophic factors like NGF, which promote axonal regeneration (Lindholm *et al.*, 1987; Hattori *et al.*, 1994; Golz *et al.*, 2006).

The chemokines MCP-1 and MIP-1 α , in addition to their chemotactic effect on macrophages (Toews *et al.*, 1998; Siebert *et al.*, 2000; Perrin *et al.*, 2005), are able to induce the expression of numerous cytokines among which IL-1 β , TGF- β and IL-10 (Perrin *et al.*, 2005). GM-CSF, another cytokine induced during WD, is mainly expressed by fibroblasts in the nerve (Saada *et al.*, 1996; Be'eri *et al.*, 1998). GM-CSF induces up-regulation of galectin-3 (MAC-2) in macrophages and SCs, which enhances the phagocytic activity of these cells (Saada *et al.*, 1996). The cytokine network is also regulated by IFN- γ , that stimulates TNF- α and IL-1 production in macrophages, fibroblasts and endothelial cells (Collart *et al.*, 1986; Murwani & Armati, 1998; Ruohonen *et al.*, 2005). Finally, the upregulation of the IL-6 cytokine family members such as LIF and IL-6 contributes to neuronal survival and regenerative responses

(Curtis *et al.*, 1994; Bourde *et al.*, 1996; Kurek *et al.*, 1996; Reichert *et al.*, 1996). These neuropoietic cytokines influence the expression of neurotrophins like NGF and NT-4 (Marz *et al.*, 1999; Golz *et al.*, 2006) that are major actors in axonal outgrowth after lesioning. IL-6 and LIF also act on macrophages, by repressing the expression of TNF- α (Shamash *et al.*, 2002), itself implicated in neuropathic pain (Sommer *et al.*, 1998; George *et al.*, 1999; Leung & Cahill, 2010). Lastly, LIF is retrogradely transported towards neuronal cell bodies and improves neuronal survival by the induction of anti-apoptotic genes (Curtis *et al.*, 1994; Kurek *et al.*, 1996; Schweizer *et al.*, 2002; Moon *et al.*, 2009).

✤ Macrophage recruitment and myelin phagocytosis

As mentioned above, the main functions of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines are to recruit and to activate blood-derived monocytes at the lesion site, for a rapid clearance of myelin debris.

Inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, in addition to their chemotactic effect on monocytes, induce the expression of several classes of molecules involved in the recruitment of blood-derived macrophages: (I) matrix metalloproteinases such as MMP-9 by SCs that opens the blood-nerve barrier (Siebert *et al.*, 2001; Shubayev *et al.*, 2006), (II) NO via the inducible nitric oxyde synthase (iNOS) activation in both SCs and macrophages to increase permeability of the blood-nerve-barrier (Gonzalez-Hernandez & Rustioni, 1999; de la Hoz *et al.*, 2003), and (III) adhesion molecules that mediate monocyte and endothelial cell interactions to allow the trans-endothelial migration of circulating monocytes. For example, the intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1), expressed on endothelial cell surface, mediates migration of monocytes (Schafers *et al.*, 2002; Siebert & Bruck, 2003) through its interactions with several surface receptors like the integrin α M β 2 (= type 3 complement receptor, also called MAC-1 or CD11b), the integrin α 4 β 1 also named VLA-4, as well as the lymphocyte function-associated antigen-1 (LFA-1) (Brown *et al.*, 1997; Avellino *et al.*, 2004).

Once arrived at the injury site, macrophages, assisted by SCs, phagocyte axonal and myelin debris. There are two main mechanisms of phagocytosis dependent or not on opsonisation. The opsonin-dependent phagocytosis is mediated by macrophages expressing the MAC-1 receptor, that recognizes particles opsonised by the complement component C3, or the Fc receptors that bind to auto-antibodies opsonising lipid-rich myelin debris. The opsonin-independent phagocytosis involves a carbohydrate receptor, expressed on

macrophages and SCs, the galactose-specific lectin called MAC-2 (Bruck & Friede, 1990; Reichert *et al.*, 1994; Hirata & Kawabuchi, 2002).

The phagocytic activity of macrophages can be enhanced by the chemokines MCP-1 and MIP-1 α that induce the expression of MAC-1 (Conklyn *et al.*, 1996; Weber *et al.*, 1999; Nicholson *et al.*, 2007).

✤ Inflammation "turned-off"

As described above, the inflammatory response plays an important role in Wallerian degeneration after peripheral nerve injury. For this response to be optimal, however, proinflammatory signals have to be "turned-off" in a timely manner in order to limit the inflammatory process and avoid adverse effects such as neuropathic pain. Inflammation is down-regulated via two mechanisms. First, macrophages are cleared from the lesioned nerve by a local apoptosis after myelin debris phagocytosis, and by their migration towards lymph nodes and spleen (Kuhlmann *et al.*, 2001). Second, pro-inflammatory cyto/chemokines are downregulated by several anti-inflammatory factors, the production of which is stimulated in two different manners. Pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α and IL-1 induce the expression of anti-inflammatory cytokines like IL-10 and TGF- β in SCs, macrophages and fibroblasts (Scherer *et al.*, 1993; Jander *et al.*, 1996; Be'eri *et al.*, 1998; Gillen *et al.*, 1998; Taskinen *et al.*, 2000; Perrin *et al.*, 2005; Sawada *et al.*, 2007), and of SOCS (suppressors of cytokine signalling) in SCs (Girolami *et al.*, 2010). In addition, myelin-laden macrophages adopt an anti-inflammatory phenotype and secrete anti-inflammatory molecules like IL-10 and TGF- β (Boven *et al.*, 2006).

I.2.4. Axonal regeneration and remyelination

Following axotomy, injured neurons try to promote their survival by the expression of neurotrophins such as BDNF and GDNF (Kobayashi *et al.*, 1996; Gordon, 2009), and their ability to regrow by the upregulation of growth-associated genes like tubulin, actin and GAP-43 (Bisby & Tetzlaff, 1992). However, the sole efforts of neurons are not sufficient to insure axonal regeneration. Denervated SCs, which dedifferentiate and secrete several molecules, are crucial to promote and guide axonal regeneration, as well as remyelination.

✤ Axonal regeneration

The specific ability of SCs to provide a favourable environment for axonal regeneration is mainly due to their secretion of neurotrophic factors, their organisation in bands of Büngner, as well as their expression of cell adhesion molecules and neuronal guidance molecules.

As mentioned in section I.2.3, SCs secrete neuropoietic cytokines such as LIF and IL-6 that improve neuronal survival and axonal regeneration by binding to their gp 130 receptor. They also synthesize neurotrophins such as NGF, NT-4, BDNF, GDNF, and their low affinity receptor p75 NGFr (Heumann *et al.*, 1987; Taniuchi *et al.*, 1988; Funakoshi *et al.*, 1993; Hammarberg *et al.*, 1996). The upregulation of p75NGFr on the SC surface is accompanied by its down-regulation on axons (Zhou *et al.*, 1996) that, unlike SCs, express the neurotrophin high-affinity tyrosine kinase (Trk) receptors (Frisen *et al.*, 1993; Funakoshi *et al.*, 1993; Kobayashi *et al.*, 1996; Hammarberg *et al.*, 2000). Thus, following injury, p75NGFr expressing SCs migrate and align to form bands of Büngner. Through an autocrine mechanism, SC released-neurotrophins bind to p75NGFr on the SC surface. This creates a local concentration gradient of trophic factors along which fibres can regenerate by the displacement of neurotrophins from SC p75NGFr to axonal Trk receptors (figure I.6) (Zhou *et al.*, 1996; Ramer *et al.*, 1999).



Figure 1.6: Schematic representation of axonal regeneration mechanism (simplified scheme modified from Ramer et al., 1999. Released neurotrophic factors create a local concentration gradient, allowing growth cone (GC) progression. Thereafter, they are retrogradely transported towards neuronal cell bodies to improve neuronal survival (arrow within axon).

The formation of Büngner's bands results from a complex mechanism that involves a wide variety of ligand-receptor interactions such as NGF and its binding to p75NGFr (Anton *et al.*, 1994), MMP-9 and its LDL receptor-related protein (LRP-1) binding (Mantuano *et al.*, 2008), NRG-1 and its erbB2/3 binding (Lai, 2005; Yamauchi *et al.*, 2008), ephrin-B and its binding to EphB2 (Parrinello *et al.*, 2010) and the class 3 semaphorin receptor neuropilin-2 (NRP-2) (Ara *et al.*, 2005).

In addition, cell adhesion molecules, underlying neuron-glia interactions, are also important for axonal regeneration after nerve injury. Under regenerative conditions, SCs and neurons up-regulate adhesion molecules such as N-CAM, L1/Ng-CAM, N-cadherin and carbohydrates, like polysialic acid or L2/HNK-1, that can form "homo- or hetero-philic" interactions to promote axonal growth (Bixby *et al.*, 1988; Martini, 1994; Fu & Gordon, 1997). SCs also elaborate a basement membrane containing many ECM proteins, such as laminin, fibronectin, collagen and tenascin that can interact with integrins expressed on the surface of axons to support axonal regeneration and guidance (Sketelj *et al.*, 1989; Martini, 1994; Fu & Gordon, 1997).

Next to neurotrophic factors and cell adhesion molecules, other molecules also play a role in axonal guidance during nerve regeneration such as semaphorins and their neuropilin receptors (Scarlato *et al.*, 2003), as well as netrins that can exert both attractive and repulsive effects on regenerating axons depending on their receptors (Madison *et al.*, 2000).

* Remyelination

For optimal functional recovery after peripheral nerve regeneration, axons need to reconnect with their original targets but also to be correctly remyelinated by SCs for a rapid conduction of electrical signals. The remyelination program recapitulates development in many ways and requires a large number of signals between neurons and SCs. Among the numerous axonal molecules involved in the interactions with SCs, the neurotrophin BDNF and the neuregulin NRG1 type III play important roles in axonal remyelination.

As mentioned above, injured neurons secrete the neurotrophic factor BDNF that binds to p75 NGFr on the SC surface and promotes myelin formation by inducing the expression of myelin proteins such as MAG and P0 (Cosgaya *et al.*, 2002; Tolwani *et al.*, 2004). Myelination is also regulated via the level of neuregulin NRG1 type III expressed on the axonal surface that can interact with the erbB2/B3 receptor on the SC surface. In fact, small neurons with unmyelinated axons are characterized by a very low level of NRG1 type III, whereas large neurons express high levels of NRG1 type III allowing to generate a thick myelin sheath. NRG1 type III acts therefore as a biochemical sensor of axon size to control axonal ensheathment and myelin thickness (Michailov *et al.*, 2004; Taveggia *et al.*, 2005).

All these interaction signals between axons and SCs lead to the activation of a gene regulatory network that will drive the pro-myelinating to myelinating transition of SCs (Svaren & Meijer, 2008). The transcription factors implicated in the myelination program include the neural crest transcription factor Sox10 (Britsch *et al.*, 2001) as well as the POU domain factor Oct6/Scip and Brn2 (Jaegle *et al.*, 2003), that regulate the activation of the transcription factor Krox20/Egr2 (Svaren & Meijer, 2008). These transcription factors control the expression of genes coding for myelin proteins such as Pmp22, P0, MBP, MAG and connexin 32, and for proteins required for lipid synthesis like the3-hydroxy-3-methylglutarylcoenzyme A (HMG-CoA) reductase, the rate-limiting enzyme for cholesterol biosynthesis (Pertusa *et al.*, 2007; Svaren & Meijer, 2008; Quintes *et al.*, 2010).

As mentioned in section I.2.2, SCs dedifferentiate and proliferate after nerve injury to support the growth of regenerating axons. When axons make contact with SCs, only one out of five of the latter participates in remyelination. The remaining SCs without axonal contact are eliminated by apoptosis. The induction of this apoptosis is mediated by two main mechanisms. First, SC death is promoted by the absence of the survival signal induced by the interaction between axonal NRG1 type III and SC receptor erbB2/B3 (Grinspan *et al.*, 1996; Garratt *et al.*, 2000). Moreover, an apoptotic signal can be induced in the supernumerary SCs by the binding of NGF to its p75 NGFr (Hirata *et al.*, 2001), when this neurotrophin is not displaced towards the axonal Trk receptors to promote axonal regeneration (see figure I.5).

I.3. The transcription factor "nuclear factor kappa B"

Nuclear factor kappa B (NF- κ B) is an ubiquitous and inducible transcription factor. In mammals, the NF-KB/Rel family comprises five members: p50, p52, p65 (Rel-A), c-Rel and Rel-B, that share a N-terminal 300 amino acid Rel homology domain allowing DNA binding. dimerization and nuclear localization (O'Dea & Hoffmann, 2010). These proteins form homo or heterodimers that are retained inactive in the cytoplasm by interaction with inhibitory molecules, called IkBs. IkBs mask both the NF-kB nuclear localization and DNA binding domains (Zabel & Baeuerle, 1990). Upon various cellular stimulations described below in section I.3.1, NF-KB is activated once the inhibitory molecules are phosphorylated and subsequently degraded. There are two main NF-KB activation pathways: the canonical and the alternative pathways. The classical pathway, triggered by pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α , involves the recruitment and activation of the classical I κ B kinase (IKK) complex, which includes the scaffold protein NF- κ B essential modulator (NEMO; also named IKK γ). As for the alternative pathway, triggered by cytokines such as lymphotoxin B, B-cell activating factor or CD40 ligand, and by viruses such as human T-cell leukemia virus and the Epstein-Barr virus, it is NEMO-independent. In both pathways the IKK complex phosphorylates specific amino acids of IkBs, leading to their polyubiquitination and degradation through the proteasome pathway (figure I.7) (Viatour et al., 2005).



Figure I.7: General mechanism of NF-KB activation

The released NF- κ B dimers migrate to the nucleus and bind to κ B motifs whose consensus sequence is GGGRNNYYCC (C = cytosine, G = guanine, N = any base, R = purine, and Y = pyrimidine), in the promoter or enhancer regions of target genes (Ghosh *et al.*, 1998).

The NF- κ B functions in the immune system and host defence mechanisms have been well characterized, contrary to its roles in the nervous system that are less well understood.

I.3.1. Activation factors and target genes of NF-KB

In 1999, Pahl compiled bravely about 150 stimuli and 150 target genes of NF- κ B (Pahl, 1999). This ever growing list of activators and targets of NF- κ B is updated on a website (www.nf-kb.org) created by the Dr. T.D. Gilmore who dedicated his research to the NF- κ B-activating pathways.

Because its activation is induced by a wide array of stimuli including proinflammatory cytokines, infection, injury, ischemia, irradiations as well as oxidative stress, NF- κ B represents a central regulator of stress responses (Pahl, 1999). In addition to these general NF- κ B activators, some stimuli characteristic of the NS such as neurotrophins (Wood, 1995; Carter *et al.*, 1996), glutamate (Kaltschmidt *et al.*, 1995; Scholzke *et al.*, 2003), membrane depolarization (Lilienbaum & Israel, 2003), amyloid β peptide (Behl *et al.*, 1994), neural cell adhesion molecule (N-CAM) (Krushel *et al.*, 1999), as well as sleep deprivation (Brandt *et al.*, 2004) were described as NF- κ B-activating molecules. Moreover, some cell type and stimulus specificities have been reported. For example, Il-1 β induces NF- κ B activity in astrocytes but not in neurons (Srinivasan *et al.*, 2004) while glutamate activates NF- κ B only in neurons (Guerrini *et al.*, 1995). NGF activates NF- κ B only in SCs (Carter *et al.*, 1996), but all neurotrophins induce its activation in microglia (Nakajima *et al.*, 1998).

In response to the stress stimulus, NF- κ B activation promotes the transcription of genes whose products tend to protect against the stressor. The majority of proteins encoded by NF- κ B target genes participate in the host immune response. These include, for example, 27 different cytokines and chemokines (Pahl, 1999), as well as receptors required for immune recognition, such as MHC molecules (Israel *et al.*, 1989). Other genes regulated by NF- κ B, are those encoding I κ Bs (de Martin *et al.*, 1993; Sun *et al.*, 1993), therefore providing a negative feedback mechanism whereby resynthesized I κ Bs bind to DNA-bound NF-kB dimers and export them out to the cytosol.

Knowledge about the genes regulated by NF- κ B in the nervous system is scarce and largely extrapolated from the immune system. However, a limited number of genes regulated

by NF- κ B in the NS and with direct relevance for nervous functions were identified. These include N-CAM (Simpson & Morris, 2000), iNOS (Madrigal *et al.*, 2001), amyloid precursor protein (Grilli *et al.*, 1996), opioid receptors (Kraus *et al.*, 2003), BDNF (Lipsky *et al.*, 2001) and calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II (Kassed *et al.*, 2004).

I.3.2. NF-KB functions during Wallerian degeneration

The transcriptionally active form of NF-κB in the NS is primarily the p65/p50 heterodimer, although other dimers, containing the c-Rel subunit, have been described (Memet, 2006). After a PNS injury, there are two peaks of NF-κB activation. A first peak is observed in neurons (Fernyhough *et al.*, 2005) and SCs (Smith *et al.*, 2009). This early NF-κB activation wave is principally caused by axonal "damage signals" that activate TLRs and P2Rs (see section I.2.3.) (Ferrari *et al.*, 1997; Lee *et al.*, 2006; Boivin *et al.*, 2007), mechanical stress caused by the injury (Lan *et al.*, 1994) and SC cytokines (Moynagh *et al.*, 1993; Wood, 1995). The second peak occurs only in SCs during remyelination. This late NF-κB activation is mainly caused by the interactions of NRG1 type III with erbB2/B3 (Limpert & Carter, 2010), and of NGF with p75 NGFr (Carter *et al.*, 1996; Hirata *et al.*, 2001). The three main targets of NF-κB activation after a nerve injury are regulation of neuronal survival, inflammation and neuropathic pain, and remyelination of regenerating fibers. These three different functions of NF-κB activation will be described below.

* Regulation of neuronal survival

NF-κB exhibits major and opposed functions in neurons as it can both promote and protect against cell death. These conflicting neuroprotective and neurodegenerative roles have been discussed in several articles and reviews and depend notably on the neuronal cell type and the stimulus origin and duration (Kaltschmidt *et al.*, 2002; Mattson & Meffert, 2006; Memet, 2006). Moreover, different NF-κB dimers drive opposite effects on neuronal survival. While p50/p65 acts as a transcriptional inducer of proapoptotic genes such as Bim and Noxa, c-Rel dimers promote transcription of anti-apoptotic genes like Bcl-2 and Bcl-xL (Tamatani *et al.*, 1999; Pizzi *et al.*, 2002; Inta *et al.*, 2006; Sarnico *et al.*, 2009). During WD (see section I.2.), injured neurons and SCs release several cytokines of which TGF-β1 and TNF-α. In several experimental models, these two molecules have a neuroprotective effect that requires NF-κB activation (Zhu *et al.*, 2004; Fernyhough *et al.*, 2005; Konig *et al.*, 2005). The promotion of neuronal survival by NF- κ B activation during WD improves the subsequent regeneration of injured fibers.

✤ Induction of cytokine expression and neuropathic pain

PNS and CNS injuries induce the production of pro-inflammatory cyto- and chemokines, such as TNF-α, IL-1β, IL-6 and MCP-1 by glial cells. As mentioned in section I.2.3, this inflammatory response has beneficial effects on axonal regeneration. However, it has also been shown that the pro-inflammatory molecules can have negative effects like the development of neuropathic pain (Wagner & Myers, 1996; Sweitzer *et al.*, 1999; Gao & Ji, 2010). Numerous experiments have shown the role of NF- κ B activation in the transcriptional induction of genes encoding inflammation- and pain-related molecules (Tegeder *et al.*, 2004; Ledeboer *et al.*, 2005; Niederberger & Geisslinger, 2008) illustrating that NF- κ B, besides its beneficial effect in neuronal regeneration, is also involved in neuropathic pain. Consequently, it was suggested that selective inactivation of NF- κ B in inflammatory glial cells may be a therapeutic option for neuropathic pain (Meunier *et al.*, 2007; Fu *et al.*, 2010). This novel approach for pain therapy would, however, reduce the synthesis of neuropoietic cytokines like LIF or IL-6 (Fan *et al.*, 2004) which are beneficial for axonal regeneration.

* Regulation of remyelination and Schwann cell number

As mentioned previously, during WD, SCs proliferate and migrate to form bands of Büngner that serve as guiding tubes for regenerating axons. This cellular alignment and the extra-cellular matrix deposit across the injury site allow the interaction between regenerating axons and SCs that favours axonal remyelination. Axonal signals promoting remyelination (see section I.2.4.) converge on a complex network of transcription factors, including the POU domain factors Oct6/Scip and Brn2, the high mobility group protein Sox10 and the zinc-finger protein Krox20/Egr2, that drives the transition of SCs from an unmyelinating proliferating to a myelinating state and the induction of myelin protein synthesis (see section I.2.4.). The implication of NF- κ B in myelination is a more recent finding. It was shown that NF- κ B is required for activation of the Oct6/Scip transcription factor in SCs (Nickols *et al.*, 2003). After remyelination, excessive SCs without axonal contact die by apoptosis that is partly mediated by the binding of NGF to its receptor p75 NGFr, which in turn activates NF- κ B, leading to the induction of the apoptotic signal (Carter *et al.*, 1996; Hirata *et al.*, 2001).

I.4. The Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Family

Recently, it was demonstrated that the nervous and the vascular systems share a common molecular basis for the control of their patterning during development but also their remodelling during pathological conditions (Carmeliet & Tessier-Lavigne, 2005). The most popular angiogenic factors belong to the VEGF family. While VEGF family proteins and their receptors are the primary mediators of the neo-vascularisation process both during development and pathological conditions, other roles, particularly in the nervous system, begin to be recognized.

The VEGF family includes seven secreted glycoproteins, designated VEGF-A, VEGF-B, VEGF-C, VEGF-D, VEGF-E, VEGF-F and placental growth factor (PIGF). They share a common structure of eight characteristically spaced cysteine residues in a VEGF homology domain (Muller *et al.*, 1997), but have different physical and biological properties and act through specific receptors. The receptors of the VEGF family consist of three protein–tyrosine kinases (VEGFR-1, VEGFR-2, and VEGFR-3) and two non-protein kinase co-receptors (neuropilin-1 and neuropilin-2) (figure I.8).



Figure 1.8: VEGF family members and receptors. The Trk receptor VEGFR-1 binds VEGF-A, VEGF-B and PlGF with high affinity. VEGFR-2 binds VEGF-A, VEGF-C, VEGF-D, VEGF-E and VEGF-F. VEGFR-3 is a tyrosine kinase receptor with only six Ig-homology domains, which preferentially binds VEGF-C and VEGF-D. Neuropilin-1 and -2 (NRP-1 and NRP-2), the two non-tyrosine kinase-type coreceptors, respectively bind VEGF-A₁₆₅, VEGF-B and PlGF, and VEGF-A₁₆₅, VEGF-C, VEGF-D and PlGF.

I.4.1. Members

✤ VEGF-A

Discovered first (Senger *et al.*, 1983; Leung *et al.*, 1989), VEGF-A is one of the key regulators of angiogenesis, vasculogenesis, and developmental hematopoiesis. The deletion of the VEGF-A gene is lethal, resulting in vascular defects and cardiovascular abnormalities (Carmeliet *et al.*, 1996; Ferrara *et al.*, 1996). VEGF-A exerts its effects primarily by activating VEGFR-1 (de Vries *et al.*, 1992) and VEGFR-2 (Quinn *et al.*, 1993) but its major isoform that triggers VEGF-A actions, the VEGF-A₁₆₅, also binds to neuropilins (Soker *et al.*, 1998; Gluzman-Poltorak *et al.*, 2000).

VEGF-A is produced in various organs such as lung, kidney, heart and liver (Berse *et al.*, 1992), and in cell types, including endothelial cells (ECs) (Ladoux & Frelin, 1993a), leucocytes (Berse *et al.*, 1992; Shen *et al.*, 1993; Freeman *et al.*, 1995), smooth muscle cells (Ferrara *et al.*, 1991; Kuzuya *et al.*, 1995), as well as neurons (Kovacs *et al.*, 1996; Sondell & Kanje, 2001), astrocytes (Stone *et al.*, 1995; Bartholdi *et al.*, 1997) and SCs (Sondell *et al.*, 1999a; Gupta *et al.*, 2005). VEGF-A expression is stimulated under pathological conditions such as hypoxia (Shweiki *et al.*, 1992; Ladoux & Frelin, 1993b), hypoglycemia (Satake *et al.*, 1998) or inflammation (Ben-Av *et al.*, 1995; Ito *et al.*, 1995).

VEGF-A has similar effects on the development of the vascular and nervous systems and on adult angiogenesis and neurogenesis. VEGF-A is a mitogen for ECs (Connolly *et al.*, 1989), vascular smooth muscle cells (Bhardwaj *et al.*, 2005), neuronal precursors (Jin *et al.*, 2002), astrocytes (Krum *et al.*, 2002) and SCs (Sondell *et al.*, 1999a). VEGF-A promotes survival of ECs (Gerber *et al.*, 1998) and neurons (Sondell *et al.*, 1999a) by inducing the expression of anti-apoptotic proteins. VEGF-A stimulates chemotaxis of ECs and vascular smooth muscle cells to induce vessel formation (Kanno *et al.*, 2000; Gerhardt *et al.*, 2003; Bhardwaj *et al.*, 2005), of monocytes during inflammatory response (Clauss *et al.*, 1990; Zhao *et al.*, 2002), of neurons during brain development (Schwarz *et al.*, 2004; Balenci *et al.*, 2007), and of SCs during WD (Sondell *et al.*, 1999b). VEGF-A also guides angiogenic (Gerhardt *et al.*, 2003) and axonal sprouting (Sondell *et al.*, 1999a; Cheng *et al.*, 2004). Finally, VEGF-A causes vasodilatation by inducing NO synthesis (Yang *et al.*, 1996) and exerts pro-coagulant activity (Clauss *et al.*, 1990).

✤ VEGF-B

VEGF-B expression begins early during fetal development and is abundant particularly in heart, brain and spinal cord. During adulthood, VEGF-B is additionally expressed in kidney and testis (Lagercrantz *et al.*, 1998).

VEGF-B binds to VEGFR-1 and NRP-1 but not VEGFR-2 or VEGFR-3 (Olofsson *et al.*, 1998; Makinen *et al.*, 1999). VEGF-B modulates cell proliferation and vessel growth (Olofsson *et al.*, 1996; Silvestre *et al.*, 2003), but it has no vascular permeability activity (Abraham *et al.*, 2002; Brkovic & Sirois, 2007). Some studies indicate, however, that VEGF-B can form stable heterodimers with VEGF-A when co-expressed with the latter (Olofsson *et al.*, 1996; Tammela *et al.*, 2005; Nash *et al.*, 2006). These heterodimers might cause the angiogenic activity of VEGF-B. Studies with mice deficient in VEGF-B reported development of smaller hearts and impaired recovery after induced myocardial infarction (Bellomo *et al.*, 2000). Moreover, studies of inflammatory disease models in knock-out mice suggest a role of VEGF-B in inflammatory angiogenesis (Mould *et al.*, 2003).

In the nervous system, VEGF-B is not essential for the development or survival of neurons under normal conditions. However it exerts a neuroprotective activity in several pathological conditions (Sun *et al.*, 2004; Li *et al.*, 2009) and stimulates adult neurogenesis (Sun *et al.*, 2006).

✤ VEGF-C

VEGF-C is primarily a lymphangiogenic growth factor and its lymphangiogenic effects are mediated by VEGFR-3 and NRP-2 (Oh *et al.*, 1997; Karpanen *et al.*, 2006). VEGF-C null mice show failure in lymphatic vessel development and die of oedema during the embryonic stage (Karkkainen *et al.*, 2004). During development, VEGF-C is expressed along with its receptor VEGFR-3 mainly in regions where lymphatic vessels develop. During adulthood, the expression decreases in most tissues but remains high in lymph nodes (Kukk *et al.*, 1996; Lymboussaki *et al.*, 1999).

VEGF-C has also angiogenic effects. It induces mitogenesis, migration and survival of ECs (Saharinen *et al.*, 2004) and increases vascular permeability. The latter effect is mediated by VEGFR-2 (Joukov *et al.*, 1998). VEGF-C is also chemotactic for macrophages (Skobe *et al.*, 2001).

With regard to the nervous system, VEGF-C regulates expansion of the population of oligodendrocyte precursor cells and neural progenitors in vitro and acts as a trophic factor for these cells in vivo (Le Bras *et al.*, 2006).

✤ VEGF-D

VEGF-D is present in most tissues, most abundantly in the lungs and skin during embryogenesis. During adulthood, it is expressed in many tissues including the vascular endothelium, heart, skeletal muscle, lung, and bowel (Farnebo *et al.*, 1999; Roy *et al.*, 2006). Similar to VEGF-C, VEGF-D also shows lymphangiogenic and angiogenic activities through its binding to VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3 to induce proliferation and migration of ECs (Achen *et al.*, 1998; Rissanen *et al.*, 2003).

In the nervous system, akin to VEGF-C, VEGF-D induces the proliferation of glial precursor cells and exerts a chemotactic effect on these cells during brain development (Kranich *et al.*, 2009).

✤ VEGF-E

Viral VEGFs (also called VEGF-E) are found in various strains of viruses. These VEGF-E variants exhibit significant variation in their VEGFR-2 and NRP-1-binding abilities. Viral VEGFs play a critical role in viral infections because of their effects on EC proliferation and vascular permeability (Ogawa *et al.*, 1998; Wise *et al.*, 1999; Roy *et al.*, 2006; Shibuya, 2009).

✤ VEGF-F

Discovered in viper venom (Komori *et al.*, 1999), VEGF-F has a unique property: it blocks specifically VEGF-A165 activity both in vitro and in vivo (Yamazaki *et al.*, 2005). However, it stimulates strongly EC proliferation and vascular permeability, and induces hypotension (Yamazaki *et al.*, 2003). VEGF-F members are classified into 3 groups: VEGF-F1 specifically binds to VEGFR-2, VEGF-F2 predominantly binds to VEGFR-1 and weakly to VEGFR-2, and VEGF-F3 binds VEGFR-1, VEGFR-2 and NRP-1 (Yamazaki & Morita, 2006).

✤ PlGF

Although originally discovered in the placenta (Maglione *et al.*, 1991), PIGF is expressed in a wide variety of tissues and organs such as heart, lungs, thyroid, skeletal muscle (Maglione *et al.*, 1993), adipose tissue (Voros *et al.*, 2005), and brain (Beck *et al.*, 2002; Hayashi *et al.*, 2003), as well as in cells like activated angiogenic ECs, inflammatory cells, bone marrow cells (Autiero *et al.*, 2003a), and neurons (Beck *et al.*, 2002). PIGF expression is upregulated during a number of pathological conditions including some cancers (Takahashi *et al.*, 2003).

al., 1994; Nomura *et al.*, 1998), wound healing (Failla *et al.*, 2000), hypoxia (Simpson *et al.*, 1999; Green *et al.*, 2001), or inflammatory diseases (Perelman *et al.*, 2003; Yoo *et al.*, 2009). There are four human isoforms of PIGF (PIGF-1, -2, -3 and -4) (Maglione *et al.*, 1993; Cao *et al.*, 1997; Yang *et al.*, 2003), but only one, PIGF-2, is present in mouse (DiPalma *et al.*, 1996). The PIGF isoforms differ in size and binding affinity. They all bind VEGFR-1 (Park *et al.*, 1994) but only PIGF-2 binds NRPs and heparan sulfate proteoglycans thanks to the insertion of 21 basic amino acids at the carboxy terminal (Migdal *et al.*, 1998; Neufeld *et al.*, 2002b). Similar to VEGF-B, PIGF can form heterodimers with VEGF-A (Cao *et al.*, 1996). Loss of PIGF does not affect development, reproduction, or normal postnatal life. However, PIGF knockout mice have impaired angiogenesis and collateral vascular growth during ischemia, wound healing, cancer or inflammation (Carmeliet *et al.*, 2001).

PIGF contributes to angiogenesis via several mechanisms (figure I.9): (I) by affecting ECs directly through VEGFR-1; (II) by displacing VEGF-A from the "VEGFR-1 sink" and thus increasing the fraction of VEGF-A available to activate VEGFR-2; (III) by intermolecular transphosphorylation of VEGFR-2 via VEGFR-1 activation, increasing VEGF-A action; (IV) by PIGF/VEGF-A heterodimerization, which can act on VEGFR-1/VEGFR-2 receptors (Carmeliet *et al.*, 2001; Autiero *et al.*, 2003b; Ribatti, 2008).



Figure 1.9: Schematic representation of the role of VEGF and PIGF in angiogenesis (from Tjwa et al., 2003).
PIGF is also a pro-inflammatory molecule. It has a powerful chemotactic effect on monocytes (Carmeliet *et al.*, 2001; Pipp *et al.*, 2003) and induces secretion of pro-inflammatory cyto/chemokines like IL-1b, IL-8, MCP-1, and VEGF by monocytes (Bottomley *et al.*, 2000; Perelman *et al.*, 2003; Selvaraj *et al.*, 2003).

Concerning the nervous system, some studies have suggested a potential neuroprotective/neurotrophic effect of PIGF through NRP binding (Beck *et al.*, 2002; Cheng *et al.*, 2004; Liu *et al.*, 2006).

I.4.2. Receptors

✤ VEGFR-1

VEGFR-1 (fms-like tyrosine kinase, Flt-1) is composed of seven extracellular immunoglobulin homology domains, a single transmembrane region and an intracellular tyrosine kinase domain (Shibuya *et al.*, 1990). VEGFR-1 binds VEGF-A, VEGF-B and PIGF with high affinity, however its tyrosine kinase activity is weak following stimulation by VEGF (Klagsbrun & D'Amore, 1996).

VEGFR-1 is expressed in ECs as well as in pericytes, placental trophoblasts, osteoblasts, monocytes/macrophages, renal mesangial cells, some hematopoietic stem cells (Zachary & Gliki, 2001) and SCs (Schratzberger *et al.*, 2000). Its expression is upregulated during angiogenesis (Plate *et al.*, 1993; Tsopanoglou & Maragoudakis, 1999) and by hypoxia (Gerber *et al.*, 1997). VEGFR-1 expression is also strongly upregulated in reactive astrocytes in response to CNS injury (Choi *et al.*, 2007; Krum *et al.*, 2008).

VEGFR-1 knockout mice die at early stages of embryogenesis due to disorganization of blood vessels (Fong *et al.*, 1995). Deletion of VEGFR-1 also reduces vessel proliferation and induces premature senescence of ECs (Hiratsuka *et al.*, 2005). Because of its weak tyrosine kinase activity, VEGFR-1 was believed to function as a "decoy" receptor for VEGF (Park *et al.*, 1994). However, even if VEGFR-1 transmits weak mitogenic signals to ECs, it can form heterodimers with VEGFR-2, increasing its signalling properties (Sato *et al.*, 2000).

Other studies indicated that VEGFR-1 has an active functional role in monocyte (Barleon *et al.*, 1996; Clauss *et al.*, 1996) and vascular EC migration (Kanno *et al.*, 2000).

In the nervous system, VEGFR-1 mediates astroglial and microglial proliferation (Choi *et al.*, 2007; Krum *et al.*, 2008). Recent findings reveal that VEGFR-1 exerts neuroprotective effects during pathological conditions (Poesen *et al.*, 2008).

A soluble form of VEGFR-1, which contains the six first extracellular immunoglobulin-like domains, also exists and mediates inhibition of VEGF-induced EC proliferation with high affinity (Kendall & Thomas, 1993). This soluble receptor could act as an efficient specific antagonist of VEGF-A or PIGF.

♦ VEGFR-2

VEGFR-2 (kinase-insert domain receptor, KDR/fetal liver kinase, Flk-1) mediates the major biological activities of VEGF-A. Despite its lower affinity for VEGF than VEGFR-1, VEGFR-2 exhibits robust protein–tyrosine kinase activity when bound to its ligands (Klagsbrun & D'Amore, 1996). Like VEGFR-1, VEGFR-2 bears an extracellular region with seven immunoglobulin-like domains, a transmembrane domain and a Trk domain with a 70-amino-acid insert (Matthews *et al.*, 1991). VEGFR-2 binds VEGF-A, VEGF-C, VEGF-D and VEGF-E (Quinn *et al.*, 1993; Joukov *et al.*, 1996; Achen *et al.*, 1998; Yamazaki & Morita, 2006).

Besides by ECs (Quinn *et al.*, 1993) VEGFR-2 is also expressed by pancreatic duct cells (Oberg *et al.*, 1994), retinal progenitor cells (Yang & Cepko, 1996), hematopoietic stem cells (Matthews *et al.*, 1991), neurons (Sondell *et al.*, 2000; Ogunshola *et al.*, 2002) and some glial cells (Schratzberger *et al.*, 2000; Krady *et al.*, 2002; Lafuente *et al.*, 2006).

VEGFR-2 null mice die between embryonic days 8.5 and 9.5 as a result of defects in the development of hematopoietic and endothelial precursors (Shalaby *et al.*, 1995).

In the vascular system, the VEGFR-2 signalling pathway mediates EC migration (Gerhardt *et al.*, 2003), proliferation (Keyt *et al.*, 1996), survival (Shalaby *et al.*, 1995), and enhances vascular permeability (Prewett *et al.*, 1999) and vasodilatation (He *et al.*, 1999).

In the nervous system, VEGFR-2 also stimulates migration, proliferation, and survival of various neural cell types such as neural progenitors (Ogunshola *et al.*, 2002; Zhu *et al.*, 2003; Balenci *et al.*, 2007) or SCs (Sondell *et al.*, 1999b; a).

♦ VEGFR-3

VEGFR-3 (fms-like tyrosine kinase 4, Flt4) is a Trk receptor with only six Ig-like domains (Pajusola *et al.*, 1993; Agnes *et al.*, 1997). VEGFR-3 preferentially binds VEGF-C and VEGF-D (Joukov *et al.*, 1996; Achen *et al.*, 1998).

VEGFR-3 is present on all endothelia during development (Kukk *et al.*, 1996) but in adulthood it becomes restricted to lymphatic ECs and certain fenestrated blood vascular ECs (Partanen *et al.*, 2000) where it is upregulated in pathological conditions such as vascular

tumors (Kubo *et al.*, 2000). During embryogenesis, VEGFR-3 plays various roles in cardiovascular development and remodelling of primary vascular networks (Dumont *et al.*, 1998). In adults, it is the primary receptor inducing lymphangiogenesis (Oh *et al.*, 1997), but it also modulates angiogenesis by transmitting sprouting signals in endothelial tip cells (Tammela *et al.*, 2008). In the nervous system, VEGFR-3 induces proliferation of oligodendrocyte precursors and certain other neural progenitors (Le Bras *et al.*, 2006).

* Neuropilins

NRPs were identified initially as cell-surface glycoproteinic receptors for the semaphorin/collapsins (Kolodkin *et al.*, 1997), a large family of secreted and transmembrane proteins that serve as repulsive guidance signals in axonal and neuronal development (Puschel *et al.*, 1995). These non-tyrosine kinase-type receptors also bind some members of the VEGF family. NRP-1 binds VEGF-A165, VEGF-B and PIGF (Makinen *et al.*, 1999; Mamluk *et al.*, 2002) while NRP-2 binds VEGF-A165, VEGF-C, VEGF-D and PIGF (Gluzman-Poltorak *et al.*, 2000; Neufeld *et al.*, 2002b; Karpanen *et al.*, 2006).

In adults, NRPs are expressed in various organs like lung, heart, liver, kidney, pancreas, bones, skeletal muscles and brain (Otrock *et al.*, 2007). In the vascular system, NRP-1 expression is mainly restricted to arteries, whereas NRP-2 is primarily expressed in veins (Herzog *et al.*, 2001). NRP-2 is also expressed on lymphatic endothelial cells (Yuan *et al.*, 2002). In the CNS and PNS, both neuronal and glial cells express NRPs (Fujisawa *et al.*, 1997; Fujita *et al.*, 2001; Scarlato *et al.*, 2003).

NRPs have roles in immune functions (Romeo *et al.*, 2002), neuronal development and repair by the regulation of axon outgrowth, and also in angiogenesis (Neufeld *et al.*, 2002a; Bannerman *et al.*, 2008; Fantin *et al.*, 2009). NRPs enhance VEGF signalling by acting as coreceptors for VEGF receptors (Soker *et al.*, 1998; Bagnard *et al.*, 2001; Neufeld *et al.*, 2002b). However, it has recently been reported that NRP-1 mediates some types of intracellular signalling via its short C-terminal tail and its interaction with intracellular binding partners (Zachary *et al.*, 2009; Jiang *et al.*, 2010).

I.4.3. Therapeutic uses

VEGF family members have been implicated in several pathologies, in which they can trigger either negative or positive effects, depending on the context. Therefore, two types of opposite therapeutic strategies have been developed: "anti-VEGF" and "pro-VEGF" therapies.

✤ Anti-VEGF therapy

Since a few years, VEGF/VEGF-receptor inhibition strategies have emerged to treat diseases associated with pathological angiogenesis like cancers (Borgstrom et al., 1996; Inoue et al., 2000) and age-related macular degeneration (Schmucker et al., 2010), or with pathological inflammatory response like autoimmune diseases (Carvalho et al., 2007), in which serum VEGF levels correlate with disease severity, e.g. rheumatoid arthritis (Harada et al., 1998; Sone et al., 2001) or multiple sclerosis (Su et al., 2006; Zhu et al., 2008). Currently there are several clinical trials testing drugs that inhibit VEGF receptors or neutralize VEGF to treat various types of cancer (Rosen, 2001; Grothey & Galanis, 2009) and rheumatoid arthritis (Khong et al., 2007; Schoettler & Brahn, 2009). Some studies have also demonstrated that monoclonal antibodies directed against PIGF or its receptor VEGFR-1 can have antiangiogenic and anti-inflammatory properties and substitute or augment the effect of anti-VEGF therapy (Luttun et al., 2002c; Fischer et al., 2007). VEGF/VEGF-receptor inhibition could be a useful therapy for autoimmune nervous system diseases such as multiple sclerosis by reducing the pathological angiogenic and inflammatory reaction (Kirk & Karlik, 2003; Zhu et al., 2008). However, the neuroprotective and neurotrophic effects of VEGF (Sun et al., 2003) will be also reduced by such treatments.

✤ Pro-VEGF therapy

By contrast, the administration of VEGF might be a promising treatment for ischemic disorders like myocardial infarction (Pearlman *et al.*, 1995; Goncalves *et al.*, 2010) or brain ischemia (Zhang *et al.*, 2000; Hermann & Zechariah, 2009) by improving angiogenesis. In an animal model of brain ischemia, VEGF treatment favoured recovery via neurotrophic and neuroprotective effects, in addition to its angiogenic action (Sun *et al.*, 2003). These neurotrophic/neuroprotective effects of VEGF might also useful for the treatment of neurodegenerative disorders like amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) or Parkinson's disease. For example, in an ALS rodent model, it was shown that VEGF increases the survival of motoneurons and slows motor function decline (Lambrechts *et al.*, 2003; Azzouz *et al.*, 2004). Such a neuroprotective effect of VEGF has been also demonstrated for dopaminergic neurons in a rodent model of Parkinson's disease (Yasuhara *et al.*, 2004).

Unfortunately, because of its angiogenic properties VEGF can cause, as treatment side effects, hypotension, oedema, fibrin deposition, or formation of hemangiomas (Pettersson *et al.*, 2000; Luttun *et al.*, 2002c; Valable *et al.*, 2005). These adverse effects of VEGF may limit

its therapeutic usefulness. An alternative to VEGF-A therapy would be the use of other VEGF family members such as VEGF-B or PIGF, which have less harmful angiogenic effects than VEGF-A (Luttun *et al.*, 2002b; Poesen *et al.*, 2008; Ruiz de Almodovar *et al.*, 2009).

Section II

Objectives and Experimental approach

This research project was designed to better understand and decipher the mechanisms responsible for the successful axonal repair in the PNS, reasoning that this might also be helpful to develop therapeutic strategies to promote axonal regeneration after CNS injuries. Numerous molecules such as cytokines or neurotrophic factors are modulators of axonal regrowth. Among them, the angiogenic factors of the VEGF family play beneficial roles in nervous system trauma/disease. Most attention has been focused on the main representative member of this family, VEGF-A. As mentioned in the introduction, however, other members of this family, such as PIGF, play a role in nervous system injury and could have a more favourable side effect profile than VEGF-A in future therapeutic trials. Because of its chemoattractive effect on monocytes, and its capacity to induce cyto/chemokine secretion by monocytes, **PIGF merits indeed attention particularly as a novel actor in the complex molecular network regulating Wallerian degeneration where it has not been studied up to now.** To try to fill in this gap in scientific knowledge, the major objective of our project was to find answers to the following 3 questions:

- Is PIGF expressed in the peripheral nervous system, in physiological and pathological conditions?
- Does PIGF play a role in the cellular and molecular events of WD and its functional consequences?
- ✤ If yes, what are the underlying molecular mechanisms?

To answer these questions, we have used *in vivo* and *in vitro* experimental approaches (described in detail in section VI. "Materials and Methods").

II.1. PIGF expression

As PIGF expression in the PNS was totally unknown when we started this project, the first part of our work has focused on the identification of the cell types and cellular structures expressing PIGF in the normal peripheral nerve and, in a second step (see below) in the injured nerve. The main method used for this study was double immunofluorescent staining, using a specific anti-PIGF antibody (Ab) and Abs for axons, myelinating and proliferating SCs, myelin sheaths, nodes of Ranvier, fibroblasts, endothelial cells and macrophages. The results on the anatomical localization of the PIGF protein were completed by the study of its mRNA expression using *in situ* hybridization (ISH) and RT-PCR.

II.2. PIGF functions

An interesting method to study the roles of a protein in the whole organism is the use of knock-out mice, wherein the gene of interest is "deleted". Thus, the function of a protein can be explored by the comparison of biological phenomena in the presence (wild-type) or absence (knock-out) of this protein. Thanks to a collaboration with the research group Professor P. Carmeliet from the Vesalius Research Centre at the Katholieke Universiteit of Leuven, we were fortunate to raise and study a colony of knock-out mice for PIGF ($Pgf^{-/-}$).

II.3. The model of Wallerian degeneration

The most simple and reproducible model of peripheral WD consists of the complete transection of the sciatic nerve, which is the longest and the largest sensory-motor nerve. The advantage of transection compared to compression of the nerve is the better reproducibility of the injury. Moreover, it is easier to follow the sequence of events of axonal degeneration after a transection where it is anterograde than after compression where the axonal fragmentation progresses retrogradely (Beirowski *et al.*, 2005). Finally, axotomy is a more appropriate model for the clinical situation of traumatic nerve injury in humans.

II.4. The experimental protocol

To explore the hypothesis of a potential role of PIGF in WD, we have compared the main steps of WD between wild-type (wt) and $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice, using the complete sciatic nerve transection model:

- SC proliferation explored *in vivo* and *in vitro* by Ki67 and bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU) immunofluorescent (IF) stainings.
- SC upregulation of p75 NGFr and c-Fos evaluated by immunostaining.
- Macrophage recruitment evaluated by CD11b immunostaining.
- Cyto/chemokine expression studied by cytokine arrays.
- Myelin sheaths degradation explored by toluidine blue staining on semi-thin sections.
- Bands of Büngner formation assessed *in vivo* by the p75NGFr expression pattern and *in vitro* by the "scratch" migration assay.
- > Axonal regeneration explored by neurofilament immunostaining.
- Remyelination evaluated by toluidine blue staining and teasing.
- > Functional motor recovery assessed with the behavioural footprint test.

Given our first results on PIGF expression, two additional research questions were raised and explored:

- ◆ Does PIGF play a role in the formation and/or the preservation of myelin sheaths?
- ♦ Which signalling pathway regulates PIGF expression during WD?

The potential PIGF influence on the structure of myelin sheaths was explored at the ultra-structural level by electron microscopy on cross-sections of sciatic nerves and spinal cords comparing wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice.

Concerning the signalling pathway that regulates PIGF expression after injury, we have focused our attention on NF- κ B, a transcription factor known to be involved in the regulation of cyto/chemokine expression during WD (see section I.3.2.). In particular, we have studied the NF- κ B binding on *Pgf* promoter after injury by the chromatin immunoprecipitation (IP) assay.

Our objectives are summed up in the figure II.1 which represents an overview of the known implications of VEGF and NF- κ B during the WD and the possible actions of PIGF that we want to study.



<u>Figure II.1</u>: Actions of VEGF (blue arrows) and NF- κ B (green arrows) on the cellular and molecular events of the Wallerian degeneration. Hypothetic actions of PlGF (red arrows).

Section III

Results

III.1. PIGF expression pattern in the adult murine nervous system.

The first part of our work is focused on the characterization of PIGF expression patterns in normal and injured adult mouse sciatic nerves. As the sciatic nerve contains motor fibres originating from spinal motoneurons, and sensitive fibres whose cell bodies are located in the dorsal root ganglion (DRG), we've also studied PIGF expression in those nervous structures.

This study was mainly performed by double IF stainings. To validate the specificity of the PIGF Ab, we performed various types of controls:

- Negative controls:
 - IF staining with the PIGF Ab pre-incubated or not with its specific blocking peptide prior its application on the tissue (figure III.1A and B).
 - IF staining on a tissue section negative for PIGF, the liver (Yano *et al.*, 2006) (figure III.1D).
- > Positive control:
 - IF staining on tissue section positive for PIGF, the placenta (figure III.1C)



Figure III.1: PIGF antibody specificity. (A) PIGF immunostaining on transverse section of sciatic nerve. (B) Negative control: sciatic nerve section stained with PIGF Ab pre-incubated with its specific blocking peptide. (C) PIGF immunostaining on mouse placental section. (D) PIGF immunostaining on mouse liver section. Scale bar: 60 µm.

III.1.1. PIGF expression in normal and injured adult mouse sciatic nerves

To investigate PIGF expression in the normal nerve and after axotomy, we performed various double IF stainings in order to screen all cell types and/or structures present in the nerve: **axons** (heavy neurofilament subunit (NF-H)), **myelin** (P0), **Schwann cells** (S100 or the low-affinity receptor of nerve growth factor (p75NGFr)), **nodes of Ranvier** (voltage-gated sodium channels 1.6 (Na_{v1.6})), **fibroblasts** (patched-1, (Ptc-1)), **endothelial cells** (von Willebrandt factor (vWF)), and **invading macrophages** (CD11b).

Based on PIGF/NF double staining, PIGF is found on the axons of the normal sciatic nerve (figure III.2A). More precisely, it is located at the periphery of axons (figure III.2B), in close contact with, but not within the myelin sheath, as no co-localization can be seen with the P0/PIGF double staining (figure III.2C). Interestingly, PIGF/Na_{v1.6} staining reveals that PIGF expression in axons is interrupted at the level of the nodes of Ranvier (figure III.2D). Myelinating SCs do not express PIGF, as shown by the PIGF/S100 staining (figure III.2E). Fibroblasts labeled with the Ptc-1 Ab (Sharghi-Namini *et al.*, 2006) express PIGF in the endoneurium, but not in epi- or perineurial areas (figure III.2G). Finally, vWF Ab, used to identify ECs, never co-localized with PIGF (figure III.2F). ISH performed on transverse sciatic nerve sections confirmed that PIGF mRNA is concentrated at the periphery of axons (figure III.2H).

After nerve transection, a progressive decrease of PIGF staining appears in the distal stump, corresponding to the degradation of axons (figure III.3C). When axonal regeneration occurs, starting as soon as 14 days post-injury, PIGF-positive fibres re-appear in the distal segment of the sciatic nerve (figure III.3D). Interestingly, the double staining with p75NGFr shows that PIGF appears in SCs as soon as 1 day post-axotomy; these cells have a dedifferentiating and proliferating phenotype. PIGF expression in SCs persists during the first 3 days after injury, and is not detectable anymore after 7 days (figures III.3E-H). PIGF in endoneurial fibroblasts, as detected with Ptc-1 immunostaining, also decreases after injury (figures III.3I-L). Finally, after injury, no PIGF was observed in invading macrophages nor in ECs (figures III.4A and B).



Figure III.2: Double IF stainings and ISH on uninjured sciatic nerve sections. PIGF (rhodamine) and NF (A, B), P0 (C), $Na_{vl.6}$ (D), S100 (E), vWF (F) or Ptc-1 (G) (FITC) double IF stainings, and PIGF ISH (H), on longitudinal (A, C, E and F) and transversal sections (B, D, G and H) of uninjured sciatic nerve. PIGF is expressed in axons (A) and has a periaxonal expression pattern (B and H), which is interrupted at nodes of Ranvier (C, arrows). However, PIGF is not present in myelin (D) neither in SCs (E). It is also not expressed in ECs (F). Finally, besides its axonal localization, PIGF is also expressed by fibroblasts but only in the endoneurium (G; E=endoneurium, P=perineurium, Ep=epineurium). The white dashed boxes in B and C represent enlargements of selected zones. Scale bar A-G: 60 µm; scale bar H: 10 µm.



Figure III.3: Double IF stainings on injured sciatic nerve sections. PIGF (rhodamine) and NF (A-D), S100 (E), p75NGFr (F-H) or Ptc-1 (I-L) (FITC) double immunostainings, on longitudinal (A-H) and cross-sections (I-L) of uninjured (UI) (A, E, I) and injured (distal segment) sciatic nerves. Axonal PLGF expression decreases progressively after injury, following the time course of axonal degradation (B, C). 28 days post-injury, PIGF reappears in the regenerating fibres (D). SCs, which dedifferentiate and proliferate after loss of axonal contact, express PIGF from the first day after injury (F). This co-expression disappears after 7 days (H). PIGF expression in endoneurial fibroblasts also decreases with time after injury, as does Ptc-1 (J-L). The white dashed boxes in D and F represent enlargements of selected zones. Scale bar: 60µm.



Figure 111.4: Double IF stainings on injured sciatic nerve sections. PlGF (rhodamine) and CD11b (A) or vWF (B) (FITC) expression on longitudinal sections of sciatic nerves (3 days post-injury, distal segment). PlGF expression never co-localized with CD11b nor vWF during WD.

III.1.2. PIGF expression in ventral spinal gray matter and dorsal root ganglia

Using NeuN ("neuronal nuclei") as a neuronal marker, we observed that PIGF is expressed in perikarya and neurites of several neurons in the ventral horn of the spinal cord, both in large motoneurons and small interneurons (figure III.5A). Through ISH, PIGF mRNA is detected in neurons and displays a perinuclear pattern (figure III.5B). Neuronal expression of PIGF is also seen in the DRG, in cell bodies and nerve fibres, where again its localization is peri-axonal (figures III.5C and D).



Figure 111.5: PIGF expression in the ventral spinal gray matter and in the dorsal root ganglia. (A) Double IF PIGF (rhodamine)/NeuN (FITC) staining and (B) PIGF ISH of transverse spinal cord sections. PIGF is expressed in both motoneurons (arrows) and smaller interneurons (stars). Neurites also express PIGF (arrowheads). (C) PIGF (rhodamine)/NeuN (FITC) and (D) PIGF (rhodamine)/NF (FITC) in the DRG, showing its neuronal and peri-axonal localization (white arrows). Scale bars: A, B and D: 20μm; C: 50μm.

III.2. Signalling pathways regulating PIGF expression during WD: the role of NF-κB.

During Wallerian degeneration, one of the main signalling pathways regulating the cyto- and chemokine expression implicates the transcription factor NF- κ B (Subang & Richardson, 2001; Fu *et al.*, 2010). Few data are available concerning signalling pathways that regulate PIGF expression. However, it has been shown that NF- κ B is involved in the induction of PIGF expression in hypoxia conditions (Cramer *et al.*, 2005). So we decided to investigate the implication of NF- κ B activation in the induction of PIGF expression after nerve injury.

III.2.1. Prediction of NF-κB binding sites in mouse Pgf gene promoter

The κB motif localization on human *Pgf* promoter was published a few years ago (Cramer *et al.*, 2005). However, currently, nothing is known about κB motif presence on mouse *Pgf* promoter. To identify putative κB motifs on mouse *Pgf* promoter (Green *et al.*, 2001), we used four transcription factor binding site prediction programs (MatInspector, MatchTM, Promo and TFSEARCH). We have detected the presence of two potential NF- κB binding sites within the mouse *Pgf* promoter region (figure III.6).



Figure 111.6: Detection of κB motifs in the mouse Pgf gene promoter. The prediction of NF- κB binding sites has revealed two putative κB motifs (gray letters) located 994-1004 ($\kappa B1$) and 1075-1084 ($\kappa B2$) bps upstream the ATG translation initiation site of mouse Pgf gene promoter.

III.2.2. PIGF expression regulation by NF-KB during Wallerian degeneration

In figure III.3, we have shown that SCs express PIGF as soon as 1 day after injury. Interestingly, it has been shown that NF- κ B is activated in SCs within a few hours following nerve injury (Smith *et al.*, 2009). Thus, to explore the potential implication of NF- κ B in the induction of PIGF expression during WD, we investigated the NF- κ B binding to the two putative κ B motifs (figure III.6) by IP of chromatin, from UI and one day-injured sciatic nerves, using an anti-p65 Ab. DNA fragments of immunoprecipitated chromatin were

amplified by quantitative real-time PCR (qRT-PCR), using primers specifically designed to amplify predicted κ B1 or κ B2 site or both (see section VI.14, table VI.4). The figure III.7 shows an about 3-fold induction of NF- κ B binding for the κ B2 and κ B1-2 primers compared to UI nerve controls. We observed no induction for the κ B1 primers.



Figure 111.7: NF- κ B binding on Pgf gene promoter after sciatic nerve injury. p65 is specifically recruited to the Pgf gene promoter after injury, as examined by chromatin IP assays using UI sciatic nerves or 1 day-injured sciatic nerves. After normalization to inputs and to negative flag IP, signal in UI condition was set to 1 and the one obtained in injured condition was expressed relative to it. Results are from 3 independent experiments and error bars denote standard deviation. We observed no induction for the κ B1 primers.

To further prove that the sites were functional in activating gene expression, they were inserted into a luciferase reporter vector, transfected into 293 cells and NF- κ B activation was assessed upon co-transfection with two NF- κ B subunits, p50 and p65. As shown in the figure III.8, the κ B sites found in the *Pgf* promoter (Pgf- κ B) were indeed functional, as the p50/p65 heterodimer induced luciferase gene expression (about 4-5 fold).



Figure III.8: Luciferase assay. The κB sites found in the Pgf promoter are functional in activating NF- κB , as examined by Luciferase assay. Pgf-kB or Ig-kB (positive control) vectors were transfected in 293 cells, with or without the p50/p65 expression vectors, as indicated. Signals were normalized by measuring Renilla activity of a co-transfected pRL vector. For each vector, the value obtained in the absence of p50/p65 was set to 1 and the other was expressed relative to it. Results are from 3 independent experiments and error bars denote standard deviation.

III.3. PIGF and myelin sheath structure

In the section III.1.1 of this work, we have exposed our results on the expression pattern of PIGF in normal sciatic nerves. We have shown a specific PIGF localization at the periphery of axons (figure III.2B), in close contact with the myelin sheath (figure III.2C), with interruption at nodes of Ranvier (figure III.2D). This periaxonal localization could infer a function of PIGF in glia-axon interactions, as already described for other axonal molecules such as microtubule-associated protein 1B (MAP1B) (Franzen *et al.*, 2001). Thus, PIGF could play a role in the maintenance of axon/myelin structure, and a lack of PIGF could induce some modifications in myelin sheath structure. To investigate these hypotheses, we performed a morphological analysis on electronic cross-sections of wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ sciatic nerves and ventral horns of spinal cords. We examined the morphology and the ultra-structure of peripheral (figures III.9A and B) and central (figures III.9C and D) myelin sheaths. This analysis reveals no obvious abnormalities of peripheral and central myelin sheath morphology in $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice (figures III.9B and D).



Figure III.9: Electronic microscopy analysis of myelin sheaths. Electron micrograph analysis of cross-section of wt (A, C) and Pgf^{-/-} (B, D) sciatic nerves (A, B) and ventral horns of spinal cords (C, D) reveals no abnormalities of peripheral and central myelin sheath morphology in Pgf^{-/-} mice (scale bar: $4\mu m$).

In addition to the general structure of myelin sheaths, we also examined the myelin sheath thickness that could be influenced by impairment of myelin sheath folding and/or compaction mechanisms (Martini & Schachner, 1997). Myelin sheath thickness also depends on axonal calibre (Michailov *et al.*, 2004), so we calculated the regression curves representing myelin thickness as a function of axonal diameter for wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice (figure III.10). We observed absolutely no difference between the two groups of animals concerning the evolution of myelin thickness as a function of axonal diameter.



Figure III.10: Relationship between myelin sheath thickness and axonal area in mouse sciatic nerves. (A) Electronic picture of transversal section of sciatic nerve (scale bar: $4\mu m$). The axonal area (=aa, A) and the mean myelin thickness (measurement at four random points of the myelin, red lines) were measured on wt and Pgf^{-/-} ultrathin cross-sections of sciatic nerves (N=3). (B) Regression curves representing myelin thickness as a function of axonal area for wt (dotted line) and Pgf^{-/-} (full line) nerves. We observed no difference between wt and Pgf^{-/-} sciatic nerves.

III.4. PIGF functional roles in Wallerian degeneration

III.4.1. PIGF role on Schwann cell proliferation and formation of bands of Büngner

✤ Proliferation of Schwann cells is decreased in transected Pgf^{-/-} nerves

The WD process in the distal stump of the injured nerve is associated with activation and proliferation of SCs, which form the bands of Büngner and express p75NGFr. To assess the role of PIGF in these processes, we compared the proliferation of SCs within the sciatic nerves of wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice after axotomy. Using immunofluorescent staining against Ki67, a nuclear protein expressed in cells undergoing proliferation, we quantified the number of proliferating cells at 1, 3 and 7 days after axotomy in the distal stump of nerves from wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice (figures III.11A-B). We found a significant decrease of cell proliferation in $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice at 1 and 3 days post-injury (Fig III.11B). Because of a conflict between Abs, we were not able to perform the double immunofluorescent staining Ki67/p75NGFr to identify the proliferating cells as SCs. We can nevertheless attest that the Ki67-positive cells are not inflammatory cells, such as invading macrophages, as we have only taken into account Ki67positive cells that do not express CD11b.



Figure III.11: In vivo cell proliferation. (A) Ki67 immunoreactivity on longitudinal sections of wt and Pgf^{-/-} sciatic nerves 3 days after axotomy (scale bar: $50\mu m$). (B) Cell quantification shows a significant difference between wt and Pgf^{-/-} mice in the number of Ki67 positive cells 1 and 3 days post-injury. ** P < 0.01; *P < 0.05 (mean ± standard error (SE); N = 5 mice per group).

✤ Proliferating Schwann cells are decreased in Pgf^{-/-} SC cultures

In order to confirm the *in vivo* finding of decreased SC proliferation in mice lacking PIGF, we compared the proliferation of primary cultures of SCs isolated from wt or $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice. The purity of our primary SC cultures was evaluated by a p75 NGFr immunostaining (figure III.12A) and the quantification of p75 NGFr-positive cells reveals a SC purity of about 95% (figure III.12B). Using BrdU incorporation and double immunofluorescent staining against BrdU and p75NGFr (figure III.13A), we counted the mean number of proliferating SCs. The number of BrdU positive $Pgf^{-/-}$ SC nuclei was decreased by about 10 % (figure III.13B).



Figure III.12: Purity evaluation of SC cultures: (A) P75 NGFr (FITC)/DAPI immunostaining of SC cultures (scale bar: 50 μ m). (B) Quantification of the number of p75 NGFr-positive cells reveals that the purity of our SC cultures is about 95% (94.93 ± 1.41; N=2 wt cultures and 2 Pgf^{-/-} cultures).



Figure III.13: In vitro SC proliferation. (A) BrdU (rhodamine)/p75NGFr (FITC) immunocytofluorescent staining of wt and Pgf^{-/-} SCs after BrdU incorporation (scale bar: 50 μ m). (B) Quantification shows a significant decrease of Pgf^{-/-} SC proliferation. * P < 0.05 (mean ±SE; N= 3 culture experiments).

SCs in culture adopt a proliferating phenotype, as do SCs *in vivo* after injury. We thus verified that in culture conditions, SCs do also express PIGF, as observed 24 hours after sciatic nerve section. We performed a RT-PCR for PIGF (P) and GAPDH (G), as housekeeping gene, on RNA extracts from wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ SC cultures, and also on DRG as positive control. The polyacrylamide gel with RT-PCR amplification products (figure III.14) shows that PIGF mRNA is expressed in DRG (as is its corresponding protein (figure III.5C-D)), and confirms a PIGF expression in wt cultured SCs and no expression in $Pgf^{-/-}$ SCs.



<u>Figure 111.14</u>: Representative polyacrylamide gel showing PIGF (P) and GAPDH (G) RT-PCR amplification products from wt and Pgf^{-/-} cultured SCs, and DRG. PIGF RT-PCR confirmed PIGF expression in DRG and wt SCs in culture conditions and no expression in Pgf^{-/-} SCs.

Schwann cell alignment is delayed in transected Pgf^{-/-} nerves

We then assessed p75NGFr expression in wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice after various posttransection survival times. As illustrated in figure III.15A, p75NGFr is weakly expressed in UI nerves. In wt animals, its expression increases 3 days after axotomy and reaches a peak at day 7 (figure III.15B). At that time, the longitudinal aspect of the p75NGFr staining is likely due to the alignment of SCs to form the bands of Büngner. In $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice, the peak of expression of p75NGFr is only reached 14 days after the lesion, and decreases more rapidly afterwards. Also, at day 7, the longitudinal aspect of the staining is much less pronounced than in tissue sections of wt animals.



Figure III.15: P75NGFr immunostaining and quantification. (A) P75NGFr immunoreactivity on longitudinal sections of wt and Pgf^{-/-} sciatic nerves before (UI) and after axotomy (scale bar: 100µm). (B) Histogram of the quantification of p75NGFr staining. A significant difference is observed between wt and Pgf^{-/-} mice in the intensity of p75NGFr staining 7, 21 and 28 days post-injury. ** P < 0.01; * P < 0.05 (mean ± SE; N = 5-9 mice per group).

★ Migration of Pgf^{-/-} Schwann cells in vitro is non significantly decreased

As the p75NGFr staining revealed a delay in SC alignment between wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice, we hypothesised that the migration potential of $Pgf^{-/-}$ SCs could be decreased. To test this, we performed a "scratch migration assay" in cultured SCs (figure III.16A). Time-lapse experimentation was performed to follow the migration of wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ SCs every 2 hours during 28h. The percentage of cell-free area was quantified every 2 hours. This cell-free area was higher, at each time, in the $Pgf^{-/-}$ SC. However, this difference was not statistically significant.



Figure III.16: Scratch migration assay on wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ purified SCs. (A) Full black lines represent the initial edges of the scratch, while dotted lines were traced 28h later, at the front of migration of the SCs. (B) The surface of the initial scratch was measured (=100%) and compared to the cell-free surface every 2h during 28h. The percentage of cell-free area was calculated and revealed that the area from Pgf^{-/-} SCs assay was always higher than the one from wt SCs, however this difference is not statistically significant (p=0.4; mean ± SE; N=4 culture experiments). Scale bar: 100µm.

III.4.2. PIGF role on macrophage recruitment

The other main cell type involved in the WD process are macrophages, which accumulate within the degenerating nerve segment and accelerate the removal of axonal and myelin debris. As PIGF plays a role in the chemo-attraction of macrophages (Clauss *et al.*, 1996), we first quantified the number of invading macrophages within the degenerating distal segment at several post-injury delays, comparing wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice. CD11b immunostaining of longitudinal nerve sections revealed a clear delay in the macrophage infiltration in $Pgf^{-/-}$

nerves respective to wt nerves (figure III.17A). While infiltration peaked between the 3^{rd} and the 7th day post-injury in wt mice, it did so only between 14 and 21 days in $Pgf^{-/-}$ tissue (figure III.17B).



Figure III.17: CD11b immunostaining and quantification. (A) CD11b immunostaining of longitudinal sections of wt and Pgf^{-/-} sciatic nerves before (UI) and 7 days after axotomy (scale bar: 200µm). (B) Cell quantification shows a significant difference between wt and Pgf^{-/-} mice in the number of invading macrophages 1, 3 and 7 days post-injury. *** P < 0.001; ** P < 0.01; * P < 0.05 (mean ± SE; N = 5-12 mice per group).

III.4.3. PIGF role on cytokine and chemokine expression

WD is orchestrated by a large cyto-/chemokine network, which regulates SC and macrophage functions. As PIGF invalidation affects these two cell types, and more particularly at the early stages of WD, we compared the expression of 10 cyto/chemokines in extracts of UI, and 1, 3 and 7 days- injured sciatic nerves (distal part) from wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice. The following molecules were studied: IL-1 α , IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-10, TNF- α , VEGF, VEGFR-1, MCP-1, MIP-1 α and pro-MMP-9. The quantitative analysis of the signal intensity revealed significant decreases in $Pgf^{-/-}$ extracts of IL1- α , MCP-1 and IL-10 at 1 day (figure III.18A-C), of MIP-1 α at 3 days, (figure III.18D) and pro-MMP9 at 7 days post-injury (figure III.18E).





Figure III.18: Cytokine-array on sciatic nerve extracts from wt and Pgf -/- mice. (A) $IL-1\alpha$,(B) MCP-1 and (C) IL-10 don't increase their expression in Pgf^{-/-} nerve as much as in wt nerves 1 day after injury. (D) MIP-1 α expression increases after injury in wt mice, and remains low in Pgf^{-/-} mice. (E) Pro-MMP-9 peaks at 7 days post-injury only in wt nerves. (F) The VEGF expression is absolutely not affected in Pgf^{-/-} during WD. Concerning (G) IL-1b, (H) IL-6, (I) TNF-a and (J) VEGFr1, their expressions after injury tend to be lesser in Pgf^{-/-} mice compared to the wt one. However, these differences are not statistically significant. * P <0.05 (mean ± SE; N=6 mice per group).

III.4.4. PIGF effect on myelin sheath degradation

To verify if the delay in SC proliferation and in macrophage recruitment affects the degradation speed of myelin sheaths, we stained these latter with toluidine blue and counted them over semi-thin transverse sections from wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ nerves from various post-injury delays (figure III.19A). These counts revealed that the degradation of myelin sheaths is slower in $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice (figure III.19B).



Figure III.19: Myelin sheath quantification. (A) Toluidine blue staining on semi-thin cross-sections from wt and Pgf^{-/-} sciatic nerves before (UI) and 7 days after axotomy (scale bar: 20µm). (B) Quantification shows a significant difference between wt and Pgf^{-/-} mice in the number of intact myelin (white arrowheads) sheaths 3 and 7 days post-injury. * P < 0.05 (mean ± SE; N = 5-9 mice per group).

III.4.5. PIGF effect on the phagocytic phenotype of SC as indexed by c-Fos expression

In addition to the number of phagocytic cells present in the injured site, the degradation of myelin sheaths is also influenced by the acquisition of phagocytic activity by SCs. It has been shown that this phenotype acquisition is closely associated with the expression of the cellular immediate early gene c-Fos (Liu *et al.*, 1995). Moreover, PIGF is

able to induce c-Fos expression in cells expressing its receptor Flt-1 (Holmes & Zachary, 2004). Thus, to assess the role of PIGF in SC acquisition of a phagocytic phenotype through c-Fos activation, we compared by immunofluorescent staining c-Fos expression within the sciatic nerves of wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice one day after axotomy (figure III.20A). The quantification of the percentage of c-Fos positive cells reveals that there is no difference between wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice concerning c-Fos expression after nerve injury (figure III.20B). Because of a conflict between Abs, we were not able to perform the double immunofluorescent staining c-Fos-positive cells are neither macrophage, as they do not express CD11b, nor fibroblast, as the quantification excludes epi-perineurial c-Fos-positive cells described to be the two types of fibroblasts expressing c-Fos in the distal segment during WD (Pyykonen & Koistinaho, 1991).



Figure 111.20: *c*-Fos activation after nerve injury. (A) *c*-Fos immunoreactivity on longitudinal sections of wt and Pgf^{-/-} sciatic nerves 1 day after axotomy (scale bar: $50\mu m$). Cell quantification shows no difference between wt and Pgf^{-/-} mice in the percentage of *c*-Fos positive SCs 1 day post-injury (mean \pm SE; N= 2 mice per group).

III.4.6. PIGF role on axonal regeneration

As SC and macrophage functions are delayed during WD in $Pgf^{-/-}$ animals, axonal regeneration might also be altered. To test this hypothesis, we compared the NF immunostainings of transected sciatic nerves from wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice. At 7 days post-injury, all axons are degraded in both wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ nerve distal parts, as illustrated by the high number of axonal debris (figure III.21). At 14 days, regeneration starts in wt nerves, as more longitudinal profiles can be observed in wt than in $Pgf^{-/-}$ nerves.



Figure III.21: Neurofilament immunostaining. NF immunostaining on longitudinal sections of wt and Pgf^{-/-} sciatic nerves 7, 14 and 21 days after axotomy (scale bar: $100\mu m$). Inserts illustrate representative fields considered as "debris (*)" or "fibers (**)" used for the semi-quantitative analysis illustrated in figure III.22.

This observation was confirmed by counting the proportion of fields containing either axonal debris (dotted aspect of NF staining), axonal profiles (longitudinal profiles on NF staining), or both (figure III.22A). After 14 days post-injury, almost 60% of the total length of the nerve corresponds to fields containing only axonal debris in $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice, while debriscontaining fields occupy less than 10% in wt mice. As a corollary, fields with higher proportions of regenerating axons occupy 50% of the nerve length in wt mice compared to less than 5% in $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice. No field containing only axonal profiles was observed at this time. After 21 days, regenerating profiles were more numerous, reflecting the repair progress, and there were no more difference between wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice (figure III.22B). This finding suggests therefore that absence of PIGF leads to a transient delay of axonal regeneration.



Figure 111.22: Neurofilament semi-quantification. Quantification shows that after 14 days (A), $Pgf^{-/-}$ nerves contain a significant higher proportion of debris than wt nerves, while more regenerating profiles are observed in wt nerves than $Pgf^{-/-}$ ones. *** P < 0.001; ** P < 0.01 (mean $\pm SE$; N = 5-7 mice per group). (B) No more differences were found after 21 days.

III.4.7. PIGF role on remyelination

As SC proliferation and axonal regeneration are delayed during WD in $Pgf^{-/-}$ animals, remyelination might also be altered. However, as observed in the figure III.19B, the number of intact myelin sheath 21 days after injury didn't differ between wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice.

It is known that after remyelination, the distance between two adjacent nodes of Ranvier (figure III.23A) is reduced (Hildebrand *et al.*, 1985). Thus, SC proliferation could influence the internodal length during remyelination. We measured this internodal length 28 days after the nerve section: no difference was observed between wt and Pgf^{/-} nerves (figure III.23B).



Figure III.23: Internodal length measure. (A) The distance between two nodes of Ranvier (NR) along an axon determines the internodal length. (B) Comparison of average internodal lengths from UI or regenerated axons (28 days following sciatic nerve axotomy) between wt and Pgf^{-/-} mice shows no difference between the two groups. The means \pm SE were calculated from 3-10 myelin segments (n=3 animals per group).

III.4.8. PIGF role on motor recovery

To assess the consequence of this delayed axonal regeneration on functional recovery, we finally evaluated motor recovery after sciatic nerve axotomy in $Pgf^{-/-}$ compared to wt mice, using the walking track method in which foot-prints are analysed (Fig III.24A). The print-lengths of uninjured (NPL) and injured (OPL) sciatic nerves were measured preoperatively, as well as 3, 7, 10, 14, 17 and 21 days after axotomy and were used to

calculate the print-length factor (PLF, described in section VI.4). During the first week following injury, this PLF increases and reaches after 7 days the value of about 0.5 and 0.35 for wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice respectively, indicating a marked disability in the injured paw. At day 10, the PLF of wt mice starts to decrease and reaches a value of about 0.3 at 21 days after injury, whereas the PLF of $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice continues to get worse and reaches a value of about 0.6 at 21 days (figure III.24B).



Figure III.24: Functional recovery. A) Representative footprints obtained from wt and Pgf^{-/-} mice, 21 days after unilateral left sciatic nerve transection. Measures of OPL and the NPL were used to calculate the PLF. (B) Graph showing the recovery of motor function after sciatic nerve transection determined by the PLF. Worse recovery is evident in mice lacking PlGF compared to their wt controls. ** P < 0.01; *P < 0.05 (mean±SE; N = 5 mice per group).

To summarize, we have shown that in $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice:

- 1. Proliferation of SCs is decreased;
- 2. Alignment of SCs to form Büngner's band is delayed;
- 3. Inflammatory response is delayed;
- 4. Myelin degradation is slower;
- 5. Axonal regeneration is delayed;
- 6. Motor recovery is impaired.

Section IV Discussion

This project was designed to study the potential role of the PIGF in axonal remodeling. We hypothesized that PIGF was likely to be involved in the post-injury inflammatory process that follows an axonal lesion, i.e. the WD, because of its known effects on monocyte chemoattraction and cytokine secretion. WD in the PNS is followed by successful axon regeneration and functional recovery, while in the CNS, its slower and different progression is in part the culprit for the failure of efficient axonal regrowth.

We thus decided to study the role of PIGF in the WD process induced by injury to the PNS, and in the subsequent axonal regeneration.

As only scarce data were available on PIGF in the nervous system at the time we started this project, we have dedicated the first part of our study to expression of PIGF in the PNS under physiological and pathological conditions. We then tested the hypothesis that NF- κ B might mediate PIGF transcription. The major part of our work is devoted to the study of the role of PIGF in the cellular and molecular processes involved in WD and in axonal regeneration and functional recovery, using a PIGF knock-out mouse model. We will discuss these results in sequence.

IV.1 PIGF is expressed in the normal nervous system

Since its initial discovery in the placenta in 1991 (Maglione *et al.*, 1991), PIGF has been detected in other organs, including the brain (Beck *et al.*, 2002; Hayashi *et al.*, 2003) and the spinal cord (Hedlund *et al.*, 2010).

Ten years ago, Beck et al. had shown that PIGF mRNA and protein were detectable in neurons throughout the normal mouse brain (Beck *et al.*, 2002). Using double immunofluorescent stainings, ISH and RT-PCR, we provide evidence that PIGF is also expressed in intact as well as in injured mouse sciatic nerves.

In the intact sciatic nerve, PIGF is expressed in all axons, as it is the case for the VEGF (Sondell *et al.*, 2000), and in endoneurial fibroblasts, but not in ECs, SCs or myelin sheaths. PIGF is also expressed in the perikarya of the neurons of origin of sciatic nerve axons in lumbar DRGs and spinal ventral gray matter neurons. At the subcellular level we report for the first time a peculiar periaxonal expression pattern of PIGF on sciatic nerve and DRG sections. This localization of PIGF could be due to its particular basic carboxyl terminal that allows it to bind polyanionic molecules like acidic phopholipids of the cell membranes (Persico *et al.*, 1999; De Falco *et al.*, 2002; Autiero *et al.*, 2003a). In addition to this periaxonal localization, our results show an interruption of PIGF expression at the nodes of
Ranvier. It is known that, at the nodal level, the axolemma is composed of molecules highly specialized for the electrical signal transduction. The molecular difference in membrane composition between the internodal and nodal regions, particularly in the proportion between phospholipids and ionic channels, probably explains the absence of PIGF at the nodes of Ranvier.

IV.2 PIGF expression changes during Wallerian Degeneration

Sciatic nerve transection results in axonal breakdown and disintegration, which can explain the decrease of PIGF expression observed in injured axons during the first week postinjury. Thereafter, WD in the PNS leads to successful axonal repair, explaining the reexpression of PIGF in regenerating axons. Our results also show that SCs transiently express PIGF after nerve injury.

An induction of VEGF expression in SCs was previously reported after peripheral nerve injury (Scarlato *et al.*, 2003). Axonal rupture causes a loss of contact between the axolemma and its ensheathing SCs that switch from a differentiated state to an undifferentiated, proliferating state. This SC response is, among others, due to a neuronal release of the cytokine TGF- β 1, which induces SC proliferation (Rogister *et al.*, 1993). Interestingly, TGF- β 1 has been shown to activate PIGF expression in cultured keratinocytes (Failla *et al.*, 2000) and in retinal pigment epithelial cells (Hollborn *et al.*, 2006). Hence, the transient expression of PIGF in SC observed after injury might be due to axonal released TGF- β 1. The PIGF expression in proliferating SCs is confirmed by our RT-PCR results on primary SC cultures.

In addition to the post-injury expression of PIGF in SCs, our results reveal a decrease of PIGF expression in fibroblasts concomitantly with the down-regulation of Ptc-1, the fibroblast marker. It is known that the signalling molecule desert hedgehog (Dhh) and its receptors, Ptc-1 and 2, are down-regulated during WD (Parmantier *et al.*, 1999; Bajestan *et al.*, 2006; Sharghi-Namini *et al.*, 2006). Moreover, it has been demonstrated that the VEGF gene is a target of Ptc-1 signalling in cancers (Liao *et al.*, 2009). Hence, the reduction of Dhh signalling during WD might cause the PIGF decrease in fibroblasts.

Finally, in none of our experiments we found PIGF expression in ECs or macrophages. These results contrast with those showing that PIGF is expressed in inflammatory cells and vessels after injury (MCAO-induced stroke) to the CNS (Beck *et al.*, 2002). If these results can be replicated, they suggest that, after injury, PIGF is expressed differently in PNS and CNS.

IV.3. PIGF is a target for NF-κB

Transcription factors, such as c-Fos, c-Jun, ATF3 and NF- κ B, are upregulated during WD. They control the changes in gene expression that occur in SCs located in the distal part of the injured nerve and induce responses like pro-inflammatory molecule secretion, phagocytic phenotype acquisition and migration (Liu *et al.*, 1995; Hunt *et al.*, 2004; Camara-Lemarroy *et al.*, 2010; Fu *et al.*, 2010). It has been shown that the *Pgf* gene transcription is regulated by several transcription factors such as MTF-1, GCM1, BF-2 as well as NF- κ B (Green *et al.*, 2001; Zhang *et al.*, 2003; Cramer *et al.*, 2005; Chang *et al.*, 2008). Among those factors, NF- κ B is the only one involved in both WD process and regulation of PIGF expression.

It was shown previously that the human Pgf promotor contains some NF- κ B binding sites (Cramer *et al.*, 2005). Our mouse Pgf promoter analysis also reveals the presence of κ B motifs and our chromatin immunoprecipitation and luciferase assays confirm that PIGF transcription could be regulated by the NF- κ B signalling pathway during WD. This result confirms the important role of the NF- κ B signalling pathway in the induction of proinflammatory cyto- and chemokines by SCs during the WD (Fu *et al.*, 2010).

IV.4. Periaxonal PIGF has no role in myelin sheath formation or preservation

Because of the peculiar peripheral localisation in axons, the question arose whether PIGF plays a role in the formation and/or the preservation of myelin sheaths. In myelinated axons, PIGF is indeed in close contact with the inner lamellae of the myelin sheath and it is interrupted at the nodes of Ranvier. As mentioned above (see section IV.1.1), this PIGF expression pattern could be due to its ability to bind polyanionic molecules like acidic phopholipids of cell membranes. A similar periaxonal localization has been already shown for MAP1B, another cytoplasmic glycoprotein able to bind polyanionic molecules (Franzen *et al.*, 2001). In the latter study, Franzen et al. have shown that MAP1B is a neuronal binding partner for MAG, a myelin protein implicated in the stability of myelinated axons. Thus, as PIGF has an expression pattern similar to MAP1B, we hypothesized that PIGF might similarly play a role in the maintenance of the axon/myelin structure. This hypothesis was not

confirmed by our electron microscope analyses of myelin sheath morphology in sciatic nerves and spinal cords of $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice where no abnormalities could be detected. Based on these results and the fact that PIGF is also expressed in unmyelinated axons, we can conclude that PIGF is not essential for the formation and/or the preservation of myelin sheaths.

Thus, the functional implication of this peculiar periaxonal localization of PIGF remains to be determined.

IV.5. PIGF deletion delays the cellular and molecular events of Wallerian Degeneration.

The question whether PIGF has a functional role in WD was examined in $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice. In mice lacking PIGF we observed after nerve transection a global delay in the cellular and molecular events of WD that retarded axonal regeneration and functional motor recovery. The targets of PIGF in WD demonstrated in our work are schematized in figure IV.1



Figure IV.1: Model of PIGF involvement in the Wallerian degeneration. Following axonal breakdown, the released PIGF can bind to its flt-1 receptor on SCs, which in turn (i) produce PIGF and chemokines through the activation of the NF- κ B signaling pathway, (ii) proliferate and (iii) align to form bands of Büngner, promoting axonal regeneration. PIGF also influences directly monocyte chemoattraction, thereby increasing macrophage activity of myelin debris phagocytosis, necessary to successful axonal regeneration.

IV.5.1. Impaired Schwann cell dedifferentiation and proliferation

Nerve injury changes the phenotype of SCs that switch to a dedifferentiated, nonmyelinating and proliferative state within 24h after the lesion. In *Pgf*^{-/-} mice, SC proliferation rates are significantly decreased, both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Flt-1, which binds both VEGF and PIGF, mediates VEGF-triggered proliferation of astroglial cells (Mani *et al.*, 2005; Krum *et al.*, 2008). It is thus likely that in wt animals, the PIGF released by injured axons activates Flt-1 receptors on SC membranes and induces their proliferation. This is in line with the study of Sondell et al. showing the mitogenic activity of VEGF on SC via flk-1 (Sondell *et al.*, 1999a), and confirming the biological activity of Flt-1 expressed on SCs (Schratzberger *et al.*, 2000). As other mitotic agents can act on SCs during WD (Rogister *et al.*, 1993; Kwon *et al.*, 1997; Li *et al.*, 2005; Ogata *et al.*, 2006), the sole absence of PIGF can only decrease SC proliferation, but not abolish it.

Moreover, in $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice, the expression of p75NGFr, a marker of SC dedifferentiation, is significantly delayed after injury. The p75NGFr expression is stimulated by the fibrin deposit occurring after the lesion (Akassoglou *et al.*, 2002). Recently, it was shown that PIGF is an inducer of the plasminogen activator-1 inhibitor (PAI) (Patel *et al.*, 2010). Thus, in $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice, the absence of PIGF could lead to a decrease in fibrin deposits, due to a low PAI induction, resulting in the delay of p75NGFr expression.

IV.5.2. Delayed cyto/chemokine expression

A large cyto/chemokine network, mainly produced by SCs, regulates the sequential WD cellular events. PIGF is able to induce an increase of several of these molecules like inflammatory cyto/chemokines (Bottomley *et al.*, 2000; Perelman *et al.*, 2003; Selvaraj *et al.*, 2003) or enzymes such as MMPs (Hattori *et al.*, 2002). In our cytokine arrays, PIGF has a significant effect on the expression of MCP-1 and pro-MMP-9. These molecules are essential for early WD events: MCP-1 attracts macrophages (Toews *et al.*, 1998; Siebert *et al.*, 2000; Perrin *et al.*, 2005), and MMP-9 is responsible for SC migration (Mantuano *et al.*, 2008). We also obtain statistical differences in the expression of IL-10, II-1 α and MIP-1 α between wt and *Pgf*^{-/-} mice. However, because of the low reproducibility of our cytokine arrays for these molecules, leading to large SE, we were not able to detect the known post-injury evolution of these cytokines (Shamash *et al.*, 2002; Perrin *et al.*, 2005) leaving open the question if they are significantly influenced by PIGF.

IV.5.3. Delayed macrophage recruitment

Macrophages play an essential role during WD. In addition to rapid clearance of axonal and myelin debris, they secrete neurotrophins (Barrette *et al.*, 2008), promoting successful axonal regeneration. PIGF is chemo-attractive for macrophages (Clauss *et al.*, 1996). It is thus not surprising to find a significant delay in macrophage invasion during the first week of WD in $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice. As mentioned above, our cytokine array results also showed a significant delay of MCP-1 expression in $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice. Post-lesional macrophage invasion can therefore be impaired directly by the lack of PIGF, or indirectly via the delay in MCP-1 expression.

IV.5.4. Delayed myelin clearance, but no effect on the phagocytic phenotype of SCs

Myelin degradation and its subsequent clearance are mediated by SCs and macrophages. The phagocytic phenotype acquired by SCs after the lesion was shown to be associated with c-Fos expression in these cells (Liu *et al.*, 1995). However, although our results show a delay in myelin clearance when PIGF is absent, they detect no difference in c-Fos expression between wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice. Thus, the delay observed in myelin degradation and clearance is likely due to the reduced number of phagocytic cells within the lesion, consequence of the reduced SC proliferation and the delayed macrophage recruitment, rather than to a decrease in phagocytic capacity.

IV.5.5. Delayed formation of Büngner's bands

In addition to their role in the inflammatory response, SCs migrate and line up to form the bands of Büngner. SC migration involves several molecules like cell-signaling factors, integrins and proteases (Lauffenburger & Horwitz, 1996). Among them, MMP-9, which is over-expressed by SCs after nerve injury and promotes SC migration (Mantuano *et al.*, 2008), was found to be a target for PIGF (Hattori *et al.*, 2002). Concordantly, our cytokine arrays show a significant decrease of pro-MMP-9 expression 7 days after injury in $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice relative to wt mice.

NGF and its low affinity receptor p75NGFr are also involved in SC migration (Anton *et al.*, 1994) and in our study p75NGFr expression after injury is delayed in $Pgf^{/-}$ mice. Moreover, it is known that VEGF promotes SC migration mainly through its Trk receptors flk-1 and flt-1 (Schratzberger *et al.*, 2000) and that flt-1, the PIGF receptor, mediates migration of ECs (Bae *et al.*, 2005; Li *et al.*, 2006), and retinal pigment epithelial cells (Hollborn *et al.*, 2006). The delay of SC alignment observed on p75NGFr immunostained

sections of transected *Pgf*^{-/-} nerves could thus be related either to a direct effect of the PIGF deficiency, or to an indirect effect related to the delay of MMP-9 and/or p75NGFr expression or to a reduced efficiency of VEGF, of which the effects are normally amplified by PIGF via various mechanisms (Carmeliet *et al.*, 2001; Autiero *et al.*, 2003b; Ribatti, 2008).

Contrasting with the *in vivo* experiments, the *in vitro* migration assay does not reveal a significant difference between wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice, although numerical values are systematically lower for $Pgf^{/-}$ cells. This difference could be explained by the poor reproducibility of the "scratch" test, and of the size of the cell-free area at the beginning of the experiment that can influence the migration ability of cells.

IV.5.6. Delayed axonal regeneration, but normal remyelination

Since PIGF modulates the early post-axotomy SC proliferation and macrophage invasion, it came of little surprise that axonal regeneration was also delayed in Pgf^{-} mice. Indeed, the delay in clearance of myelin and axonal debris by SCs and macrophages leads to an unfavorable environment for regeneration and the retarded SC p75NGFr expression and bands of Büngner formation can decrease the beneficial effect that neurotrophins exert on the regenerating axons (Taniuchi *et al.*, 1988). It must be pointed, however, that, like the other events of WD, axonal regeneration is only delayed so that it does not differ anymore between wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice at post-injury day 21.

The remyelination of regenerating fibers, the last step of nerve repair, is not affected by the delayed early events of WD. Nevertheless, because of the decrease in SC proliferation in the absence of PIGF, we hypothesized that the internodal length could be affected in regenerated $Pgf^{-/-}$ nerves. It is known that, after remyelination, the distance between two adjacent nodes of Ranvier is reduced in normal nerves (Hildebrand *et al.*, 1985). In our teasing experiments we found no difference in intermodal length between regenerated wt and $Pgf^{/-}$ nerve fibers. This could be due to the fact that Schwann cell proliferation may not be necessary for effective axonal regeneration and myelination after peripheral nerve injury, as shown by Yang et al. (Yang *et al.*, 2008).

IV.5.7. Lack of functional motor recovery

Although axonal regeneration and remyelination occur 21 days after injury in *Pgf*^{-/-} mice, functional motor recovery is impaired compared to wt mice in our study. We have no proven explanation for this apparent contrast. A major factor that determines functional recovery, however, is the correct rewiring of regenerating axons with their peripheral target

end-organs. Regenerating motor axons are often misrouted to sensory targets and sensory axons may be misrouted to muscle, leading to abnormal sensorimotor activity (Ijkema-Paassen *et al.*, 2002; Madison *et al.*, 2007; Carlstedt, 2008).

We speculate that the favourable effect of PIGF on SC proliferation and alignment and on axonal regeneration could enhance target organ reinnervation. Such an effect has indeed been demonstrated for VEGF. In a model of axonal regeneration through an acellular conduit, it was shown that adding VEGF in the silicone chamber stimulated SC and axonal regeneration, and that this was associated with an improved target organ reinnervation (Hobson *et al.*, 2000). It remains to be demonstrated that PIGF has a similar beneficial effect on axonal rewiring.

Section V Conclusion and Prospects

The expression and function(s) of PIGF in the intact and injured PNS were not known up to now. Our work is the first demonstration of the involvement of PIGF as a new member of the cytokine network regulating WD. We have demonstrated that in the intact mouse sciatic nerve PIGF is found in axons underneath the axolemma, while it is expressed by SCs after axotomy possibly through a NF- κ B-dependent mechanism of transcription. In a second step, we have used transgenic knock-out mice for the PIGF gene to show that PIGF plays a significant role in the sequence of cellular and molecular events of WD. It stimulates proliferation and migration of SCs, as well as the inflammatory response by inducing proinflammatory molecule expression and macrophage recruitment. We have shown that the absence of PIGF is associated with a delay in WD events, and in axonal regeneration, as well as poor functional motor recovery.

These results may have therapeutic implications for peripheral nerve injury. PIGF is probably dispensable for effective axonal regrowth, as in our study there was only a delay in regeneration. The more important aspect in our work is the finding that, despite normal axonal regeneration at long delays in the absence of PIGF, motor recovery remains impaired compared to wt mice. This suggests that PIGF may be needed for the correct rewiring of peripheral axons and its utility for this aspect of post-injury reinnervation should be explored in future studies.

The novel observation that PIGF is a molecule required for successful and functional repair in the PNS may have important consequences and perspectives for regeneration in the CNS. As mentioned in section I.1.2, following CNS injury, axonal regeneration aborts due in part to a less vigorous macrophage invasion compared to the PNS. In the future, it seems thus of interest to explore PIGF expression after CNS injury.

Axonal regeneration within the CNS is also impaired by an astrocytic gliosis. Interestingly, PIGF is expressed by astrocytes in which its expression is increased after brain ischemia (Beck *et al.*, 2002). Astrocytes, isolated from $Pgf^{/-}$ mice cortex, exhibit a higher proliferation rate under hypoxic condition than wt-isolated astrocytes (Freitas-Andrade *et al.*, 2008). These cells therefore deserve to be explored regarding their PIGF expression pattern after CNS lesion.

The question whether regeneration could be promoted by providing PIGF after a CNS lesion is of major importance. In fact, in addition to its potential beneficial effect on the postinjury inflammatory reaction, PIGF treatment could also enhance neo-angiogenesis (Takeda *et al.*, 2009), which is known to be beneficial for axonal regrowth (Hobson *et al.*, 2000; Dray *et al.*, 2009). Angiogenic effects may have drawbacks like oedema formation due to vascular permeability increase as it was shown for the therapeutic use of VEGF in brain injury (van Bruggen *et al.*, 1999). Concerning PIGF, its effect on vascular permeability remains disputed. Some reports have shown that only VEGF analogues activating VEGFR-2 are able to increase vascular permeability (Hillman *et al.*, 2001; Brkovic & Sirois, 2007). The lack of an effect on VEGFR-2 could make PIGF a more appropriate candidate than VEGF for neurological treatment. Experiments using mutant mice in which PIGF is under- or over-expressed have not solved the question as they have revealed either a decrease (Luttun *et al.*, 2002a) or an increase (Odorisio *et al.*, 2002; Oura *et al.*, 2003) of vascular permeability under pathological conditions. One explanation for this discrepancy may be that the PIGF-induced increase in vascular permeability is an indirect effect, due to the displacement of VEGFA from VEGFR-1 to VEGFR-2, as PIGF competes with VEGF-A for VEGFR-1 in pathological conditions (Carmeliet *et al.*, 2001).

Taken together, VEGF and PIGF, despite proven experimental advantages, could be double-sided swords as neuroprotective/neurotrophic treatments for ischemic, degenerative or traumatic neurological disorders. We can finally conclude that in future therapeutic studies, it might be worthwhile to explore the effect of PIGF combined or not with a VEGFR-2 inhibitor to better understand the mechanisms and receptors implicated in the neurotrophic and angiogenic effects mediated by VEGF and PIGF.

Section VI

Materials and Methods

VI.1. Primary antibodies

In this work, many Abs have been used. Table VI.1 summarizes information on all primary Abs: origin, dilution or quantity used, as well as their cellular or molecular specificity.

Ab Name	Reference	Company	Dilution/Quantity	Cellular/Molecular specificity
PlGF	sc-27134	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	1:50	Placental growth factor
				PlGF protein
NF-H	MAB5448	Millipore	1:500	Neurofilament heavy polypeptide
				axon
S100	ZO311	DakoCytomation	1:200	Low MW Ca ⁺⁺ - binding protein
				Schwann cell
p75 NGFr	AB1554	Millipore	1:200	Low affinity NGF receptor
				proliferating Schwann cell
vWF	AB6994	Abcam	1:2000	von Willebrand Factor
				endothelial cell
Ptc-1	sc-9016	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	1:50	Sonic Hedgehoc receptor
				fibroblast
CD11b	MCA74	Serotec	1:250	Complement receptor type 3
				macrophage
PO	AB9352	Millipore	1:50	Glycoprotein 0
				PNS myelin
Nav1.6	ASC-009	Alomones Labs	1:50	Voltage-gated Sodium channels
				nodes of Ranvier
NeuN	MAB377	Millipore	1:250	Neuronal nuclei
				neuron
Ki67	NCL-Ki67p	Novocastra	1:250	Nuclear antigen expressed in all
		~		proliferating cells
BrdU	OBT0030	Serotec	1:250	Bromodeoxyuridine
				Cells in S phase of mitosis
c-Fos	sc-52	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	1:100	Immediate early gene
				Marker of SC activity
p65	sc-109	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	4µg	NF-кB subunit p65
Flag M2	F3165	Sigma	4µg	synthetic peptide

Table VI.1.: *Primary antibody information.*

VI.2. Animals and tissue samples

Adult (10-12 weeks) 50%Swiss-50%129SV female wt and *Pgf*^{-/-} mice were used (kind gift from Pr Peter Carmeliet, Vesalius Research Centre, VIB, KUL, Belgium). Sciatic nerves, spinal cords and DRG were harvested. The experiments were performed in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Ethical Committee for animal research of the Belgian National Fund for Scientific Research.

VI.3. Surgical procedure: sciatic nerve complete transection

Mice were anesthetized by an intraperitoneal (i.p.) injection of a mixture of ketamine (75 mg/kg; Ketalar®, Bayer HealthCare, Brussel, Belgium) and xylazine (10 mg/kg; Rompun®, Pfizer, Brussel, Belgium). Under aseptic conditions, sciatic nerves were exposed and WD induced by a complete section of the nerves at the upper thigh level (figure VI.1). Proximal and distal stumps were left in their original position to allow axonal regeneration. Muscles and skin were carefully closed in two layers.



Figure VI.1.: Complete section of mouse sciatic nerve (white arrows).

Table VI.2 summarizes all the techniques performed in this work, the number of animals used for each one, as well as their survival times.

Experimental technique	Survival time	Animal nb	
Motor recovery evaluation	21 days	5 wt and 5 <i>Pgf -/-</i> mice	
Immunostainings	uninjured	6 wt and 5 Pgf -/- mice	
	1 day	6 wt and 10 Pgf -/- mice	
	3 days	11 wt and 7 Pgf -/- mice	
	7 days	9 wt and 7 Pgf -/- mice	
	14 days	10 wt and 8 Pgf -/- mice	
	21 days	11 wt and 12 <i>Pgf</i> -/- mice	
	28 days	8 wt and 6 <i>Pgf -/-</i> mice	
In situ hybridization	uninjured	1 wt mouse	
Toluidine blue staining	uninjured	5 wt and 5 <i>Pgf -/-</i> mice	
	1 day	5 wt and 5 <i>Pgf -/-</i> mice	
	3 days	8 wt and 9 Pgf -/- mice	
	7 days	7 wt and 8 <i>Pgf -/-</i> mice	
	14 days	6 wt and 7 <i>Pgf -/-</i> mice	
	21 days	7 wt and 8 <i>Pgf -/-</i> mice	
Cytokine arrays	uninjured	6 wt and 6 <i>Pgf</i> -/- mice	
	1 day	6 wt and 6 <i>Pgf</i> -/- mice	
	3 days	6 wt and 6 <i>Pgf</i> -/- mice	
	7 days	6 wt and 6 <i>Pgf</i> -/- mice	
Teasing	uninjured	3 wt and 3 <i>Pgf -/-</i> mice	
	28 days	3 wt and 3 <i>Pgf -/-</i> mice	
Electronic microscopy	uninjured	3 wt and 3 <i>Pgf</i> -/- mice	
Schwann cell culture	uninjured	16 wt and 16 <i>Pgf</i> -/- mice	
RT-PCR	uninjured	1 wt mouse	
Chromatin	uninjured	12 wt mice	
Immunoprecipitation	1 day	12 wt mice	

Table VI.2.: Techniques, number of animals and survival times used for this work.

VI.4. Motor recovery evaluation

Prior to the lesion and at 3, 7, 10, 14, 17 and 21 days following unilateral left sciatic nerve section, mice had their hind paws inked and were then allowed to walk down a 60cm long corridor lined with graph paper. For each animal (5 wt and 5 $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice), at every time point, at least four clear footprints were obtained for each foot. Measurements of the printed

foot length were then made on the operated side (OPL) and the normal side (NPL). A mean of four values was then calculated for the OPL (xOPL) and NPL (xNPL), and a print-length factor (PLF) was calculated as follows: PLF = (xOPL - xNPL)/xNPL (George *et al.*, 2003).

VI.5. Immunostainings

VI.5.1. Tissue processing

Mice were sacrificed after different survival times (1, 3, 7, 14, 21 and 28 days postinjury) by an overdose of Nembutal (150 mg/kg, i.p, CEVA Santé Animale, Brussel, Belgium). The distal parts of the transected sciatic nerves (a 12 to 15 mm long portion) were freshly harvested, embedded in Tissue-Tek® O.C.T.TM Compound (Labonord SAS, Templemars, France) and directly frozen. Tissues were cut on a cryostat at 10µm thickness. Longitudinal or cross-sections were collected onto gelatin-coated slides and stored at -20°C until used.

UI sciatic nerves, DRGs and lumbar spinal cords were also freshly dissected out, embedded in Tissue-Tek® and cut at 10 μ m (sciatic nerves and DRGs) or 20 μ m thickness (spinal cords). Sections were collected onto gelatin-coated slides and stored at -20°C until used.

VI.5.2. Immunofluorescent staining protocol

To characterize PIGF expression, we used double immunofluorescence stainings for PIGF and several specific cellular markers such as NF-H, S100, p75 NGFr, vWF, Ptc-1, P0, Nav1.6, CD11b and NeuN (see table VI.1). After drying, tissue sections were fixed in cold acetone for 10 min at 4°C. Nonspecific binding was prevented by 1h incubation in a 10% normal serum solution in 0.1% triton-PBS (0.1M, pH 7.4). After overnight incubation at room temperature (RT) with the specific primary Abs, sections were rinsed 3 times with PBS and incubated for 1h at RT with their respective secondary Abs coupled to rhodamine or FITC (1:500, Jackson ImmunoResearch). They were then rinsed twice in PBS, twice in distilled water and mounted under coverslips using the "vectashield" (Vector Laboratories) solution. Negative controls were obtained by incubation of the primary Ab with its specific blocking peptide (sc-27134 P; Santa Cruz Biotechnology) before applying it on the tissue sections.

VI.5.3. DAB immunostaining protocol

Tissue sections, after drying, were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) for 5 min, then incubated in a 0.3% H₂O₂, 0.1% Na azide solution in PBS for 20 min at RT to reduce endogenous peroxydase activity. Non-specific binding was prevented by 1h incubation in 3% normal serum and 1% bovine serum albumin solutions in 0.1% triton-PBS. Sections were then incubated overnight at RT with the specific primary Abs: anti-p75NGFr to study SC dedifferentiation or anti-CD11b to study macrophage recruitment (see table VI.1). After 3 PBS rinses, they were incubated for 1h at RT with their respective secondary biotinylated Abs (Vector Laboratories) diluted and centrifuged in a 3% normal mouse serum and 1% bovine serum albumin (BSA) in 0.1% triton-PBS solution. After 1h incubation with the avidin-biotin-peroxydase complex (Vector Laboratories) diluted 1:1000 in PBS, the immunostaining was revealed with 3,3'-diaminobenzidine (DAB).

VI.6. Morphometric analyses

VI.6.1. Quantification of in vivo Schwann cell proliferation

To study SC proliferation, longitudinal sections of sciatic nerves were stained with anti-Ki67 Ab (see table VI.1). Because of a conflict between Abs, we were not able to perform the double Ki67/p75NGFr immunofluorescent staining. Therefore, longitudinal sections of distal parts of sciatic nerves were double-stained with anti-Ki67 and anti-CD11b Abs (see table VI.1) and counter-stained with DAPI to detect all cell nuclei. The total number of Ki67-positive/CD11b-positive cells (proliferating macrophages) or Ki67-positive/CD11b-negative cells (proliferating SCs) were manually counted within non-overlapping successive fields covering the entire nerve section captured with an Olympus DP50 digital camera connected to an Olympus AX-70 microscope (magnification 20 x). The results were expressed as a mean number (\pm SE) of Ki67 positive SC nuclei per mm² of nerve tissue.

VI.6.2. Quantification of Schwann cell c-Fos expression

As for Ki67 Ab, because of a conflict between Abs the expression of the earlyexpressed protein c-Fos in SCs could not be studied with double c-Fos/p75NGFr immunofluorescent staining. Instead, longitudinal sections of distal parts of sciatic nerves were double-stained with anti-c-Fos and anti-CD11b Abs (see table VI.1) and counter-stained with DAPI to detect all cell nuclei. The total number of nuclei and c-Fos-positive/CD11bpositive cells (macrophages expressing c-Fos) or c-Fos-positive/CD11b-negative cells (SCs expressing c-Fos) (magnification 20 x) were manually counted within non-overlapping successive fields covering the entire nerve section, however we didn't count c-Fos-positive nuclei located in the epi-/perineurium to avoid bias due to fibroblasts (Pyykonen & Koistinaho, 1991). The results were expressed as the mean percentage (\pm SE) of c-Fos-positive SCs amongst the total number of cells.

VI.6.3. Quantification of axonal regeneration

To evaluate axonal regeneration, longitudinal sections from the distal part of injured sciatic nerves were fluorescently stained with anti-NF-H Ab as described above. For the quantification, non-overlapping successive fields covering the entire tissue sections (which means the whole length of the distal part) were captured at magnification 10x. The mean number of fields/section was similar between wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice (7.47±0.76 and 7.54±0.64 respectively), resulting in comparable total tissue length. Each field was then allocated to one of the following group: (i) field containing only debris of degenerating axons; (ii) field containing a majority of debris and few regenerating profiles; (iii) field containing scarce debris and a majority of regenerating fibres; and (iv) field containing only regenerating fibres. Data were expressed as a mean proportion of field numbers in each of those 4 groups per total nerve section (%) ± SE.

VI.6.4. Quantification of Schwann cell dedifferentiation

To quantify SC dedifferentiation, digitalized images obtained with a 20 x microscopic magnification were converted to gray scale. A gray colour threshold intensity was set for each section. The intensity of immunostaining was then quantified within non-overlapping successive fields covering the total nerve tissue area using the Olympus AnalySIS computer program. Data were expressed as the mean integral intensity (\pm SE) of total stained area (pixel²) per total area of the nerve section (pixel²).

VI.6.5. Quantification of recruited macrophages

In order to quantify the recruitment of macrophages, CD11b-positive cells were manually counted at 10x magnification within non-overlapping successive fields covering the entire nerve section. Results were expressed as the mean number (\pm SE) of CD11b-positive cells per 0.1 mm² of nerve tissue.

VI.7. Primary Schwann cell culture

Adult SCs were isolated from wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ sciatic and trigeminal nerves, which are both an important source of SCs easily accessible, as described previously by others (Bouquet *et al.*, 2007). After dissection, the nerves were left for 2 weeks in a degeneration medium: DMEM, 10% foetal bovine serum (FBS), Fungizone (2.5µg/ml; GIBCO®, InvitrogenTM), Forskolin (2µM Calbiochem®), Gentamycine (50µg/ml; GIBCO®) and Heregulin-β1 (10 ng/ml, HRG; R&D Systems GmbH) at 37°C, 5% CO₂. After enzymatic and mechanical dissociation, cells were plated on T25 culture dishes pre-coated with poly-_L-lysine (50 µg/ml, Sigma-Aldrich), laminin (10µg/ml, Sigma-Aldrich), and DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS. They were then incubated at 37°C, 5% CO₂ in N2^{HRG} medium: 50% DMEM 50% F12 supplemented with N2 (dilution 100 x; GIBCO®), gentamycin (50µg/ml), fungizone (2.5 µg/ml), forskolin (2µM), and HRG (10ng/ml). At confluence, SCs were purified by magnetic cell-sorting using the anti-p75 NGFr Ab (see table VI.1), according to the manufacturer's instructions (Miltenyi Biotech GmbH, Germany). To assess the degree of purity of our SC cultures, we performed p75 NGFr/DAPI immunofluorescent staining and we evaluated the percentage of p75 NGFr-positive cells.

VI.8. In vitro BrdU assay

SCs were plated on coated glass coverslips at a concentration of 25×10^3 cells/300µl. 20 µM BrdU (Sigma-Aldrich) were directly added to the cultures for 16h before fixation in 4% PFA for 10min. Cells were treated in HCl 2N for 10min at 37°C and then washed in borate buffer (0.1M; pH 8.5). Cells were permeabilised and nonspecific binding was prevented by 1h incubation in a 10% normal serum - 0.1% triton-PBS solution. They were incubated overnight with anti-BrdU and anti-p75NGFr Abs (see table VI.1). After 3 PBS washes, cells were incubated for 1h at RT with the respective secondary Abs coupled to rhodamine or FITC (1:500, Jackson ImmunoResearch). The coverslips were then rinsed twice in PBS, twice in distilled water, and mounted on slides using the vectashield solution containing DAPI in order to visualise all nuclei of the total cell population. Double-stained p75NGFr/BrdU cells and total number of p75NGFr positive cells were manually counted at the 20x magnification within non-overlapping successive fields and results were expressed as mean % (± SE) of proliferating SCs.

VI.9. Schwann cell migration assay

Purified wt or $Pgf^{-/-}$ SCs were plated on coverslips coated with poly-_L-lysine and laminin at a density of 25×10^3 cells in a 50µl drop of N2^{HRG} medium. After cell attachment, culture medium was added and cells were left for 24h without further treatment. A cell-free area was generated by a scratch with the tip of a plastic pipette. Migration of SCs into the cell-free area was monitored every 2h for 28h under a phase-contrast inverted microscope (magnification 10 x) equipped with a digital camera. As described by Sakurai and Osumi, (Sakurai & Osumi, 2008), the migration ability of SCs was estimated by the size reduction of the cell-free area every 2 hours after the scratch.

VI.10. In situ hybridization

Mice were deeply anesthetized by an i.p. injection of Nembutal (60 mg/kg) and perfused with 4% PFA in 0.1 M phosphate buffer, pH 7.4. Sciatic nerves and spinal cord were harvested, post-fixed with 4% PFA for 24 h at 4°C and kept for 48 h in 30% sucrose at 4°C for cryoprotection. They were then cut transversally at 10 µm on a cryostat and mounted onto SuperFrost[®]Plus slides (Prosan, Merelbeek, Belgium). Sections were post-fixed with 4% PFA for 10 min and treated with acetylated triethanolamine 100 mM, PH 8, for 15 min. After 3 washes with TBS-Tween 0.1%, sections were pre-hybridized with hybridization buffer (Amresco, Ohio, U.S.A.) for 1h at 70°C and then hybridized with a digoxygenin-labeled antisense PIGF RNA probe overnight at 70°C (the plasmid containing the mouse PIGF-2 cDNA was provided by P. Carmeliet). Two negative controls were used: sense RNA probes and nerve sections from Pgf^{-/-} mice. The next day, sections were washed twice with prewarmed washing buffer (formamide 50%, 0.1% Tween, SSC $20 \times$ in H₂0) for 1h at 70°C, twice with Tris-Saline buffer (100mM Tris-HCl, 150M NaCl, 0.1% Tween) for 15 min at RT and then blocked with 10% goat serum in Tris-Saline buffer for 30min at RT. Sections were then incubated overnight at 4°C with an anti-digoxigenin Ab coupled to alkaline phosphatase (1:2000, Roche Applied Science) in blocking buffer. After 3 Tris-Saline buffer washes, sections were incubated twice with a 100mM Tris-HCl pH 9.5, 100mM NaCl, 50mM MgCl₂ and 0.1% Tween 20 buffer for 30min each at RT. Then sections were overlaid at RT in the dark with a 200 µl filtered NBT/BCIP/Tween-20 0.1% solution (Sigma-Aldrich) between coverslips for 4 to 6 hours. The reaction was blocked by washes with PBS followed by postfixation with 4%PFA for 15 minutes.

VI.11. Semi-quantitative reverse transcription PCR

RNA from DRGs or cultured SCs was extracted with TRIzol® (Invitrogen) and isolated according to the manufacturer's protocol. mRNAs for PIGF and GAPDH, taken as internal control, were amplified with aliquots of 20 ng of total RNA using a RT-PCR kit (GeneAmp Thermostable rTth reverse transcriptase RNA PCR kit; Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA) and pairs of primers (oligonucleotide sequences shown in table VI.3; Eurogentec, Seraing, Belgium). Reverse transcription was performed at 70°C for 15 minutes followed by 2 minutes of incubation at 95°C for denaturation of RNA-DNA heteroduplexes. Amplification consisted in cycles of 15 seconds at 94°C, 20 seconds at 58°C, and 20 seconds at 72°C. RT-PCR products were resolved on 10% polyacrylamide gel, stained with GelStar (Lonza, Belgium).

Gene	Primer type	Oligonucl. sequence (5'- 3')	PCR product size (bp)	Cycle nb
DICE			400	45
mPIGF	reverse	TICCCCITGGITTICCICCIT	130	45
	forward	AGATCTTGAAGATTCCCCCCA		
GAPDH	reverse	GCCTTCTCCATGGTGGTGAAGAC	210	25
	forward	GACCCCTTCATTGACCTCAACTACATG		

Table VI.3.: RT-PCR probe information.

VI.12. Total protein extraction from sciatic nerves

Fresh sciatic nerves were homogenized in a lysis buffer containing 80% PBS, 10% 500mM NaF, 0.1% 100mM Na₃VO₄, 1% triton X-100 and protease inhibitors (CompleteTM; Roche) on ice. The tissue weight/buffer volume ratio was 1/10. After homogenization, samples were centrifuged at 13000 rpm for 15 min at 4°C. Clarified cell lysates were collected and total protein concentrations were quantified with the BCA protein assay kit (ThermoScientific).

VI.13. Cytokine array

Expressions of IL-1 α , IL-1 β , IL-6, TNF- α , IL-10, VEGF, VEGFR-1, MCP-1, MIP-1 α and pro-MMP-9 were measured in tissue extracts of normal and injured sciatic nerves from wt and *Pgf*^{-/-} mice using RayBio® Cytokine Antibody Arrays (RayBiotech, Inc.). 200 μ g of total protein were used per sample. The cytokine array membranes were scanned with a Las-4000 luminescent image analyser (Fujifilm). The intensity of the signal was measured and compared to that of a positive control with the Quantity One 1-D Analysis software (Bio-RAD Laboratories, Inc.). The signal intensities of positive controls and samples were normalized using background substraction. The results were expressed as the mean relative signal intensity, i.e. the ratio of sample intensity/positive control intensity.

VI.14. Prediction of NF-KB binding sites

The mouse Pgf gene sequence was obtained from the <u>www.ensembl.org</u> web site. To identify NF- κ B binding sites (referred to as " κ B motifs"), computational analysis of the promoter sequence of mouse Pgf (Green *et al.*, 2001) gene was performed using four different programs designed to look for transcription factor binding sites:

- MatInspector program (www.genomatix.de/matinspector.html)

- MatchTMprogram (www.generegulation.com/cgi-bin/pub/programs/match/bin/match.cgi)

- Promo (<u>http://alggen.lsi.upc.es/cgi-bin/promo_v3/promo/promoinit.cgi?dirDB=TF_8.3</u>)

- TFSEARCH (<u>http://www.cbrc.jp/research/db/TFSEARCH.html</u>)

VI.15. Chromatin immunoprecipitation assay

VI.15.1. Immunoprecipitation and DNA purification

Sciatic nerves (from intact and 24h post-injured adult wt mice) were surgically removed from four adult mice per condition, minced and immediately fixed in PBS containing 1% PFA for 25 min at RT to promote the protein-DNA cross-linking. To stop the formaldehyde action, 1.25 M glycine was diluted 10 times in the cross-linking solution, and then nerves were washed twice with cold PBS containing protease inhibitors (Roche). Nerves were homogenized into 1.5 ml of lysis buffer (1% SDS, 10 mM EDTA pH 8.0, 50 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0, protease inhibitors). The lysate was sonicated for 15 min with alternating 30-s pulses at high power with a Bioruptor sonicator (Diagenode), and then centrifuged at 13000 rpm for 5 min at 4°C. To check the fragment size of sheared chromatin (optimal size between 250-500 bp), 10µl of sheared chromatin was boiled for 5 min to denature proteins, and DNA fragments were separated on a 1.5% agarose gel stained with GelRedTM (Biotium). The protein concentration of lysates was measured using the BCA protein assay kit (Pierce). 30 µg of chromatin was set aside as a tenth of total chromatin input used for IP. Lysates were diluted 10 times into dilution buffer (1% Triton X-100, 150mM NaCl, 2mM EDTA, 20mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0, protease inhibitors). The sheared chromatin (300 µg per IP) was pre-cleared with 100

µl of Protein A-agarose (Santa Cruz Biotechnology), diluted in a solution of dilution buffer (1% triton X-100, 150 mM NaCl, 2 mM EDTA pH 8.0, 20 mM Tris-HCl pH8.0, protease inhibitors) and lysis buffer in 9/1 proportion and subsequently blocked with BSA (100 μ g/ml) and sheared salmon sperm DNA (500 µg/ml; Invitrogen), for 2h at 4°C under agitation. After the Protein A-agarose removal, "cleared" lysates were incubated with 4µg of anti-p65 or anti-Flag (used as negative control Ab, see table VI.1) at 4°C on a rotating platform overnight. The immune complexes were incubated with 100 µl of Protein A-agarose solution for 2h at 4°C. The immune complexes were then washed three times with 1 ml low salt washing buffer (1% triton X-100, 0.1% SDS, 150 mM NaCl, 2 mM EDTA, 20 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0, protease inhibitors), once with 1 ml high salt washing buffer (same buffer but containing 500 mM NaCl), once with 1 ml LiCl buffer (0.25 M LiCl, 1% IGEPAL CA630 (Sigma), 1 mM EDTA, 1% deoxycholic acid, 10 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0), and finally once 1 ml with TE buffer (10 mM Tris-HCl, 1 mM EDTA, final pH 8.0). Immunoprecipitated chromatin was eluted in 250 µl of elution buffer (1% SDS, 0.1 M NaHCO₃) for 15 min at RT, twice. Chromatin inputs were also diluted in elution buffer. Protein-DNA cross-links were reversed by incubation with 20 µl of 5 M NaCl at 65°C for 4h and then we added 10µl of 0.5 M EDTA, 20µl of 1M Tris-HCl pH 6.5 and 20µg of proteinase K (Promega), for 1h at 45°C to digest proteins. DNA was purified with phenol/chloroform (Sigma) on Phase Lock GelTM tube (Eppendorf). After a 5 mincentrifugation at 13000 rpm, the aqueous phase was incubated 1h at -20°C in a solution containing 45 µl of 3 M NaAC pH 5.5, 30 µg of glycogen (Roche) and 1 ml of ethanol, and then samples were centrifuged 5 min at 13000 rpm. The DNA pellet was washed with 70% ethanol, then resuspended in 100 µl of DNase-free distilled water and stored at -80°C until use for PCR.

VI.15.2. Quantitative real-time PCR

Quantitative RT-PCR amplifications were performed in a 96-well plate in the ABI Prism[®] 7000 sequence detector (Applied Biosystems) in a total volume of 20 μ l, which included 1 μ l of DNA sample coming from the Chromatin IP assay and 19 μ l of a reaction mixture (10 μ l of Power SYBR[®] Green PCR Master Mix [Applied Biosystems], 8.2 μ l of DNase-free distilled water, and 0.4 μ l of each primers [designed to amplify detected κ B motifs, table VI.4; Eurogentec, Belgium]). Each qRT-PCR amplification was performed in triplicate. The cycle conditions were 2 min at 50°C, 10 min at 95°C, and then 45 temperature cycles (15 sec at 95°C and 1 min at 60°C).

Amplicon	Gene	Primer	Oligonucl. Sequence (5'-3')
name	localization	type	
PlGF	-908	reverse	ACGTGCCTCCAGAACCGTCC
κB1 site	to -1015	forward	CCAGGTGCCCCGAGGTGTTT
PlGF	-1041	reverse	CTCCTGTCAGGTCAGGCCAGC
кB2 site	to -1120	forward	CCTCTTCTGCTTGGGCTCGGG
PlGF	-996	reverse	AAACACCTCGGGGGCACCTGG
κB1-2 sites	to -1104	forward	TCGGGAGGTGATGCCAGGTTAGT
PlGF	624 to 753	reverse	TTCCCCTTGGTTTTCCTCCTT
gene		forward	AGATCTTGAAGATTCCCCCCA

Table VI.4.: PCR probe information.

VI.15.3. Relative quantification of NF-KB binding

SYBR Green is a fluorescent molecule that binds double-stranded DNA. During the PCR reaction, fluorescence increases proportionally to the amount of amplified DNA product. For each qRT-PCR amplification, we obtained a sigmoid curve (figure VI.2) and the cycle threshold (ct) is determined. The ct corresponds to the cycle number from which the curve of amplified product apparition becomes exponential.



Figure VI.2.: Graph representing the qRT-PCR reaction.

The relative quantification of NF- κ B binding on κ B sites is based on the difference between the ct of DNA amplification coming from one day-injured sciatic nerves immunoprecipitated with p65 Ab and the DNA amplification from uninjured sciatic nerves.

The complete analysis to quantify NF- κ B binding brings into play several normalization steps described below.

For each pairs of primers used (see table VI.4), we amplify immunoprecipitated DNA, from UI or injured (I) sciatic nerves, with p65 or Flag Ab, and the two DNA inputs coming from also uninjured and injured nerves. After the qRT-PCR, we obtain the ct in triplicate and

calculate the mean ct for each condition: ct1 p65 UI, ct1 p65 I, ct1 Flag UI, ct1 Flag I, ct1 input UI and ct1 input I. Then, the first normalization to apply concerns the amount of chromatin used for the IP. So, to remove the possible bias due to protein concentration measurement, we substract the ct of inputs of the others ct:

- Ct1 p65 or Flag UI ct1 input UI = ct2 p65 or Flag UI
- > Ct1 p65 or Flag I ct1 input I = ct2 p65 or Flag I

The second normalization concerns the specificity of the IP. As negative control of IP, we used anti-Flag Ab that recognizes a synthetic peptide naturally absent in cells. To obtain the specific IP with p65 Ab, we calculate the difference between ct2 Flag and ct2 p65:

- \blacktriangleright Ct2 Flag UI ct2 p65 UI = ct3 UI
- $\blacktriangleright Ct2 Flag I ct2 p65 I = ct3 I$

Then, we can calculate the δ ct = ct3 I – ct3 UI. The fold induction value of NF- κ B binding after nerve injury compared to the uninjured condition is then calculated with the following formula:

> Fold induction = $2^{\delta ct}$

Finally, the last normalization concerns the specific NF- κ B binding to a κ B site located in the gene promoter. We have used a pair of primers to amplify a DNA region comprised in the gene and not in the promoter of PIGF (see table VI.3, amplicon name: PIGF). The fold induction for the RT-PCR using these primers should be close to 1, corresponding to the control condition where there is no NF- κ B binding to a promoter. The ratio (R) 1: fold induction value obtained with PIGF primers is used to normalize the real fold induction and the formula is the following:

 $\blacktriangleright \text{ Real fold induction} = 2^{\delta \text{ ct}} x R$

VI.16. Luciferase assay

The *Pgf* promoter region including the two κ B sites was inserted into the pGL3-Promoter Vector (Promega). 293 cells (4 × 10⁵ cells per well) were seeded in 6-well (35 mm) plates. After 12 h, cells were transfected as described previously (Leonardi *et al.*, 2000) with 0.5 µg of either the Pgf- κ B-luciferase or the Ig- κ B-luciferase and with expression plasmids as indicated. The total amount of transfected DNA was kept constant by adding empty expression vector DNA as needed. Cell extracts were prepared 24 h after transfection, and reporter gene activity was determined by using Dual-Luciferase Reporter Assay System (Promega). The pRL Vector (40ng), which provides constitutive expression of Renilla luciferase, was used to normalize for transfection efficiencies.

VI.17. Myelin sheath morphology

VI.17.1. Tissue processing

Mice were perfused with Karnovski buffer containing 1% PFA and 1.25% glutaraldehyde in 0.1M Sörensen buffer (solution of Na₂HPO₄ and NaH₂PO₄ in proportion 4/1 diluted in distilled water, pH 7.4). Sciatic nerves were carefully dissected out and post-fixed with Karnovski buffer overnight at 4°C. After two washes in 0.1M Sörensen buffer, nerves were post-fixed with 1% osmium in 0.1M Sörensen buffer for 1h at 4°C.

***** Toluidine blue staining and electronic microscopy

Sciatic nerves were progressively dehydrated in successive ethanol baths and then soaked in epoxy-propane twice during 10 min. Tissues were embedded in epon resin by soaking them in a epoxypropane/epon mixture of successive 2/1, 1/1 and $\frac{1}{2}$, proportions, 1h each. The resin was harden at 265°C for 2 days. The blocks were trimmed, and semi-thin (1 μ m) and ultra-thin (75 nm) cross-sections were cut with a Leica Ultracut UCT microtome. Semi-thin sections were collected onto glass slides, and then dried on a hot plate at 60°C for 1h. To optimise dye impregnation, sections were treated with 1% potassium tetraborate before staining with 0.5% toluidine blue. Ultra-thin sections were collected on copper grids and contrasted with 5% uranyle-acetate and lead citrate.

* Teasing

Karnovski-fixed sciatic nerves were treated with 30%, 60%, 90% and 100% glycerine, each for 24h at 37°C. The nerves were placed on a slide with a few drops of 100% glycerine under a dissecting microscope. Using ultra-fine forceps, the nerves were then separated from proximal to distal into smaller bundles of fibers until individual axons could be identified. Slides were then prepared for light microscopy.

VI.17.2. Morphometric analysis of myelin sheaths

* Number of intact myelin sheaths

On semi-thin toluidine blue stained 1 μ m sections, intact myelin sheaths (magnification 40 x) were manually counted within non-overlapping successive fields covering the entire nerve section, and results were expressed as the mean number (± SE) of intact myelin sheaths per 0.01 mm² of nerve tissue.

* Myelin sheath thickness

The myelin sheath thickness in individual axons was determined on ultra-thin crosssections at the electron microscopic level. Two sections were selected for each animal (N=3 per group) and three images per section were taken at a 1000x magnification using a Zeiss LEO 906 transmission electronic microscope equipped with a ProgRes MF camera (JENOPTIK, Germany) and the ProgRes CapturePro 2.6. software. The axonal area and the mean thickness of myelin sheath, measured at four random points of its circumference, were determined on five myelinated axons randomly selected per field using the Olympus AnalySIS computer program. Results were represented in graphs showing the myelin sheath thickness as a function of axonal area.

✤ Internodal lengths

Images of each teased axon were taken at the 10x or 20x magnifications. The Olympus AnalySIS computer program was used to measure internodal length and results were expressed as mean length (\pm SE) of internodes.

VI.18. Statistical analyses

Means and SEs for each experimental time point were calculated. Statistical significance was set at P < 0.05.). To evaluate the group effect in motor recovery (section VI.4) and in the migration assay (section VI.9) during time, we used Zerbe's non-parametric model, which compares both the global evolution of two groups and the values at the different time point separately. For the other experiments, the statistical significance of differences between wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice was tested separately at each time points using a Student t-test. All quantifications were performed blind to the genotype. Statistical analyses were supervised by the Department of Biomedical Statistics of the University of Liege (Pr. A Albert).

Section VII

Bibliography

- Abraham, D., Taghavi, S., Riml, P., Paulus, P., Hofmann, M., Baumann, C., Kocher, A., Klepetko, W. & Aharinejad, S. (2002) VEGF-A and -C but not -B mediate increased vascular permeability in preserved lung grafts. *Transplantation*, **73**, 1703-1706.
- Achen, M.G., Jeltsch, M., Kukk, E., Makinen, T., Vitali, A., Wilks, A.F., Alitalo, K. & Stacker, S.A. (1998) Vascular endothelial growth factor D (VEGF-D) is a ligand for the tyrosine kinases VEGF receptor 2 (Flk1) and VEGF receptor 3 (Flt4). *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, **95**, 548-553.
- Agnes, F., Toux, M.M., Andre, C. & Galibert, F. (1997) Genomic organization of the extracellular coding region of the human FGFR4 and FLT4 genes: evolution of the genes encoding receptor tyrosine kinases with immunoglobulin-like domains. J. Mol. Evol., 45, 43-49.
- Aguayo, A.J., David, S. & Bray, G.M. (1981) Influences of the glial environment on the elongation of axons after injury: transplantation studies in adult rodents. J. Exp. Biol., 95, 231-240.
- Akassoglou, K., Yu, W.M., Akpinar, P. & Strickland, S. (2002) Fibrin inhibits peripheral nerve remyelination by regulating Schwann cell differentiation. *Neuron*, 33, 861-875.
- Almeida, R.D., Manadas, B.J., Melo, C.V., Gomes, J.R., Mendes, C.S., Graos, M.M., Carvalho, R.F., Carvalho, A.P. & Duarte, C.B. (2005) Neuroprotection by BDNF against glutamate-induced apoptotic cell death is mediated by ERK and PI3-kinase pathways. *Cell Death Differ.*, 12, 1329-1343.
- Anton, E.S., Weskamp, G., Reichardt, L.F. & Matthew, W.D. (1994) Nerve growth factor and its low-affinity receptor promote Schwann cell migration. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A., 91, 2795-2799.
- Ara, J., Bannerman, P., Shaheen, F. & Pleasure, D.E. (2005) Schwann cell-autonomous role of neuropilin-2. J. Neurosci. Res., 79, 468-475.
- Autiero, M., Luttun, A., Tjwa, M. & Carmeliet, P. (2003a) Placental growth factor and its receptor, vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-1: novel targets for stimulation of ischemic tissue revascularization and inhibition of angiogenic and inflammatory disorders. *J Thromb Haemost*, **1**, 1356-1370.
- Autiero, M., Waltenberger, J., Communi, D., Kranz, A., Moons, L., Lambrechts, D., Kroll, J., Plaisance, S., De Mol, M., Bono, F., Kliche, S., Fellbrich, G., Ballmer-Hofer, K., Maglione, D., Mayr-Beyrle, U., Dewerchin, M., Dombrowski, S., Stanimirovic, D., Van Hummelen, P., Dehio, C., Hicklin, D.J., Persico, G., Herbert, J.M., Shibuya, M., Collen, D., Conway, E.M. & Carmeliet, P. (2003b) Role of PlGF in the intra- and intermolecular cross talk between the VEGF receptors Flt1 and Flk1. *Nat. Med.*, 9, 936-943.
- Avellino, A.M., Dailey, A.T., Harlan, J.M., Sharar, S.R., Winn, R.K., McNutt, L.D. & Kliot, M. (2004) Blocking of up-regulated ICAM-1 does not prevent macrophage infiltration during Wallerian degeneration of peripheral nerve. *Exp. Neurol.*, 187, 430-444.
- Avellino, A.M., Hart, D., Dailey, A.T., MacKinnon, M., Ellegala, D. & Kliot, M. (1995) Differential macrophage responses in the peripheral and central nervous system during wallerian degeneration of axons. *Exp. Neurol.*, **136**, 183-198.
- Azzouz, M., Ralph, G.S., Storkebaum, E., Walmsley, L.E., Mitrophanous, K.A., Kingsman, S.M., Carmeliet, P. & Mazarakis, N.D. (2004) VEGF delivery with retrogradely transported lentivector prolongs survival in a mouse ALS model. *Nature*, **429**, 413-417.
- Bae, D.G., Kim, T.D., Li, G., Yoon, W.H. & Chae, C.B. (2005) Anti-flt1 peptide, a vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 1-specific hexapeptide, inhibits tumor growth and metastasis. *Clin. Cancer. Res.*, 11, 2651-2661.
- Bagnard, D., Vaillant, C., Khuth, S.T., Dufay, N., Lohrum, M., Puschel, A.W., Belin, M.F., Bolz, J. & Thomasset, N. (2001) Semaphorin 3A-vascular endothelial growth factor-165 balance mediates migration and apoptosis of neural progenitor cells by the recruitment of shared receptor. *J. Neurosci.*, 21, 3332-3341.

- Bajestan, S.N., Umehara, F., Shirahama, Y., Itoh, K., Sharghi-Namini, S., Jessen, K.R., Mirsky, R. & Osame, M. (2006) Desert hedgehog-patched 2 expression in peripheral nerves during Wallerian degeneration and regeneration. J. Neurobiol., 66, 243-255.
- Balenci, L., Saoudi, Y., Grunwald, D., Deloulme, J.C., Bouron, A., Bernards, A. & Baudier, J. (2007) IQGAP1 regulates adult neural progenitors in vivo and vascular endothelial growth factor-triggered neural progenitor migration in vitro. J. Neurosci., 27, 4716-4724.
- Bannerman, P., Ara, J., Hahn, A., Hong, L., McCauley, E., Friesen, K. & Pleasure, D. (2008) Peripheral nerve regeneration is delayed in neuropilin 2-deficient mice. J. Neurosci. Res., 86, 3163-3169.
- Barleon, B., Sozzani, S., Zhou, D., Weich, H.A., Mantovani, A. & Marme, D. (1996) Migration of human monocytes in response to vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) is mediated via the VEGF receptor flt-1. *Blood*, 87, 3336-3343.
- Barrat, F.J., Meeker, T., Gregorio, J., Chan, J.H., Uematsu, S., Akira, S., Chang, B., Duramad, O. & Coffman, R.L. (2005) Nucleic acids of mammalian origin can act as endogenous ligands for Toll-like receptors and may promote systemic lupus erythematosus. J. Exp. Med., 202, 1131-1139.
- Barrette, B., Hebert, M.A., Filali, M., Lafortune, K., Vallieres, N., Gowing, G., Julien, J.P. & Lacroix, S. (2008) Requirement of myeloid cells for axon regeneration. *J. Neurosci.*, **28**, 9363-9376.
- Bartholdi, D., Rubin, B.P. & Schwab, M.E. (1997) VEGF mRNA induction correlates with changes in the vascular architecture upon spinal cord damage in the rat. *Eur. J. Neurosci.*, **9**, 2549-2560.
- Be'eri, H., Reichert, F., Saada, A. & Rotshenker, S. (1998) The cytokine network of wallerian degeneration: IL-10 and GM-CSF. Eur. J. Neurosci., 10, 2707-2713.
- Beck, H., Acker, T., Puschel, A.W., Fujisawa, H., Carmeliet, P. & Plate, K.H. (2002) Cell type-specific expression of neuropilins in an MCA-occlusion model in mice suggests a potential role in post-ischemic brain remodeling. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol., 61, 339-350.
- Behl, C., Davis, J.B., Lesley, R. & Schubert, D. (1994) Hydrogen peroxide mediates amyloid beta protein toxicity. Cell, 77, 817-827.
- Beirowski, B., Adalbert, R., Wagner, D., Grumme, D.S., Addicks, K., Ribchester, R.R. & Coleman, M.P. (2005) The progressive nature of Wallerian degeneration in wild-type and slow Wallerian degeneration (WldS) nerves. *BMC Neurosci*, 6, 6.
- Bellomo, D., Headrick, J.P., Silins, G.U., Paterson, C.A., Thomas, P.S., Gartside, M., Mould, A., Cahill, M.M., Tonks, I.D., Grimmond, S.M., Townson, S., Wells, C., Little, M., Cummings, M.C., Hayward, N.K. & Kay, G.F. (2000) Mice lacking the vascular endothelial growth factor-B gene (Vegfb) have smaller hearts, dysfunctional coronary vasculature, and impaired recovery from cardiac ischemia. *Circul. Res.*, 86, E29-35.
- Ben-Av, P., Crofford, L.J., Wilder, R.L. & Hla, T. (1995) Induction of vascular endothelial growth factor expression in synovial fibroblasts by prostaglandin E and interleukin-1: a potential mechanism for inflammatory angiogenesis. *FEBS Lett.*, 372, 83-87.
- Berse, B., Brown, L.F., Van de Water, L., Dvorak, H.F. & Senger, D.R. (1992) Vascular permeability factor (vascular endothelial growth factor) gene is expressed differentially in normal tissues, macrophages, and tumors. *Mol. Biol. Cell*, 3, 211-220.
- Bhardwaj, S., Roy, H., Heikura, T. & Yla-Herttuala, S. (2005) VEGF-A, VEGF-D and VEGF-D(DeltaNDeltaC) induced intimal hyperplasia in carotid arteries. *Eur. J. Clin. Invest.*, **35**, 669-676.
- Bisby, M.A. & Tetzlaff, W. (1992) Changes in cytoskeletal protein synthesis following axon injury and during axon regeneration. *Mol. Neurobiol.*, **6**, 107-123.

- Bixby, J.L., Lilien, J. & Reichardt, L.F. (1988) Identification of the major proteins that promote neuronal process outgrowth on Schwann cells in vitro. J. Cell Biol., 107, 353-361.
- Blakemore, W.F. & Keirstead, H.S. (1999) The origin of remyelinating cells in the central nervous system. J. Neuroimmunol., 98, 69-76.
- Boivin, A., Pineau, I., Barrette, B., Filali, M., Vallieres, N., Rivest, S. & Lacroix, S. (2007) Toll-like receptor signaling is critical for Wallerian degeneration and functional recovery after peripheral nerve injury. J. Neurosci., 27, 12565-12576.
- Borgstrom, P., Hillan, K.J., Sriramarao, P. & Ferrara, N. (1996) Complete inhibition of angiogenesis and growth of microtumors by anti-vascular endothelial growth factor neutralizing antibody: novel concepts of angiostatic therapy from intravital videomicroscopy. *Cancer Res.*, **56**, 4032-4039.
- Bottomley, M.J., Webb, N.J., Watson, C.J., Holt, L., Bukhari, M., Denton, J., Freemont, A.J. & Brenchley, P.E. (2000) Placenta growth factor (PIGF) induces vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) secretion from mononuclear cells and is co-expressed with VEGF in synovial fluid. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.*, **119**, 182-188.
- Bouquet, C., Ravaille-Veron, M., Propst, F. & Nothias, F. (2007) MAP1B coordinates microtubule and actin filament remodeling in adult mouse Schwann cell tips and DRG neuron growth cones. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.*, 36, 235-247.
- Bourde, O., Kiefer, R., Toyka, K.V. & Hartung, H.P. (1996) Quantification of interleukin-6 mRNA in wallerian degeneration by competitive reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction. *J. Neuroimmunol.*, **69**, 135-140.
- Boven, L.A., Van Meurs, M., Van Zwam, M., Wierenga-Wolf, A., Hintzen, R.Q., Boot, R.G., Aerts, J.M., Amor, S., Nieuwenhuis, E.E. & Laman, J.D. (2006) Myelin-laden macrophages are anti-inflammatory, consistent with foam cells in multiple sclerosis. *Brain*, **129**, 517-526.
- Brandt, J.A., Churchill, L., Rehman, A., Ellis, G., Memet, S., Israel, A. & Krueger, J.M. (2004) Sleep deprivation increases the activation of nuclear factor kappa B in lateral hypothalamic cells. *Brain Res.*, 1004, 91-97.
- Britsch, S., Goerich, D.E., Riethmacher, D., Peirano, R.I., Rossner, M., Nave, K.A., Birchmeier, C. & Wegner, M. (2001) The transcription factor Sox10 is a key regulator of peripheral glial development. *Genes Dev.*, 15, 66-78.
- Brkovic, A. & Sirois, M.G. (2007) Vascular permeability induced by VEGF family members in vivo: role of endogenous PAF and NO synthesis. J. Cell. Biochem., 100, 727-737.
- Brown, H.C., Castano, A., Fearn, S., Townsend, M., Edwards, G., Streuli, C. & Perry, V.H. (1997) Adhesion molecules involved in macrophage responses to Wallerian degeneration in the murine peripheral nervous system. *Eur. J. Neurosci.*, 9, 2057-2063.
- Bruck, W. & Friede, R.L. (1990) Anti-macrophage CR3 antibody blocks myelin phagocytosis by macrophages in vitro. Acta Neuropathol, 80, 415-418.
- Cafferty, W.B., Gardiner, N.J., Das, P., Qiu, J., McMahon, S.B. & Thompson, S.W. (2004) Conditioning injuryinduced spinal axon regeneration fails in interleukin-6 knock-out mice. *J. Neurosci.*, **24**, 4432-4443.
- Cafferty, W.B., Gardiner, N.J., Gavazzi, I., Powell, J., McMahon, S.B., Heath, J.K., Munson, J., Cohen, J. & Thompson, S.W. (2001) Leukemia inhibitory factor determines the growth status of injured adult sensory neurons. *J. Neurosci.*, **21**, 7161-7170.
- Camara-Lemarroy, C.R., Guzman-de la Garza, F.J. & Fernandez-Garza, N.E. (2010) Molecular inflammatory mediators in peripheral nerve degeneration and regeneration. *Neuroimmunomodulation*, **17**, 314-324.

- Cao, Y., Chen, H., Zhou, L., Chiang, M.K., Anand-Apte, B., Weatherbee, J.A., Wang, Y., Fang, F., Flanagan, J.G. & Tsang, M.L. (1996) Heterodimers of placenta growth factor/vascular endothelial growth factor. Endothelial activity, tumor cell expression, and high affinity binding to Flk-1/KDR. J. Biol. Chem., 271, 3154-3162.
- Cao, Y., Ji, W.R., Qi, P. & Rosin, A. (1997) Placenta growth factor: identification and characterization of a novel isoform generated by RNA alternative splicing. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 235, 493-498.
- Carlstedt, T. (2008) Root repair review: basic science background and clinical outcome. *Restor Neurol Neurosci*, **26**, 225-241.
- Carmeliet, P., Ferreira, V., Breier, G., Pollefeyt, S., Kieckens, L., Gertsenstein, M., Fahrig, M., Vandenhoeck, A., Harpal, K., Eberhardt, C., Declercq, C., Pawling, J., Moons, L., Collen, D., Risau, W. & Nagy, A. (1996) Abnormal blood vessel development and lethality in embryos lacking a single VEGF allele. *Nature*, 380, 435-439.
- Carmeliet, P., Moons, L., Luttun, A., Vincenti, V., Compernolle, V., De Mol, M., Wu, Y., Bono, F., Devy, L., Beck, H., Scholz, D., Acker, T., DiPalma, T., Dewerchin, M., Noel, A., Stalmans, I., Barra, A., Blacher, S., Vandendriessche, T., Ponten, A., Eriksson, U., Plate, K.H., Foidart, J.M., Schaper, W., Charnock-Jones, D.S., Hicklin, D.J., Herbert, J.M., Collen, D. & Persico, M.G. (2001) Synergism between vascular endothelial growth factor and placental growth factor contributes to angiogenesis and plasma extravasation in pathological conditions. *Nat. Med.*, 7, 575-583.
- Carmeliet, P. & Tessier-Lavigne, M. (2005) Common mechanisms of nerve and blood vessel wiring. *Nature*, **436**, 193-200.
- Carroll, S.L., Miller, M.L., Frohnert, P.W., Kim, S.S. & Corbett, J.A. (1997) Expression of neuregulins and their putative receptors, ErbB2 and ErbB3, is induced during Wallerian degeneration. J. Neurosci., 17, 1642-1659.
- Carter, B.D., Kaltschmidt, C., Kaltschmidt, B., Offenhauser, N., Bohm-Matthaei, R., Baeuerle, P.A. & Barde, Y.A. (1996) Selective activation of NF-kappa B by nerve growth factor through the neurotrophin receptor p75. *Science*, 272, 542-545.
- Carvalho, J.F., Blank, M. & Shoenfeld, Y. (2007) Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) in autoimmune diseases. J. Clin. Immunol., 27, 246-256.
- Casha, S., Yu, W.R. & Fehlings, M.G. (2001) Oligodendroglial apoptosis occurs along degenerating axons and is associated with FAS and p75 expression following spinal cord injury in the rat. *Neuroscience*, **103**, 203-218.
- Chang, M., Mukherjea, D., Gobble, R.M., Groesch, K.A., Torry, R.J. & Torry, D.S. (2008) Glial cell missing 1 regulates placental growth factor (PGF) gene transcription in human trophoblast. *Biol. Reprod.*, **78**, 841-851.
- Cheng, L., Jia, H., Lohr, M., Bagherzadeh, A., Holmes, D.I., Selwood, D. & Zachary, I. (2004) Antichemorepulsive effects of vascular endothelial growth factor and placental growth factor-2 in dorsal root ganglion neurons are mediated via neuropilin-1 and cyclooxygenase-derived prostanoid production. J. Biol. Chem., 279, 30654-30661.
- Choi, J.S., Kim, H.Y., Cha, J.H., Choi, J.Y., Park, S.I., Jeong, C.H., Jeun, S.S. & Lee, M.Y. (2007) Upregulation of vascular endothelial growth factor receptors Flt-1 and Flk-1 following acute spinal cord contusion in rats. J. Histochem. Cytochem., 55, 821-830.
- Clauss, M., Gerlach, M., Gerlach, H., Brett, J., Wang, F., Familletti, P.C., Pan, Y.C., Olander, J.V., Connolly, D.T. & Stern, D. (1990) Vascular permeability factor: a tumor-derived polypeptide that induces endothelial cell and monocyte procoagulant activity, and promotes monocyte migration. *J. Exp. Med.*, 172, 1535-1545.

- Clauss, M., Weich, H., Breier, G., Knies, U., Rockl, W., Waltenberger, J. & Risau, W. (1996) The vascular endothelial growth factor receptor Flt-1 mediates biological activities. Implications for a functional role of placenta growth factor in monocyte activation and chemotaxis. J. Biol. Chem., 271, 17629-17634.
- Collart, M.A., Belin, D., Vassalli, J.D., de Kossodo, S. & Vassalli, P. (1986) Gamma interferon enhances macrophage transcription of the tumor necrosis factor/cachectin, interleukin 1, and urokinase genes, which are controlled by short-lived repressors. J. Exp. Med., 164, 2113-2118.
- Conklyn, M.J., Neote, K. & Showell, H.J. (1996) Chemokine-dependent upregulation of CD11b on specific leukocyte subpopulations in human whole blood: effect of anticoagulant on rantes and MIP-1 beta stimulation. *Cytokine*, 8, 762-766.
- Connolly, D.T., Heuvelman, D.M., Nelson, R., Olander, J.V., Eppley, B.L., Delfino, J.J., Siegel, N.R., Leimgruber, R.M. & Feder, J. (1989) Tumor vascular permeability factor stimulates endothelial cell growth and angiogenesis. J. Clin. Invest., 84, 1470-1478.
- Cosgaya, J.M., Chan, J.R. & Shooter, E.M. (2002) The neurotrophin receptor p75NTR as a positive modulator of myelination. *Science*, **298**, 1245-1248.
- Cramer, M., Nagy, I., Murphy, B.J., Gassmann, M., Hottiger, M.O., Georgiev, O. & Schaffner, W. (2005) NFkappaB contributes to transcription of placenta growth factor and interacts with metal responsive transcription factor-1 in hypoxic human cells. *Biol. Chem.*, 386, 865-872.
- Culmsee, C., Gerling, N., Lehmann, M., Nikolova-Karakashian, M., Prehn, J.H., Mattson, M.P. & Krieglstein, J. (2002) Nerve growth factor survival signaling in cultured hippocampal neurons is mediated through TrkA and requires the common neurotrophin receptor P75. *Neuroscience*, **115**, 1089-1108.
- Curtis, R., Scherer, S.S., Somogyi, R., Adryan, K.M., Ip, N.Y., Zhu, Y., Lindsay, R.M. & DiStefano, P.S. (1994) Retrograde axonal transport of LIF is increased by peripheral nerve injury: correlation with increased LIF expression in distal nerve. *Neuron*, **12**, 191-204.
- De Falco, S., Gigante, B. & Persico, M.G. (2002) Structure and function of placental growth factor. *Trends Cardiovasc. Med.*, **12**, 241-246.
- de la Hoz, C.L., Oliveira, A.L., Queiroz Lde, S. & Langone, F. (2003) Wallerian degeneration in C57BL/6J and A/J mice: differences in time course of neurofilament and myelin breakdown, macrophage recruitment and iNOS expression. *J. Anat.*, **203**, 567-578.
- de Martin, R., Vanhove, B., Cheng, Q., Hofer, E., Csizmadia, V., Winkler, H. & Bach, F.H. (1993) Cytokineinducible expression in endothelial cells of an I kappa B alpha-like gene is regulated by NF kappa B. *EMBO J.*, **12**, 2773-2779.
- de Vries, C., Escobedo, J.A., Ueno, H., Houck, K., Ferrara, N. & Williams, L.T. (1992) The fms-like tyrosine kinase, a receptor for vascular endothelial growth factor. *Science*, **255**, 989-991.
- DiPalma, T., Tucci, M., Russo, G., Maglione, D., Lago, C.T., Romano, A., Saccone, S., Della Valle, G., De Gregorio, L., Dragani, T.A., Viglietto, G. & Persico, M.G. (1996) The placenta growth factor gene of the mouse. *Mamm. Genome*, 7, 6-12.
- Dray, C., Rougon, G. & Debarbieux, F. (2009) Quantitative analysis by in vivo imaging of the dynamics of vascular and axonal networks in injured mouse spinal cord. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A., 106, 9459-9464.
- Dumont, D.J., Jussila, L., Taipale, J., Lymboussaki, A., Mustonen, T., Pajusola, K., Breitman, M. & Alitalo, K. (1998) Cardiovascular failure in mouse embryos deficient in VEGF receptor-3. *Science*, **282**, 946-949.
- Failla, C.M., Odorisio, T., Cianfarani, F., Schietroma, C., Puddu, P. & Zambruno, G. (2000) Placenta growth factor is induced in human keratinocytes during wound healing. *J. Invest. Dermatol.*, **115**, 388-395.

- Fan, Z., Bau, B., Yang, H. & Aigner, T. (2004) IL-1beta induction of IL-6 and LIF in normal articular human chondrocytes involves the ERK, p38 and NFkappaB signaling pathways. *Cytokine*, **28**, 17-24.
- Fantin, A., Maden, C.H. & Ruhrberg, C. (2009) Neuropilin ligands in vascular and neuronal patterning. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.*, **37**, 1228-1232.
- Farnebo, F., Piehl, F. & Lagercrantz, J. (1999) Restricted expression pattern of vegf-d in the adult and fetal mouse: high expression in the embryonic lung. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 257, 891-894.
- Fernandes, K.J., Fan, D.P., Tsui, B.J., Cassar, S.L. & Tetzlaff, W. (1999) Influence of the axotomy to cell body distance in rat rubrospinal and spinal motoneurons: differential regulation of GAP-43, tubulins, and neurofilament-M. J. Comp. Neurol., 414, 495-510.
- Fernandez-Valle, C., Bunge, R.P. & Bunge, M.B. (1995) Schwann cells degrade myelin and proliferate in the absence of macrophages: evidence from in vitro studies of Wallerian degeneration. J. Neurocytol., 24, 667-679.
- Fernyhough, P., Smith, D.R., Schapansky, J., Van Der Ploeg, R., Gardiner, N.J., Tweed, C.W., Kontos, A., Freeman, L., Purves-Tyson, T.D. & Glazner, G.W. (2005) Activation of nuclear factor-kappaB via endogenous tumor necrosis factor alpha regulates survival of axotomized adult sensory neurons. J. Neurosci., 25, 1682-1690.
- Ferrara, N., Carver-Moore, K., Chen, H., Dowd, M., Lu, L., O'Shea, K.S., Powell-Braxton, L., Hillan, K.J. & Moore, M.W. (1996) Heterozygous embryonic lethality induced by targeted inactivation of the VEGF gene. *Nature*, **380**, 439-442.
- Ferrara, N., Winer, J. & Burton, T. (1991) Aortic smooth muscle cells express and secrete vascular endothelial growth factor. *Growth Factors*, 5, 141-148.
- Ferrari, D., Wesselborg, S., Bauer, M.K. & Schulze-Osthoff, K. (1997) Extracellular ATP activates transcription factor NF-kappaB through the P2Z purinoreceptor by selectively targeting NF-kappaB p65. J. Cell Biol., 139, 1635-1643.
- Fischer, C., Jonckx, B., Mazzone, M., Zacchigna, S., Loges, S., Pattarini, L., Chorianopoulos, E., Liesenborghs, L., Koch, M., De Mol, M., Autiero, M., Wyns, S., Plaisance, S., Moons, L., van Rooijen, N., Giacca, M., Stassen, J.M., Dewerchin, M., Collen, D. & Carmeliet, P. (2007) Anti-PIGF inhibits growth of VEGF(R)-inhibitor-resistant tumors without affecting healthy vessels. *Cell*, **131**, 463-475.
- Fong, G.H., Rossant, J., Gertsenstein, M. & Breitman, M.L. (1995) Role of the Flt-1 receptor tyrosine kinase in regulating the assembly of vascular endothelium. *Nature*, **376**, 66-70.
- Franzen, R., Tanner, S.L., Dashiell, S.M., Rottkamp, C.A., Hammer, J.A. & Quarles, R.H. (2001) Microtubuleassociated protein 1B: a neuronal binding partner for myelin-associated glycoprotein. J. Cell Biol., 155, 893-898.
- Freeman, M.R., Schneck, F.X., Gagnon, M.L., Corless, C., Soker, S., Niknejad, K., Peoples, G.E. & Klagsbrun, M. (1995) Peripheral blood T lymphocytes and lymphocytes infiltrating human cancers express vascular endothelial growth factor: a potential role for T cells in angiogenesis. *Cancer Res.*, 55, 4140-4145.
- Freitas-Andrade, M., Carmeliet, P., Stanimirovic, D.B. & Moreno, M. (2008) VEGFR-2-mediated increased proliferation and survival in response to oxygen and glucose deprivation in PIGF knockout astrocytes. *J. Neurochem.*, **107**, 756-767.
- Frisen, J., Verge, V.M., Fried, K., Risling, M., Persson, H., Trotter, J., Hokfelt, T. & Lindholm, D. (1993) Characterization of glial trkB receptors: differential response to injury in the central and peripheral nervous systems. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, **90**, 4971-4975.

- Fu, E.S., Zhang, Y.P., Sagen, J., Candiotti, K.A., Morton, P.D., Liebl, D.J., Bethea, J.R. & Brambilla, R. (2010) Transgenic inhibition of glial NF-kappa B reduces pain behavior and inflammation after peripheral nerve injury. *Pain*, **148**, 509-518.
- Fu, S.Y. & Gordon, T. (1997) The cellular and molecular basis of peripheral nerve regeneration. Mol. Neurobiol., 14, 67-116.
- Fujisawa, H., Kitsukawa, T., Kawakami, A., Takagi, S., Shimizu, M. & Hirata, T. (1997) Roles of a neuronal cell-surface molecule, neuropilin, in nerve fiber fasciculation and guidance. *Cell Tissue Res.*, 290, 465-470.
- Fujita, H., Zhang, B., Sato, K., Tanaka, J. & Sakanaka, M. (2001) Expressions of neuropilin-1, neuropilin-2 and semaphorin 3A mRNA in the rat brain after middle cerebral artery occlusion. *Brain Res.*, 914, 1-14.
- Funakoshi, H., Frisen, J., Barbany, G., Timmusk, T., Zachrisson, O., Verge, V.M. & Persson, H. (1993) Differential expression of mRNAs for neurotrophins and their receptors after axotomy of the sciatic nerve. J. Cell Biol., 123, 455-465.
- Gao, Y.J. & Ji, R.R. (2010) Chemokines, neuronal-glial interactions, and central processing of neuropathic pain. *Pharmacol. Ther.*, **126**, 56-68.
- Garratt, A.N., Voiculescu, O., Topilko, P., Charnay, P. & Birchmeier, C. (2000) A dual role of erbB2 in myelination and in expansion of the schwann cell precursor pool. *J. Cell Biol.*, **148**, 1035-1046.
- George, A., Schmidt, C., Weishaupt, A., Toyka, K.V. & Sommer, C. (1999) Serial determination of tumor necrosis factor-alpha content in rat sciatic nerve after chronic constriction injury. *Exp. Neurol.*, **160**, 124-132.
- George, L.T., Myckatyn, T.M., Jensen, J.N., Hunter, D.A. & Mackinnon, S.E. (2003) Functional recovery and histomorphometric assessment following tibial nerve injury in the mouse. *J. Reconstr. Microsurg.*, **19**, 41-48.
- Gerber, H.P., Condorelli, F., Park, J. & Ferrara, N. (1997) Differential transcriptional regulation of the two vascular endothelial growth factor receptor genes. Flt-1, but not Flk-1/KDR, is up-regulated by hypoxia. *J. Biol. Chem.*, **272**, 23659-23667.
- Gerber, H.P., Dixit, V. & Ferrara, N. (1998) Vascular endothelial growth factor induces expression of the antiapoptotic proteins Bcl-2 and A1 in vascular endothelial cells. J. Biol. Chem., 273, 13313-13316.
- Gerhardt, H., Golding, M., Fruttiger, M., Ruhrberg, C., Lundkvist, A., Abramsson, A., Jeltsch, M., Mitchell, C., Alitalo, K., Shima, D. & Betsholtz, C. (2003) VEGF guides angiogenic sprouting utilizing endothelial tip cell filopodia. J. Cell Biol., 161, 1163-1177.
- Ghosh, S., May, M.J. & Kopp, E.B. (1998) NF-kappa B and Rel proteins: evolutionarily conserved mediators of immune responses. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.*, **16**, 225-260.
- Gillen, C., Jander, S. & Stoll, G. (1998) Sequential expression of mRNA for proinflammatory cytokines and interleukin-10 in the rat peripheral nervous system: comparison between immune-mediated demyelination and Wallerian degeneration. *J. Neurosci. Res.*, **51**, 489-496.
- Girolami, E.I., Bouhy, D., Haber, M., Johnson, H. & David, S. (2010) Differential expression and potential role of SOCS1 and SOCS3 in Wallerian degeneration in injured peripheral nerve. *Exp. Neurol.*, **223**, 173-182.
- Giulian, D., Vaca, K. & Corpuz, M. (1993) Brain glia release factors with opposing actions upon neuronal survival. J. Neurosci., 13, 29-37.
- Glass, J.D., Culver, D.G., Levey, A.I. & Nash, N.R. (2002) Very early activation of m-calpain in peripheral nerve during Wallerian degeneration. J. Neurol. Sci., 196, 9-20.

- Gluzman-Poltorak, Z., Cohen, T., Herzog, Y. & Neufeld, G. (2000) Neuropilin-2 is a receptor for the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) forms VEGF-145 and VEGF-165 [corrected]. *J. Biol. Chem.*, **275**, 18040-18045.
- Golz, G., Uhlmann, L., Ludecke, D., Markgraf, N., Nitsch, R. & Hendrix, S. (2006) The cytokine/neurotrophin axis in peripheral axon outgrowth. *Eur. J. Neurosci.*, **24**, 2721-2730.
- Goncalves, G.A., Vassallo, P.F., dos Santos, L., Schettert, I.T., Nakamuta, J.S., Becker, C., Tucci, P.J. & Krieger, J.E. (2010) Intramyocardial transplantation of fibroblasts expressing vascular endothelial growth factor attenuates cardiac dysfunction. *Gene Ther.*, **17**, 305-314.
- Gonzalez-Hernandez, T. & Rustioni, A. (1999) Expression of three forms of nitric oxide synthase in peripheral nerve regeneration. J. Neurosci. Res., 55, 198-207.
- Gordon, T. (2009) The role of neurotrophic factors in nerve regeneration. Neurosurg Focus, 26, E3.
- Green, C.J., Lichtlen, P., Huynh, N.T., Yanovsky, M., Laderoute, K.R., Schaffner, W. & Murphy, B.J. (2001) Placenta growth factor gene expression is induced by hypoxia in fibroblasts: a central role for metal transcription factor-1. *Cancer Res.*, 61, 2696-2703.
- Grilli, M., Goffi, F., Memo, M. & Spano, P. (1996) Interleukin-1beta and glutamate activate the NF-kappaB/Rel binding site from the regulatory region of the amyloid precursor protein gene in primary neuronal cultures. J. Biol. Chem., 271, 15002-15007.
- Grinspan, J.B., Marchionni, M.A., Reeves, M., Coulaloglou, M. & Scherer, S.S. (1996) Axonal interactions regulate Schwann cell apoptosis in developing peripheral nerve: neuregulin receptors and the role of neuregulins. J. Neurosci., 16, 6107-6118.
- Grothey, A. & Galanis, E. (2009) Targeting angiogenesis: progress with anti-VEGF treatment with large molecules. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol*, **6**, 507-518.
- Guerrini, L., Blasi, F. & Denis-Donini, S. (1995) Synaptic activation of NF-kappa B by glutamate in cerebellar granule neurons in vitro. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, **92**, 9077-9081.
- Guertin, A.D., Zhang, D.P., Mak, K.S., Alberta, J.A. & Kim, H.A. (2005) Microanatomy of axon/glial signaling during Wallerian degeneration. J. Neurosci., 25, 3478-3487.
- Gupta, R., Gray, M., Chao, T., Bear, D., Modafferi, E. & Mozaffar, T. (2005) Schwann cells upregulate vascular endothelial growth factor secondary to chronic nerve compression injury. *Muscle Nerve*, **31**, 452-460.
- Hammarberg, H., Piehl, F., Cullheim, S., Fjell, J., Hokfelt, T. & Fried, K. (1996) GDNF mRNA in Schwann cells and DRG satellite cells after chronic sciatic nerve injury. *Neuroreport*, 7, 857-860.
- Hammarberg, H., Piehl, F., Risling, M. & Cullheim, S. (2000) Differential regulation of trophic factor receptor mRNAs in spinal motoneurons after sciatic nerve transection and ventral root avulsion in the rat. J. Comp. Neurol., 426, 587-601.
- Harada, M., Mitsuyama, K., Yoshida, H., Sakisaka, S., Taniguchi, E., Kawaguchi, T., Ariyoshi, M., Saiki, T., Sakamoto, M., Nagata, K., Sata, M., Matsuo, K. & Tanikawa, K. (1998) Vascular endothelial growth factor in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Scand. J. Rheumatol.*, 27, 377-380.
- Hattori, A., Iwasaki, S., Murase, K., Tsujimoto, M., Sato, M., Hayashi, K. & Kohno, M. (1994) Tumor necrosis factor is markedly synergistic with interleukin 1 and interferon-gamma in stimulating the production of nerve growth factor in fibroblasts. *FEBS Lett.*, 340, 177-180.
- Hattori, K., Heissig, B., Wu, Y., Dias, S., Tejada, R., Ferris, B., Hicklin, D.J., Zhu, Z., Bohlen, P., Witte, L., Hendrikx, J., Hackett, N.R., Crystal, R.G., Moore, M.A., Werb, Z., Lyden, D. & Rafii, S. (2002) Placental growth factor reconstitutes hematopoiesis by recruiting VEGFR1(+) stem cells from bonemarrow microenvironment. *Nat. Med.*, 8, 841-849.

- Hayashi, T., Noshita, N., Sugawara, T. & Chan, P.H. (2003) Temporal profile of angiogenesis and expression of related genes in the brain after ischemia. *J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab.*, **23**, 166-180.
- He, H., Venema, V.J., Gu, X., Venema, R.C., Marrero, M.B. & Caldwell, R.B. (1999) Vascular endothelial growth factor signals endothelial cell production of nitric oxide and prostacyclin through flk-1/KDR activation of c-Src. J. Biol. Chem., 274, 25130-25135.
- Hedlund, E., Karlsson, M., Osborn, T., Ludwig, W. & Isacson, O. (2010) Global gene expression profiling of somatic motor neuron populations with different vulnerability identify molecules and pathways of degeneration and protection. *Brain*, 133, 2313-2330.
- Hermann, D.M. & Zechariah, A. (2009) Implications of vascular endothelial growth factor for postischemic neurovascular remodeling. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab., 29, 1620-1643.
- Herzog, Y., Kalcheim, C., Kahane, N., Reshef, R. & Neufeld, G. (2001) Differential expression of neuropilin-1 and neuropilin-2 in arteries and veins. *Mech. Dev.*, **109**, 115-119.
- Heumann, R., Korsching, S., Bandtlow, C. & Thoenen, H. (1987) Changes of nerve growth factor synthesis in nonneuronal cells in response to sciatic nerve transection. J. Cell Biol., 104, 1623-1631.
- Hildebrand, C., Kocsis, J.D., Berglund, S. & Waxman, S.G. (1985) Myelin sheath remodelling in regenerated rat sciatic nerve. *Brain Res.*, 358, 163-170.
- Hillman, N.J., Whittles, C.E., Pocock, T.M., Williams, B. & Bates, D.O. (2001) Differential effects of vascular endothelial growth factor-C and placental growth factor-1 on the hydraulic conductivity of frog mesenteric capillaries. J. Vasc. Res., 38, 176-186.
- Hirata, H., Hibasami, H., Yoshida, T., Ogawa, M., Matsumoto, M., Morita, A. & Uchida, A. (2001) Nerve growth factor signaling of p75 induces differentiation and ceramide-mediated apoptosis in Schwann cells cultured from degenerating nerves. *Glia*, **36**, 245-258.
- Hirata, K. & Kawabuchi, M. (2002) Myelin phagocytosis by macrophages and nonmacrophages during Wallerian degeneration. *Microsc. Res. Tech.*, **57**, 541-547.
- Hiratsuka, S., Nakao, K., Nakamura, K., Katsuki, M., Maru, Y. & Shibuya, M. (2005) Membrane fixation of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 1 ligand-binding domain is important for vasculogenesis and angiogenesis in mice. *Mol. Cell. Biol.*, 25, 346-354.
- Hobson, M.I., Green, C.J. & Terenghi, G. (2000) VEGF enhances intraneural angiogenesis and improves nerve regeneration after axotomy. *J. Anat.*, **197 Pt 4**, 591-605.
- Hollborn, M., Tenckhoff, S., Seifert, M., Kohler, S., Wiedemann, P., Bringmann, A. & Kohen, L. (2006) Human retinal epithelium produces and responds to placenta growth factor. *Graefes Arch. Clin. Exp. Ophthalmol.*, 244, 732-741.
- Holmes, D.I. & Zachary, I. (2004) Placental growth factor induces FosB and c-Fos gene expression via Flt-1 receptors. *FEBS Lett.*, 557, 93-98.
- Huber, A.B. & Schwab, M.E. (2000) Nogo-A, a potent inhibitor of neurite outgrowth and regeneration. *Biol. Chem.*, **381**, 407-419.
- Huebner, E.A. & Strittmatter, S.M. (2009) Axon regeneration in the peripheral and central nervous systems. *Results Probl. Cell Differ.*, **48**, 339-351.
- Hunt, D., Hossain-Ibrahim, K., Mason, M.R., Coffin, R.S., Lieberman, A.R., Winterbottom, J. & Anderson, P.N. (2004) ATF3 upregulation in glia during Wallerian degeneration: differential expression in peripheral nerves and CNS white matter. *BMC Neurosci*, 5, 9.
- Ijkema-Paassen, J., Meek, M.F. & Gramsbergen, A. (2002) Reinnervation of muscles after transection of the sciatic nerve in adult rats. *Muscle Nerve*, 25, 891-897.
Inoue, K. (2002) Microglial activation by purines and pyrimidines. Glia, 40, 156-163.

- Inoue, K., Slaton, J.W., Davis, D.W., Hicklin, D.J., McConkey, D.J., Karashima, T., Radinsky, R. & Dinney, C.P. (2000) Treatment of human metastatic transitional cell carcinoma of the bladder in a murine model with the anti-vascular endothelial growth factor receptor monoclonal antibody DC101 and paclitaxel. *Clin. Cancer. Res.*, 6, 2635-2643.
- Inta, I., Paxian, S., Maegele, I., Zhang, W., Pizzi, M., Spano, P., Sarnico, I., Muhammad, S., Herrmann, O., Inta, D., Baumann, B., Liou, H.C., Schmid, R.M. & Schwaninger, M. (2006) Bim and Noxa are candidates to mediate the deleterious effect of the NF-kappa B subunit RelA in cerebral ischemia. *J. Neurosci.*, 26, 12896-12903.
- Israel, A., Le Bail, O., Hatat, D., Piette, J., Kieran, M., Logeat, F., Wallach, D., Fellous, M. & Kourilsky, P. (1989) TNF stimulates expression of mouse MHC class I genes by inducing an NF kappa B-like enhancer binding activity which displaces constitutive factors. *EMBO J.*, 8, 3793-3800.
- Ito, A., Hirota, S., Mizuno, H., Kawasaki, Y., Takemura, T., Nishiura, T., Kanakura, Y., Katayama, Y., Nomura, S. & Kitamura, Y. (1995) Expression of vascular permeability factor (VPF/VEGF) messenger RNA by plasma cells: possible involvement in the development of edema in chronic inflammation. *Pathol. Int.*, 45, 715-720.
- Jaegle, M., Ghazvini, M., Mandemakers, W., Piirsoo, M., Driegen, S., Levavasseur, F., Raghoenath, S., Grosveld, F. & Meijer, D. (2003) The POU proteins Brn-2 and Oct-6 share important functions in Schwann cell development. *Genes Dev.*, 17, 1380-1391.
- Jander, S., Pohl, J., Gillen, C. & Stoll, G. (1996) Differential expression of interleukin-10 mRNA in Wallerian degeneration and immune-mediated inflammation of the rat peripheral nervous system. J. Neurosci. Res., 43, 254-259.
- Jiang, S.X., Whitehead, S., Aylsworth, A., Slinn, J., Zurakowski, B., Chan, K., Li, J. & Hou, S.T. (2010) Neuropilin 1 directly interacts with Fer kinase to mediate semaphorin 3A-induced death of cortical neurons. J. Biol. Chem., 285, 9908-9918.
- Jin, K., Zhu, Y., Sun, Y., Mao, X.O., Xie, L. & Greenberg, D.A. (2002) Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) stimulates neurogenesis in vitro and in vivo. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, **99**, 11946-11950.
- Joukov, V., Kumar, V., Sorsa, T., Arighi, E., Weich, H., Saksela, O. & Alitalo, K. (1998) A recombinant mutant vascular endothelial growth factor-C that has lost vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-2 binding, activation, and vascular permeability activities. *J. Biol. Chem.*, **273**, 6599-6602.
- Joukov, V., Pajusola, K., Kaipainen, A., Chilov, D., Lahtinen, I., Kukk, E., Saksela, O., Kalkkinen, N. & Alitalo, K. (1996) A novel vascular endothelial growth factor, VEGF-C, is a ligand for the Flt4 (VEGFR-3) and KDR (VEGFR-2) receptor tyrosine kinases. *EMBO J.*, 15, 290-298.
- Kajimura, D., Dragomir, C., Ramirez, F. & Laub, F. (2007) Identification of genes regulated by transcription factor KLF7 in differentiating olfactory sensory neurons. *Gene*, 388, 34-42.
- Kaltschmidt, B., Heinrich, M. & Kaltschmidt, C. (2002) Stimulus-dependent activation of NF-kappaB specifies apoptosis or neuroprotection in cerebellar granule cells. *Neuromolecular Med*, **2**, 299-309.
- Kaltschmidt, C., Kaltschmidt, B. & Baeuerle, P.A. (1995) Stimulation of ionotropic glutamate receptors activates transcription factor NF-kappa B in primary neurons. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, **92**, 9618-9622.
- Kanno, S., Oda, N., Abe, M., Terai, Y., Ito, M., Shitara, K., Tabayashi, K., Shibuya, M. & Sato, Y. (2000) Roles of two VEGF receptors, Flt-1 and KDR, in the signal transduction of VEGF effects in human vascular endothelial cells. *Oncogene*, 19, 2138-2146.

- Karkkainen, M.J., Haiko, P., Sainio, K., Partanen, J., Taipale, J., Petrova, T.V., Jeltsch, M., Jackson, D.G., Talikka, M., Rauvala, H., Betsholtz, C. & Alitalo, K. (2004) Vascular endothelial growth factor C is required for sprouting of the first lymphatic vessels from embryonic veins. *Nat Immunol*, 5, 74-80.
- Karpanen, T., Heckman, C.A., Keskitalo, S., Jeltsch, M., Ollila, H., Neufeld, G., Tamagnone, L. & Alitalo, K. (2006) Functional interaction of VEGF-C and VEGF-D with neuropilin receptors. *FASEB J.*, 20, 1462-1472.
- Kassed, C.A., Butler, T.L., Patton, G.W., Demesquita, D.D., Navidomskis, M.T., Memet, S., Israel, A. & Pennypacker, K.R. (2004) Injury-induced NF-kappaB activation in the hippocampus: implications for neuronal survival. *FASEB J.*, 18, 723-724.
- Kendall, R.L. & Thomas, K.A. (1993) Inhibition of vascular endothelial cell growth factor activity by an endogenously encoded soluble receptor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, **90**, 10705-10709.
- Keyt, B.A., Nguyen, H.V., Berleau, L.T., Duarte, C.M., Park, J., Chen, H. & Ferrara, N. (1996) Identification of vascular endothelial growth factor determinants for binding KDR and FLT-1 receptors. Generation of receptor-selective VEGF variants by site-directed mutagenesis. J. Biol. Chem., 271, 5638-5646.
- Khong, T.L., Larsen, H., Raatz, Y. & Paleolog, E. (2007) Angiogenesis as a therapeutic target in arthritis: learning the lessons of the colorectal cancer experience. *Angiogenesis*, **10**, 243-258.
- Kim, J.B., Sig Choi, J., Yu, Y.M., Nam, K., Piao, C.S., Kim, S.W., Lee, M.H., Han, P.L., Park, J.S. & Lee, J.K. (2006) HMGB1, a novel cytokine-like mediator linking acute neuronal death and delayed neuroinflammation in the postischemic brain. J. Neurosci., 26, 6413-6421.
- Kirk, S.L. & Karlik, S.J. (2003) VEGF and vascular changes in chronic neuroinflammation. J. Autoimmun., 21, 353-363.
- Klagsbrun, M. & D'Amore, P.A. (1996) Vascular endothelial growth factor and its receptors. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.*, **7**, 259-270.
- Kobayashi, N.R., Bedard, A.M., Hincke, M.T. & Tetzlaff, W. (1996) Increased expression of BDNF and trkB mRNA in rat facial motoneurons after axotomy. *Eur. J. Neurosci.*, **8**, 1018-1029.
- Kolodkin, A.L., Levengood, D.V., Rowe, E.G., Tai, Y.T., Giger, R.J. & Ginty, D.D. (1997) Neuropilin is a semaphorin III receptor. Cell, 90, 753-762.
- Komori, Y., Nikai, T., Taniguchi, K., Masuda, K. & Sugihara, H. (1999) Vascular endothelial growth factor VEGF-like heparin-binding protein from the venom of Vipera aspis aspis (Aspic viper). *Biochemistry* (Mosc). 38, 11796-11803.
- Konig, H.G., Kogel, D., Rami, A. & Prehn, J.H. (2005) TGF-{beta}1 activates two distinct type I receptors in neurons: implications for neuronal NF-{kappa}B signaling. J. Cell Biol., 168, 1077-1086.
- Kosinski, C.M. (2004) [Theodor Schwann]. Nervenarzt, 75, 1248.
- Kottis, V., Thibault, P., Mikol, D., Xiao, Z.C., Zhang, R., Dergham, P. & Braun, P.E. (2002) Oligodendrocytemyelin glycoprotein (OMgp) is an inhibitor of neurite outgrowth. *J. Neurochem.*, **82**, 1566-1569.
- Kovacs, Z., Ikezaki, K., Samoto, K., Inamura, T. & Fukui, M. (1996) VEGF and flt. Expression time kinetics in rat brain infarct. Stroke, 27, 1865-1872; discussion 1872-1863.
- Krady, J.K., Basu, A., Levison, S.W. & Milner, R.J. (2002) Differential expression of protein tyrosine kinase genes during microglial activation. *Glia*, **40**, 11-24.
- Kranich, S., Hattermann, K., Specht, A., Lucius, R. & Mentlein, R. (2009) VEGFR-3/Flt-4 mediates proliferation and chemotaxis in glial precursor cells. *Neurochem. Int.*, 55, 747-753.

- Kraus, J., Borner, C., Giannini, E. & Hollt, V. (2003) The role of nuclear factor kappaB in tumor necrosis factorregulated transcription of the human mu-opioid receptor gene. *Mol. Pharmacol.*, **64**, 876-884.
- Krum, J.M., Mani, N. & Rosenstein, J.M. (2002) Angiogenic and astroglial responses to vascular endothelial growth factor administration in adult rat brain. *Neuroscience*, **110**, 589-604.
- Krum, J.M., Mani, N. & Rosenstein, J.M. (2008) Roles of the endogenous VEGF receptors flt-1 and flk-1 in astroglial and vascular remodeling after brain injury. *Exp. Neurol.*, 212, 108-117.
- Krushel, L.A., Cunningham, B.A., Edelman, G.M. & Crossin, K.L. (1999) NF-kappaB activity is induced by neural cell adhesion molecule binding to neurons and astrocytes. J. Biol. Chem., 274, 2432-2439.
- Kubo, H., Fujiwara, T., Jussila, L., Hashi, H., Ogawa, M., Shimizu, K., Awane, M., Sakai, Y., Takabayashi, A., Alitalo, K., Yamaoka, Y. & Nishikawa, S.I. (2000) Involvement of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-3 in maintenance of integrity of endothelial cell lining during tumor angiogenesis. *Blood*, 96, 546-553.
- Kuhlmann, T., Bitsch, A., Stadelmann, C., Siebert, H. & Bruck, W. (2001) Macrophages are eliminated from the injured peripheral nerve via local apoptosis and circulation to regional lymph nodes and the spleen. J. Neurosci., 21, 3401-3408.
- Kukk, E., Lymboussaki, A., Taira, S., Kaipainen, A., Jeltsch, M., Joukov, V. & Alitalo, K. (1996) VEGF-C receptor binding and pattern of expression with VEGFR-3 suggests a role in lymphatic vascular development. *Development*, **122**, 3829-3837.
- Kurek, J.B., Austin, L., Cheema, S.S., Bartlett, P.F. & Murphy, M. (1996) Up-regulation of leukaemia inhibitory factor and interleukin-6 in transected sciatic nerve and muscle following denervation. *Neuromuscul. Disord.*, 6, 105-114.
- Kuzuya, M., Satake, S., Esaki, T., Yamada, K., Hayashi, T., Naito, M., Asai, K. & Iguchi, A. (1995) Induction of angiogenesis by smooth muscle cell-derived factor: possible role in neovascularization in atherosclerotic plaque. J. Cell. Physiol., 164, 658-667.
- Kwon, Y.K., Bhattacharyya, A., Alberta, J.A., Giannobile, W.V., Cheon, K., Stiles, C.D. & Pomeroy, S.L. (1997) Activation of ErbB2 during wallerian degeneration of sciatic nerve. *J. Neurosci.*, **17**, 8293-8299.
- Ladoux, A. & Frelin, C. (1993a) Expression of vascular endothelial growth factor by cultured endothelial cells from brain microvessels. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, **194**, 799-803.
- Ladoux, A. & Frelin, C. (1993b) Hypoxia is a strong inducer of vascular endothelial growth factor mRNA expression in the heart. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, **195**, 1005-1010.
- Lafuente, J.V., Argandona, E.G. & Mitre, B. (2006) VEGFR-2 expression in brain injury: its distribution related to brain-blood barrier markers. *J. Neural Transm.*, **113**, 487-496.
- Lagercrantz, J., Farnebo, F., Larsson, C., Tvrdik, T., Weber, G. & Piehl, F. (1998) A comparative study of the expression patterns for vegf, vegf-b/vrf and vegf-c in the developing and adult mouse. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*, **1398**, 157-163.
- Lai, C. (2005) Peripheral glia: Schwann cells in motion. Curr. Biol., 15, R332-334.
- Lambrechts, D., Storkebaum, E., Morimoto, M., Del-Favero, J., Desmet, F., Marklund, S.L., Wyns, S., Thijs, V., Andersson, J., van Marion, I., Al-Chalabi, A., Bornes, S., Musson, R., Hansen, V., Beckman, L., Adolfsson, R., Pall, H.S., Prats, H., Vermeire, S., Rutgeerts, P., Katayama, S., Awata, T., Leigh, N., Lang-Lazdunski, L., Dewerchin, M., Shaw, C., Moons, L., Vlietinck, R., Morrison, K.E., Robberecht, W., Van Broeckhoven, C., Collen, D., Andersen, P.M. & Carmeliet, P. (2003) VEGF is a modifier of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis in mice and humans and protects motoneurons against ischemic death. *Nat. Genet.*, 34, 383-394.

- Lan, Q., Mercurius, K.O. & Davies, P.F. (1994) Stimulation of transcription factors NF kappa B and AP1 in endothelial cells subjected to shear stress. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, **201**, 950-956.
- Langmann, T. (2007) Microglia activation in retinal degeneration. J. Leukocyte Biol., 81, 1345-1351.
- Lauffenburger, D.A. & Horwitz, A.F. (1996) Cell migration: a physically integrated molecular process. *Cell*, **84**, 359-369.
- Lavdas, A.A., Papastefanaki, F., Thomaidou, D. & Matsas, R. (2008) Schwann cell transplantation for CNS repair. *Curr. Med. Chem.*, **15**, 151-160.
- Lawson, L.J., Frost, L., Risbridger, J., Fearn, S. & Perry, V.H. (1994) Quantification of the mononuclear phagocyte response to Wallerian degeneration of the optic nerve. J. Neurocytol., 23, 729-744.
- Le Bras, B., Barallobre, M.J., Homman-Ludiye, J., Ny, A., Wyns, S., Tammela, T., Haiko, P., Karkkainen, M.J., Yuan, L., Muriel, M.P., Chatzopoulou, E., Breant, C., Zalc, B., Carmeliet, P., Alitalo, K., Eichmann, A. & Thomas, J.L. (2006) VEGF-C is a trophic factor for neural progenitors in the vertebrate embryonic brain. *Nat. Neurosci.*, 9, 340-348.
- LeBlanc, A.C. & Poduslo, J.F. (1990) Axonal modulation of myelin gene expression in the peripheral nerve. J. Neurosci. Res., 26, 317-326.
- Ledeboer, A., Gamanos, M., Lai, W., Martin, D., Maier, S.F., Watkins, L.R. & Quan, N. (2005) Involvement of spinal cord nuclear factor kappaB activation in rat models of proinflammatory cytokine-mediated pain facilitation. *Eur. J. Neurosci.*, 22, 1977-1986.
- Lee, H., Jo, E.K., Choi, S.Y., Oh, S.B., Park, K., Kim, J.S. & Lee, S.J. (2006) Necrotic neuronal cells induce inflammatory Schwann cell activation via TLR2 and TLR3: implication in Wallerian degeneration. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 350, 742-747.
- Lehnardt, S., Schott, E., Trimbuch, T., Laubisch, D., Krueger, C., Wulczyn, G., Nitsch, R. & Weber, J.R. (2008) A vicious cycle involving release of heat shock protein 60 from injured cells and activation of toll-like receptor 4 mediates neurodegeneration in the CNS. J. Neurosci., 28, 2320-2331.
- Leonardi, A., Chariot, A., Claudio, E., Cunningham, K. & Siebenlist, U. (2000) CIKS, a connection to Ikappa B kinase and stress-activated protein kinase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, 97, 10494-10499.
- Leung, D.W., Cachianes, G., Kuang, W.J., Goeddel, D.V. & Ferrara, N. (1989) Vascular endothelial growth factor is a secreted angiogenic mitogen. *Science*, 246, 1306-1309.
- Leung, L. & Cahill, C.M. (2010) TNF-alpha and neuropathic pain--a review. J Neuroinflammation, 7, 27.
- Li, B., Sharpe, E.E., Maupin, A.B., Teleron, A.A., Pyle, A.L., Carmeliet, P. & Young, P.P. (2006) VEGF and PIGF promote adult vasculogenesis by enhancing EPC recruitment and vessel formation at the site of tumor neovascularization. *FASEB J.*, **20**, 1495-1497.
- Li, X., Gonias, S.L. & Campana, W.M. (2005) Schwann cells express erythropoietin receptor and represent a major target for Epo in peripheral nerve injury. *Glia*, **51**, 254-265.
- Li, X., Lee, C., Tang, Z., Zhang, F., Arjunan, P., Li, Y., Hou, X., Kumar, A. & Dong, L. (2009) VEGF-B: a survival, or an angiogenic factor? *Cell Adh Migr*, **3**, 322-327.
- Liao, X., Siu, M.K., Au, C.W., Wong, E.S., Chan, H.Y., Ip, P.P., Ngan, H.Y. & Cheung, A.N. (2009) Aberrant activation of hedgehog signaling pathway in ovarian cancers: effect on prognosis, cell invasion and differentiation. *Carcinogenesis*, **30**, 131-140.
- Lilienbaum, A. & Israel, A. (2003) From calcium to NF-kappa B signaling pathways in neurons. *Mol. Cell. Biol.*, **23**, 2680-2698.

- Limpert, A.S. & Carter, B.D. (2010) Axonal neuregulin 1 type III activates NF-kappaB in Schwann cells during myelin formation. J. Biol. Chem., 285, 16614-16622.
- Lindholm, D., Heumann, R., Meyer, M. & Thoenen, H. (1987) Interleukin-1 regulates synthesis of nerve growth factor in non-neuronal cells of rat sciatic nerve. *Nature*, 330, 658-659.
- Lipsky, R.H., Xu, K., Zhu, D., Kelly, C., Terhakopian, A., Novelli, A. & Marini, A.M. (2001) Nuclear factor kappaB is a critical determinant in N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor-mediated neuroprotection. J. Neurochem., 78, 254-264.
- Liu, H., Honmou, O., Harada, K., Nakamura, K., Houkin, K., Hamada, H. & Kocsis, J.D. (2006) Neuroprotection by PIGF gene-modified human mesenchymal stem cells after cerebral ischaemia. *Brain*, 129, 2734-2745.
- Liu, H.M., Yang, L.H. & Yang, Y.J. (1995) Schwann cell properties: 3. C-fos expression, bFGF production, phagocytosis and proliferation during Wallerian degeneration. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol., 54, 487-496.
- Lopez-Munoz, F., Boya, J. & Alamo, C. (2006) Neuron theory, the cornerstone of neuroscience, on the centenary of the Nobel Prize award to Santiago Ramon y Cajal. *Brain Res. Bull.*, **70**, 391-405.
- Lubinska, L. (1977) Early course of Wallerian degeneration in myelinated fibres of the rat phrenic nerve. *Brain Res.*, **130**, 47-63.
- Ludwin, S.K. (1990) Oligodendrocyte survival in Wallerian degeneration. Acta Neuropathol, 80, 184-191.
- Lunn, E.R., Perry, V.H., Brown, M.C., Rosen, H. & Gordon, S. (1989) Absence of Wallerian Degeneration does not Hinder Regeneration in Peripheral Nerve. *Eur. J. Neurosci.*, 1, 27-33.
- Luttun, A., Brusselmans, K., Fukao, H., Tjwa, M., Ueshima, S., Herbert, J.M., Matsuo, O., Collen, D., Carmeliet, P. & Moons, L. (2002a) Loss of placental growth factor protects mice against vascular permeability in pathological conditions. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 295, 428-434.
- Luttun, A., Tjwa, M. & Carmeliet, P. (2002b) Placental growth factor (PIGF) and its receptor Flt-1 (VEGFR-1): novel therapeutic targets for angiogenic disorders. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.*, **979**, 80-93.
- Luttun, A., Tjwa, M., Moons, L., Wu, Y., Angelillo-Scherrer, A., Liao, F., Nagy, J.A., Hooper, A., Priller, J., De Klerck, B., Compernolle, V., Daci, E., Bohlen, P., Dewerchin, M., Herbert, J.M., Fava, R., Matthys, P., Carmeliet, G., Collen, D., Dvorak, H.F., Hicklin, D.J. & Carmeliet, P. (2002c) Revascularization of ischemic tissues by PIGF treatment, and inhibition of tumor angiogenesis, arthritis and atherosclerosis by anti-Flt1. *Nat. Med.*, 8, 831-840.
- Lymboussaki, A., Olofsson, B., Eriksson, U. & Alitalo, K. (1999) Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and VEGF-C show overlapping binding sites in embryonic endothelia and distinct sites in differentiated adult endothelia. *Circul. Res.*, **85**, 992-999.
- Mack, T.G., Reiner, M., Beirowski, B., Mi, W., Emanuelli, M., Wagner, D., Thomson, D., Gillingwater, T., Court, F., Conforti, L., Fernando, F.S., Tarlton, A., Andressen, C., Addicks, K., Magni, G., Ribchester, R.R., Perry, V.H. & Coleman, M.P. (2001) Wallerian degeneration of injured axons and synapses is delayed by a Ube4b/Nmnat chimeric gene. *Nat. Neurosci.*, 4, 1199-1206.
- Madison, R.D., Robinson, G.A. & Chadaram, S.R. (2007) The specificity of motor neurone regeneration (preferential reinnervation). *Acta Physiol (Oxf)*, **189**, 201-206.
- Madison, R.D., Zomorodi, A. & Robinson, G.A. (2000) Netrin-1 and peripheral nerve regeneration in the adult rat. *Exp. Neurol.*, **161**, 563-570.
- Madrigal, J.L., Moro, M.A., Lizasoain, I., Lorenzo, P., Castrillo, A., Bosca, L. & Leza, J.C. (2001) Inducible nitric oxide synthase expression in brain cortex after acute restraint stress is regulated by nuclear factor kappaB-mediated mechanisms. J. Neurochem., 76, 532-538.

- Maglione, D., Guerriero, V., Viglietto, G., Delli-Bovi, P. & Persico, M.G. (1991) Isolation of a human placenta cDNA coding for a protein related to the vascular permeability factor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, 88, 9267-9271.
- Maglione, D., Guerriero, V., Viglietto, G., Ferraro, M.G., Aprelikova, O., Alitalo, K., Del Vecchio, S., Lei, K.J., Chou, J.Y. & Persico, M.G. (1993) Two alternative mRNAs coding for the angiogenic factor, placenta growth factor (PIGF), are transcribed from a single gene of chromosome 14. Oncogene, 8, 925-931.
- Makinen, T., Olofsson, B., Karpanen, T., Hellman, U., Soker, S., Klagsbrun, M., Eriksson, U. & Alitalo, K. (1999) Differential binding of vascular endothelial growth factor B splice and proteolytic isoforms to neuropilin-1. J. Biol. Chem., 274, 21217-21222.
- Mamluk, R., Gechtman, Z., Kutcher, M.E., Gasiunas, N., Gallagher, J. & Klagsbrun, M. (2002) Neuropilin-1 binds vascular endothelial growth factor 165, placenta growth factor-2, and heparin via its b1b2 domain. J. Biol. Chem., 277, 24818-24825.
- Mani, N., Khaibullina, A., Krum, J.M. & Rosenstein, J.M. (2005) Astrocyte growth effects of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) application to perinatal neocortical explants: receptor mediation and signal transduction pathways. *Exp. Neurol.*, **192**, 394-406.
- Mantuano, E., Inoue, G., Li, X., Takahashi, K., Gaultier, A., Gonias, S.L. & Campana, W.M. (2008) The hemopexin domain of matrix metalloproteinase-9 activates cell signaling and promotes migration of schwann cells by binding to low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein. J. Neurosci., 28, 11571-11582.
- Martini, R. (1994) Expression and functional roles of neural cell surface molecules and extracellular matrix components during development and regeneration of peripheral nerves. J. Neurocytol., 23, 1-28.
- Martini, R. & Schachner, M. (1997) Molecular bases of myelin formation as revealed by investigations on mice deficient in glial cell surface molecules. *Glia*, **19**, 298-310.
- Marz, P., Heese, K., Dimitriades-Schmutz, B., Rose-John, S. & Otten, U. (1999) Role of interleukin-6 and soluble IL-6 receptor in region-specific induction of astrocytic differentiation and neurotrophin expression. *Glia*, 26, 191-200.
- Matthews, W., Jordan, C.T., Gavin, M., Jenkins, N.A., Copeland, N.G. & Lemischka, I.R. (1991) A receptor tyrosine kinase cDNA isolated from a population of enriched primitive hematopoietic cells and exhibiting close genetic linkage to c-kit. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, **88**, 9026-9030.
- Mattson, M.P. & Meffert, M.K. (2006) Roles for NF-kappaB in nerve cell survival, plasticity, and disease. *Cell Death Differ.*, **13**, 852-860.
- McKerracher, L., David, S., Jackson, D.L., Kottis, V., Dunn, R.J. & Braun, P.E. (1994) Identification of myelinassociated glycoprotein as a major myelin-derived inhibitor of neurite growth. *Neuron*, **13**, 805-811.
- Memet, S. (2006) NF-kappaB functions in the nervous system: from development to disease. *Biochem. Pharmacol.*, **72**, 1180-1195.
- Meunier, A., Latremoliere, A., Dominguez, E., Mauborgne, A., Philippe, S., Hamon, M., Mallet, J., Benoliel, J.J. & Pohl, M. (2007) Lentiviral-mediated targeted NF-kappaB blockade in dorsal spinal cord glia attenuates sciatic nerve injury-induced neuropathic pain in the rat. *Mol Ther*, 15, 687-697.
- Michailov, G.V., Sereda, M.W., Brinkmann, B.G., Fischer, T.M., Haug, B., Birchmeier, C., Role, L., Lai, C., Schwab, M.H. & Nave, K.A. (2004) Axonal neuregulin-1 regulates myelin sheath thickness. *Science*, 304, 700-703.
- Migdal, M., Huppertz, B., Tessler, S., Comforti, A., Shibuya, M., Reich, R., Baumann, H. & Neufeld, G. (1998) Neuropilin-1 is a placenta growth factor-2 receptor. *J. Biol. Chem.*, **273**, 22272-22278.

- Milligan, C.E., Levitt, P. & Cunningham, T.J. (1991) Brain macrophages and microglia respond differently to lesions of the developing and adult visual system. *J. Comp. Neurol.*, **314**, 136-146.
- Moon, C., Liu, B.Q., Kim, S.Y., Kim, E.J., Park, Y.J., Yoo, J.Y., Han, H.S., Bae, Y.C. & Ronnett, G.V. (2009) Leukemia inhibitory factor promotes olfactory sensory neuronal survival via phosphoinositide 3-kinase pathway activation and Bcl-2. *J. Neurosci. Res.*, 87, 1098-1106.
- Moore, D.L., Blackmore, M.G., Hu, Y., Kaestner, K.H., Bixby, J.L., Lemmon, V.P. & Goldberg, J.L. (2009) KLF family members regulate intrinsic axon regeneration ability. *Science*, **326**, 298-301.
- Morgenstern, D.A., Asher, R.A. & Fawcett, J.W. (2002) Chondroitin sulphate proteoglycans in the CNS injury response. *Prog. Brain Res.*, **137**, 313-332.
- Mould, A.W., Tonks, I.D., Cahill, M.M., Pettit, A.R., Thomas, R., Hayward, N.K. & Kay, G.F. (2003) Vegfb gene knockout mice display reduced pathology and synovial angiogenesis in both antigen-induced and collagen-induced models of arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.*, **48**, 2660-2669.
- Moynagh, P.N., Williams, D.C. & O'Neill, L.A. (1993) Interleukin-1 activates transcription factor NF kappa B in glial cells. *Biochem. J.*, 294 (Pt 2), 343-347.
- Mukhopadhyay, G., Doherty, P., Walsh, F.S., Crocker, P.R. & Filbin, M.T. (1994) A novel role for myelinassociated glycoprotein as an inhibitor of axonal regeneration. *Neuron*, **13**, 757-767.
- Muller, Y.A., Li, B., Christinger, H.W., Wells, J.A., Cunningham, B.C. & de Vos, A.M. (1997) Vascular endothelial growth factor: crystal structure and functional mapping of the kinase domain receptor binding site. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, 94, 7192-7197.
- Murwani, R. & Armati, P. (1998) Peripheral nerve fibroblasts as a source of IL-6, TNFalpha and IL-1 and their modulation by IFNgamma. J. Neurol. Sci., 161, 99-109.
- Nakajima, K., Kikuchi, Y., Ikoma, E., Honda, S., Ishikawa, M., Liu, Y. & Kohsaka, S. (1998) Neurotrophins regulate the function of cultured microglia. *Glia*, **24**, 272-289.
- Nash, A.D., Baca, M., Wright, C. & Scotney, P.D. (2006) The biology of vascular endothelial growth factor-B (VEGF-B). *Pulm. Pharmacol. Ther.*, **19**, 61-69.
- Neufeld, G., Cohen, T., Shraga, N., Lange, T., Kessler, O. & Herzog, Y. (2002a) The neuropilins: multifunctional semaphorin and VEGF receptors that modulate axon guidance and angiogenesis. *Trends Cardiovasc. Med.*, **12**, 13-19.
- Neufeld, G., Kessler, O. & Herzog, Y. (2002b) The interaction of Neuropilin-1 and Neuropilin-2 with tyrosinekinase receptors for VEGF. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.*, **515**, 81-90.
- Nicholson, G.C., Tennant, R.C., Carpenter, D.C., Sarau, H.M., Kon, O.M., Barnes, P.J., Salmon, M., Vessey, R.S., Tal-Singer, R. & Hansel, T.T. (2007) A novel flow cytometric assay of human whole blood neutrophil and monocyte CD11b levels: upregulation by chemokines is related to receptor expression, comparison with neutrophil shape change, and effects of a chemokine receptor (CXCR2) antagonist. *Pulm. Pharmacol. Ther.*, **20**, 52-59.
- Nickols, J.C., Valentine, W., Kanwal, S. & Carter, B.D. (2003) Activation of the transcription factor NF-kappaB in Schwann cells is required for peripheral myelin formation. *Nat. Neurosci.*, **6**, 161-167.
- Niederberger, E. & Geisslinger, G. (2008) The IKK-NF-kappaB pathway: a source for novel molecular drug targets in pain therapy? *FASEB J.*, **22**, 3432-3442.
- Nomura, M., Yamagishi, S., Harada, S., Yamashima, T., Yamashita, J. & Yamamoto, H. (1998) Placenta growth factor (PIGF) mRNA expression in brain tumors. *J. Neurooncol.*, **40**, 123-130.
- O'Dea, E. & Hoffmann, A. (2010) The regulatory logic of the NF-kappaB signaling system. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol*, **2**, a000216.

- Oberg, C., Waltenberger, J., Claesson-Welsh, L. & Welsh, M. (1994) Expression of protein tyrosine kinases in islet cells: possible role of the Flk-1 receptor for beta-cell maturation from duct cells. *Growth Factors*, 10, 115-126.
- Odorisio, T., Schietroma, C., Zaccaria, M.L., Cianfarani, F., Tiveron, C., Tatangelo, L., Failla, C.M. & Zambruno, G. (2002) Mice overexpressing placenta growth factor exhibit increased vascularization and vessel permeability. *J. Cell Sci.*, **115**, 2559-2567.
- Ogata, T., Yamamoto, S., Nakamura, K. & Tanaka, S. (2006) Signaling axis in schwann cell proliferation and differentiation. *Mol. Neurobiol.*, **33**, 51-62.
- Ogawa, S., Oku, A., Sawano, A., Yamaguchi, S., Yazaki, Y. & Shibuya, M. (1998) A novel type of vascular endothelial growth factor, VEGF-E (NZ-7 VEGF), preferentially utilizes KDR/Flk-1 receptor and carries a potent mitotic activity without heparin-binding domain. J. Biol. Chem., 273, 31273-31282.
- Ogunshola, O.O., Antic, A., Donoghue, M.J., Fan, S.Y., Kim, H., Stewart, W.B., Madri, J.A. & Ment, L.R. (2002) Paracrine and autocrine functions of neuronal vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) in the central nervous system. *J. Biol. Chem.*, **277**, 11410-11415.
- Oh, S.J., Jeltsch, M.M., Birkenhager, R., McCarthy, J.E., Weich, H.A., Christ, B., Alitalo, K. & Wilting, J. (1997) VEGF and VEGF-C: specific induction of angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis in the differentiated avian chorioallantoic membrane. *Dev. Biol.*, 188, 96-109.
- Olofsson, B., Korpelainen, E., Pepper, M.S., Mandriota, S.J., Aase, K., Kumar, V., Gunji, Y., Jeltsch, M.M., Shibuya, M., Alitalo, K. & Eriksson, U. (1998) Vascular endothelial growth factor B (VEGF-B) binds to VEGF receptor-1 and regulates plasminogen activator activity in endothelial cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, 95, 11709-11714.
- Olofsson, B., Pajusola, K., Kaipainen, A., von Euler, G., Joukov, V., Saksela, O., Orpana, A., Pettersson, R.F., Alitalo, K. & Eriksson, U. (1996) Vascular endothelial growth factor B, a novel growth factor for endothelial cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, 93, 2576-2581.
- Osheroff, P.L., Tsai, S.P., Chiang, N.Y., King, K.L., Li, R., Lewis, G.D., Wong, K., Henzel, W. & Mather, J. (1999) Receptor binding and biological activity of mammalian expressed sensory and motor neuronderived factor (SMDF). *Growth Factors*, 16, 241-253.
- Otrock, Z.K., Makarem, J.A. & Shamseddine, A.I. (2007) Vascular endothelial growth factor family of ligands and receptors: review. *Blood Cells. Mol. Dis.*, **38**, 258-268.
- Oura, H., Bertoncini, J., Velasco, P., Brown, L.F., Carmeliet, P. & Detmar, M. (2003) A critical role of placental growth factor in the induction of inflammation and edema formation. *Blood*, **101**, 560-567.
- Pahl, H.L. (1999) Activators and target genes of Rel/NF-kappaB transcription factors. Oncogene, 18, 6853-6866.
- Pajusola, K., Aprelikova, O., Armstrong, E., Morris, S. & Alitalo, K. (1993) Two human FLT4 receptor tyrosine kinase isoforms with distinct carboxy terminal tails are produced by alternative processing of primary transcripts. *Oncogene*, 8, 2931-2937.
- Park, J.E., Chen, H.H., Winer, J., Houck, K.A. & Ferrara, N. (1994) Placenta growth factor. Potentiation of vascular endothelial growth factor bioactivity, in vitro and in vivo, and high affinity binding to Flt-1 but not to Flk-1/KDR. J. Biol. Chem., 269, 25646-25654.
- Park, J.S., Gamboni-Robertson, F., He, Q., Svetkauskaite, D., Kim, J.Y., Strassheim, D., Sohn, J.W., Yamada, S., Maruyama, I., Banerjee, A., Ishizaka, A. & Abraham, E. (2006) High mobility group box 1 protein interacts with multiple Toll-like receptors. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*, **290**, C917-924.
- Parmantier, E., Lynn, B., Lawson, D., Turmaine, M., Namini, S.S., Chakrabarti, L., McMahon, A.P., Jessen, K.R. & Mirsky, R. (1999) Schwann cell-derived Desert hedgehog controls the development of peripheral nerve sheaths. *Neuron*, 23, 713-724.

- Parrinello, S., Napoli, I., Ribeiro, S., Digby, P.W., Fedorova, M., Parkinson, D.B., Doddrell, R.D., Nakayama, M., Adams, R.H. & Lloyd, A.C. (2010) EphB signaling directs peripheral nerve regeneration through Sox2-dependent Schwann cell sorting. *Cell*, 143, 145-155.
- Partanen, T.A., Arola, J., Saaristo, A., Jussila, L., Ora, A., Miettinen, M., Stacker, S.A., Achen, M.G. & Alitalo, K. (2000) VEGF-C and VEGF-D expression in neuroendocrine cells and their receptor, VEGFR-3, in fenestrated blood vessels in human tissues. *FASEB J.*, 14, 2087-2096.
- Patel, N., Sundaram, N., Yang, M., Madigan, C., Kalra, V.K. & Malik, P. (2010) Placenta growth factor (PIGF), a novel inducer of plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1) in sickle cell disease (SCD). J. Biol. Chem., 285, 16713-16722.
- Pazyra-Murphy, M.F., Hans, A., Courchesne, S.L., Karch, C., Cosker, K.E., Heerssen, H.M., Watson, F.L., Kim, T., Greenberg, M.E. & Segal, R.A. (2009) A retrograde neuronal survival response: target-derived neurotrophins regulate MEF2D and bcl-w. J. Neurosci., 29, 6700-6709.
- Pearlman, J.D., Hibberd, M.G., Chuang, M.L., Harada, K., Lopez, J.J., Gladstone, S.R., Friedman, M., Sellke, F.W. & Simons, M. (1995) Magnetic resonance mapping demonstrates benefits of VEGF-induced myocardial angiogenesis. *Nat. Med.*, 1, 1085-1089.
- Perelman, N., Selvaraj, S.K., Batra, S., Luck, L.R., Erdreich-Epstein, A., Coates, T.D., Kalra, V.K. & Malik, P. (2003) Placenta growth factor activates monocytes and correlates with sickle cell disease severity. *Blood*, **102**, 1506-1514.
- Perrin, F.E., Lacroix, S., Aviles-Trigueros, M. & David, S. (2005) Involvement of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1, macrophage inflammatory protein-1alpha and interleukin-1beta in Wallerian degeneration. *Brain*, **128**, 854-866.
- Persico, M.G., Vincenti, V. & DiPalma, T. (1999) Structure, expression and receptor-binding properties of placenta growth factor (PIGF). *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol.*, **237**, 31-40.
- Pertusa, M., Morenilla-Palao, C., Carteron, C., Viana, F. & Cabedo, H. (2007) Transcriptional control of cholesterol biosynthesis in Schwann cells by axonal neuregulin 1. *J. Biol. Chem.*, **282**, 28768-28778.
- Pettersson, A., Nagy, J.A., Brown, L.F., Sundberg, C., Morgan, E., Jungles, S., Carter, R., Krieger, J.E., Manseau, E.J., Harvey, V.S., Eckelhoefer, I.A., Feng, D., Dvorak, A.M., Mulligan, R.C. & Dvorak, H.F. (2000) Heterogeneity of the angiogenic response induced in different normal adult tissues by vascular permeability factor/vascular endothelial growth factor. *Lab. Invest.*, **80**, 99-115.
- Pineau, I. & Lacroix, S. (2009) Endogenous signals initiating inflammation in the injured nervous system. *Glia*, **57**, 351-361.
- Pipp, F., Heil, M., Issbrucker, K., Ziegelhoeffer, T., Martin, S., van den Heuvel, J., Weich, H., Fernandez, B., Golomb, G., Carmeliet, P., Schaper, W. & Clauss, M. (2003) VEGFR-1-selective VEGF homologue PIGF is arteriogenic: evidence for a monocyte-mediated mechanism. *Circul. Res.*, 92, 378-385.
- Pizzi, M., Goffi, F., Boroni, F., Benarese, M., Perkins, S.E., Liou, H.C. & Spano, P. (2002) Opposing roles for NF-kappa B/Rel factors p65 and c-Rel in the modulation of neuron survival elicited by glutamate and interleukin-1beta. J. Biol. Chem., 277, 20717-20723.
- Plate, K.H., Breier, G., Millauer, B., Ullrich, A. & Risau, W. (1993) Up-regulation of vascular endothelial growth factor and its cognate receptors in a rat glioma model of tumor angiogenesis. *Cancer Res.*, 53, 5822-5827.
- Poesen, K., Lambrechts, D., Van Damme, P., Dhondt, J., Bender, F., Frank, N., Bogaert, E., Claes, B., Heylen, L., Verheyen, A., Raes, K., Tjwa, M., Eriksson, U., Shibuya, M., Nuydens, R., Van Den Bosch, L., Meert, T., D'Hooge, R., Sendtner, M., Robberecht, W. & Carmeliet, P. (2008) Novel role for vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) receptor-1 and its ligand VEGF-B in motor neuron degeneration. J. Neurosci., 28, 10451-10459.

- Popovich, P.G. & Hickey, W.F. (2001) Bone marrow chimeric rats reveal the unique distribution of resident and recruited macrophages in the contused rat spinal cord. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol., 60, 676-685.
- Prewett, M., Huber, J., Li, Y., Santiago, A., O'Connor, W., King, K., Overholser, J., Hooper, A., Pytowski, B., Witte, L., Bohlen, P. & Hicklin, D.J. (1999) Antivascular endothelial growth factor receptor (fetal liver kinase 1) monoclonal antibody inhibits tumor angiogenesis and growth of several mouse and human tumors. *Cancer Res.*, **59**, 5209-5218.
- Puschel, A.W., Adams, R.H. & Betz, H. (1995) Murine semaphorin D/collapsin is a member of a diverse gene family and creates domains inhibitory for axonal extension. *Neuron*, 14, 941-948.
- Pyykonen, I. & Koistinaho, J. (1991) c-fos protein like immunoreactivity in non-neuronal cells of rat peripheral nerve after transection. *Acta Neuropathol*, **82**, 66-71.
- Quinn, T.P., Peters, K.G., De Vries, C., Ferrara, N. & Williams, L.T. (1993) Fetal liver kinase 1 is a receptor for vascular endothelial growth factor and is selectively expressed in vascular endothelium. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, 90, 7533-7537.
- Quintes, S., Goebbels, S., Saher, G., Schwab, M.H. & Nave, K.A. (2010) Neuron-glia signaling and the protection of axon function by Schwann cells. J. Peripher. Nerv. Syst., 15, 10-16.
- Ramer, M.S., Thompson, S.W. & McMahon, S.B. (1999) Causes and consequences of sympathetic basket formation in dorsal root ganglia. *Pain*, Suppl 6, S111-120.
- Ramón y Cajal, S. (1928) Degeneration and regeneration of the nervous system. Translated by R.M. May. . London: Oxford University Press
- Reichert, F., Levitzky, R. & Rotshenker, S. (1996) Interleukin 6 in intact and injured mouse peripheral nerves. *Eur. J. Neurosci.*, **8**, 530-535.
- Reichert, F., Saada, A. & Rotshenker, S. (1994) Peripheral nerve injury induces Schwann cells to express two macrophage phenotypes: phagocytosis and the galactose-specific lectin MAC-2. J. Neurosci., 14, 3231-3245.
- Ribatti, D. (2008) The discovery of the placental growth factor and its role in angiogenesis: a historical review. *Angiogenesis*, **11**, 215-221.
- Rissanen, T.T., Markkanen, J.E., Gruchala, M., Heikura, T., Puranen, A., Kettunen, M.I., Kholova, I., Kauppinen, R.A., Achen, M.G., Stacker, S.A., Alitalo, K. & Yla-Herttuala, S. (2003) VEGF-D is the strongest angiogenic and lymphangiogenic effector among VEGFs delivered into skeletal muscle via adenoviruses. *Circul. Res.*, 92, 1098-1106.
- Rogister, B., Delree, P., Leprince, P., Martin, D., Sadzot, C., Malgrange, B., Munaut, C., Rigo, J.M., Lefebvre, P.P., Octave, J.N. & et al. (1993) Transforming growth factor beta as a neuronoglial signal during peripheral nervous system response to injury. *J. Neurosci. Res.*, **34**, 32-43.
- Romeo, P.H., Lemarchandel, V. & Tordjman, R. (2002) Neuropilin-1 in the immune system. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol., 515, 49-54.
- Rosen, L.S. (2001) Angiogenesis inhibition in solid tumors. Cancer J, 7 Suppl 3, S120-128.
- Roy, H., Bhardwaj, S. & Yla-Herttuala, S. (2006) Biology of vascular endothelial growth factors. *FEBS Lett.*, 580, 2879-2887.
- Ruiz de Almodovar, C., Lambrechts, D., Mazzone, M. & Carmeliet, P. (2009) Role and therapeutic potential of VEGF in the nervous system. *Physiol. Rev.*, 89, 607-648.
- Ruohonen, S., Khademi, M., Jagodic, M., Taskinen, H.S., Olsson, T. & Roytta, M. (2005) Cytokine responses during chronic denervation. *J Neuroinflammation*, 2, 26.

- Saada, A., Reichert, F. & Rotshenker, S. (1996) Granulocyte macrophage colony stimulating factor produced in lesioned peripheral nerves induces the up-regulation of cell surface expression of MAC-2 by macrophages and Schwann cells. J. Cell Biol., 133, 159-167.
- Saharinen, P., Tammela, T., Karkkainen, M.J. & Alitalo, K. (2004) Lymphatic vasculature: development, molecular regulation and role in tumor metastasis and inflammation. *Trends Immunol*, **25**, 387-395.
- Sakurai, K. & Osumi, N. (2008) The neurogenesis-controlling factor, Pax6, inhibits proliferation and promotes maturation in murine astrocytes. *J. Neurosci.*, **28**, 4604-4612.
- Sarnico, I., Lanzillotta, A., Boroni, F., Benarese, M., Alghisi, M., Schwaninger, M., Inta, I., Battistin, L., Spano, P. & Pizzi, M. (2009) NF-kappaB p50/RelA and c-Rel-containing dimers: opposite regulators of neuron vulnerability to ischaemia. J. Neurochem., 108, 475-485.
- Satake, S., Kuzuya, M., Miura, H., Asai, T., Ramos, M.A., Muraguchi, M., Ohmoto, Y. & Iguchi, A. (1998) Upregulation of vascular endothelial growth factor in response to glucose deprivation. *Biol. Cell.*, 90, 161-168.
- Sato, Y., Kanno, S., Oda, N., Abe, M., Ito, M., Shitara, K. & Shibuya, M. (2000) Properties of two VEGF receptors, Flt-1 and KDR, in signal transduction. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci., 902, 201-205; discussion 205-207.
- Sawada, T., Sano, M., Omura, T., Omura, K., Hasegawa, T., Funahashi, S. & Nagano, A. (2007) Spatiotemporal quantification of tumor necrosis factor-alpha and interleukin-10 after crush injury in rat sciatic nerve utilizing immunohistochemistry. *Neurosci. Lett.*, 417, 55-60.
- Scaffidi, P., Misteli, T. & Bianchi, M.E. (2002) Release of chromatin protein HMGB1 by necrotic cells triggers inflammation. *Nature*, **418**, 191-195.
- Scarlato, M., Ara, J., Bannerman, P., Scherer, S. & Pleasure, D. (2003) Induction of neuropilins-1 and -2 and their ligands, Sema3A, Sema3F, and VEGF, during Wallerian degeneration in the peripheral nervous system. *Exp. Neurol.*, **183**, 489-498.
- Schafers, M., Schmidt, C., Vogel, C., Toyka, K.V. & Sommer, C. (2002) Tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF) regulates the expression of ICAM-1 predominantly through TNF receptor 1 after chronic constriction injury of mouse sciatic nerve. *Acta Neuropathol*, **104**, 197-205.
- Scherer, S.S., Kamholz, J. & Jakowlew, S.B. (1993) Axons modulate the expression of transforming growth factor-betas in Schwann cells. *Glia*, 8, 265-276.
- Schmucker, C., Ehlken, C., Hansen, L.L., Antes, G., Agostini, H.T. & Lelgemann, M. (2010) Intravitreal bevacizumab (Avastin) vs. ranibizumab (Lucentis) for the treatment of age-related macular degeneration: a systematic review. *Curr. Opin. Ophthalmol.*, 21, 218-226.
- Schoettler, N. & Brahn, E. (2009) Angiogenesis inhibitors for the treatment of chronic autoimmune inflammatory arthritis. *Curr Opin Investig Drugs*, **10**, 425-433.
- Scholzke, M.N., Potrovita, I., Subramaniam, S., Prinz, S. & Schwaninger, M. (2003) Glutamate activates NFkappaB through calpain in neurons. *Eur. J. Neurosci.*, 18, 3305-3310.
- Schratzberger, P., Schratzberger, G., Silver, M., Curry, C., Kearney, M., Magner, M., Alroy, J., Adelman, L.S., Weinberg, D.H., Ropper, A.H. & Isner, J.M. (2000) Favorable effect of VEGF gene transfer on ischemic peripheral neuropathy. *Nat. Med.*, 6, 405-413.
- Schwarz, Q., Gu, C., Fujisawa, H., Sabelko, K., Gertsenstein, M., Nagy, A., Taniguchi, M., Kolodkin, A.L., Ginty, D.D., Shima, D.T. & Ruhrberg, C. (2004) Vascular endothelial growth factor controls neuronal migration and cooperates with Sema3A to pattern distinct compartments of the facial nerve. *Genes Dev.*, 18, 2822-2834.

- Schweizer, U., Gunnersen, J., Karch, C., Wiese, S., Holtmann, B., Takeda, K., Akira, S. & Sendtner, M. (2002) Conditional gene ablation of Stat3 reveals differential signaling requirements for survival of motoneurons during development and after nerve injury in the adult. J. Cell Biol., 156, 287-297.
- Selvaraj, S.K., Giri, R.K., Perelman, N., Johnson, C., Malik, P. & Kalra, V.K. (2003) Mechanism of monocyte activation and expression of proinflammatory cytochemokines by placenta growth factor. *Blood*, **102**, 1515-1524.
- Senger, D.R., Galli, S.J., Dvorak, A.M., Perruzzi, C.A., Harvey, V.S. & Dvorak, H.F. (1983) Tumor cells secrete a vascular permeability factor that promotes accumulation of ascites fluid. *Science*, **219**, 983-985.
- Shalaby, F., Rossant, J., Yamaguchi, T.P., Gertsenstein, M., Wu, X.F., Breitman, M.L. & Schuh, A.C. (1995) Failure of blood-island formation and vasculogenesis in Flk-1-deficient mice. *Nature*, **376**, 62-66.
- Shamash, S., Reichert, F. & Rotshenker, S. (2002) The cytokine network of Wallerian degeneration: tumor necrosis factor-alpha, interleukin-1alpha, and interleukin-1beta. J. Neurosci., 22, 3052-3060.
- Sharghi-Namini, S., Turmaine, M., Meier, C., Sahni, V., Umehara, F., Jessen, K.R. & Mirsky, R. (2006) The structural and functional integrity of peripheral nerves depends on the glial-derived signal desert hedgehog. J. Neurosci., 26, 6364-6376.
- Shen, H., Clauss, M., Ryan, J., Schmidt, A.M., Tijburg, P., Borden, L., Connolly, D., Stern, D. & Kao, J. (1993) Characterization of vascular permeability factor/vascular endothelial growth factor receptors on mononuclear phagocytes. *Blood*, 81, 2767-2773.
- Shen, Y.J., DeBellard, M.E., Salzer, J.L., Roder, J. & Filbin, M.T. (1998) Myelin-associated glycoprotein in myelin and expressed by Schwann cells inhibits axonal regeneration and branching. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.*, 12, 79-91.
- Shibuya, M. (2009) Unique signal transduction of the VEGF family members VEGF-A and VEGF-E. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.*, **37**, 1161-1166.
- Shibuya, M., Yamaguchi, S., Yamane, A., Ikeda, T., Tojo, A., Matsushime, H. & Sato, M. (1990) Nucleotide sequence and expression of a novel human receptor-type tyrosine kinase gene (flt) closely related to the fms family. *Oncogene*, **5**, 519-524.
- Shubayev, V.I., Angert, M., Dolkas, J., Campana, W.M., Palenscar, K. & Myers, R.R. (2006) TNFalpha-induced MMP-9 promotes macrophage recruitment into injured peripheral nerve. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.*, **31**, 407-415.
- Shuman, S.L., Bresnahan, J.C. & Beattie, M.S. (1997) Apoptosis of microglia and oligodendrocytes after spinal cord contusion in rats. J. Neurosci. Res., **50**, 798-808.
- Shweiki, D., Itin, A., Soffer, D. & Keshet, E. (1992) Vascular endothelial growth factor induced by hypoxia may mediate hypoxia-initiated angiogenesis. *Nature*, **359**, 843-845.
- Siebert, H. & Bruck, W. (2003) The role of cytokines and adhesion molecules in axon degeneration after peripheral nerve axotomy: a study in different knockout mice. *Brain Res.*, **960**, 152-156.
- Siebert, H., Dippel, N., Mader, M., Weber, F. & Bruck, W. (2001) Matrix metalloproteinase expression and inhibition after sciatic nerve axotomy. *J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol.*, **60**, 85-93.
- Siebert, H., Sachse, A., Kuziel, W.A., Maeda, N. & Bruck, W. (2000) The chemokine receptor CCR2 is involved in macrophage recruitment to the injured peripheral nervous system. *J. Neuroimmunol.*, **110**, 177-185.
- Silvestre, J.S., Tamarat, R., Ebrahimian, T.G., Le-Roux, A., Clergue, M., Emmanuel, F., Duriez, M., Schwartz, B., Branellec, D. & Levy, B.I. (2003) Vascular endothelial growth factor-B promotes in vivo angiogenesis. *Circul. Res.*, 93, 114-123.

- Simpson, C.S. & Morris, B.J. (2000) Regulation of neuronal cell adhesion molecule expression by NF-kappa B. *J. Biol. Chem.*, **275**, 16879-16884.
- Simpson, D.A., Murphy, G.M., Bhaduri, T., Gardiner, T.A., Archer, D.B. & Stitt, A.W. (1999) Expression of the VEGF gene family during retinal vaso-obliteration and hypoxia. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 262, 333-340.
- Sketelj, J., Bresjanac, M. & Popovic, M. (1989) Rapid growth of regenerating axons across the segments of sciatic nerve devoid of Schwann cells. J. Neurosci. Res., 24, 153-162.
- Skobe, M., Hamberg, L.M., Hawighorst, T., Schirner, M., Wolf, G.L., Alitalo, K. & Detmar, M. (2001) Concurrent induction of lymphangiogenesis, angiogenesis, and macrophage recruitment by vascular endothelial growth factor-C in melanoma. *Am. J. Pathol.*, **159**, 893-903.
- Smith, D., Tweed, C., Fernyhough, P. & Glazner, G.W. (2009) Nuclear factor-kappaB activation in axons and Schwann cells in experimental sciatic nerve injury and its role in modulating axon regeneration: studies with etanercept. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol., 68, 691-700.
- Soker, S., Takashima, S., Miao, H.Q., Neufeld, G. & Klagsbrun, M. (1998) Neuropilin-1 is expressed by endothelial and tumor cells as an isoform-specific receptor for vascular endothelial growth factor. *Cell*, **92**, 735-745.
- Sommer, C., Schmidt, C. & George, A. (1998) Hyperalgesia in experimental neuropathy is dependent on the TNF receptor 1. *Exp. Neurol.*, **151**, 138-142.
- Sondell, M. & Kanje, M. (2001) Postnatal expression of VEGF and its receptor flk-1 in peripheral ganglia. *Neuroreport*, **12**, 105-108.
- Sondell, M., Lundborg, G. & Kanje, M. (1999a) Vascular endothelial growth factor has neurotrophic activity and stimulates axonal outgrowth, enhancing cell survival and Schwann cell proliferation in the peripheral nervous system. J. Neurosci., 19, 5731-5740.
- Sondell, M., Lundborg, G. & Kanje, M. (1999b) Vascular endothelial growth factor stimulates Schwann cell invasion and neovascularization of acellular nerve grafts. *Brain Res.*, **846**, 219-228.
- Sondell, M., Sundler, F. & Kanje, M. (2000) Vascular endothelial growth factor is a neurotrophic factor which stimulates axonal outgrowth through the flk-1 receptor. *Eur. J. Neurosci.*, **12**, 4243-4254.
- Sone, H., Kawakami, Y., Sakauchi, M., Nakamura, Y., Takahashi, A., Shimano, H., Okuda, Y., Segawa, T., Suzuki, H. & Yamada, N. (2001) Neutralization of vascular endothelial growth factor prevents collagen-induced arthritis and ameliorates established disease in mice. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 281, 562-568.
- Srinivasan, D., Yen, J.H., Joseph, D.J. & Friedman, W. (2004) Cell type-specific interleukin-1beta signaling in the CNS. J. Neurosci., 24, 6482-6488.
- Stoll, G., Griffin, J.W., Li, C.Y. & Trapp, B.D. (1989) Wallerian degeneration in the peripheral nervous system: participation of both Schwann cells and macrophages in myelin degradation. J. Neurocytol., 18, 671-683.
- Stone, J., Itin, A., Alon, T., Pe'er, J., Gnessin, H., Chan-Ling, T. & Keshet, E. (1995) Development of retinal vasculature is mediated by hypoxia-induced vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) expression by neuroglia. J. Neurosci., 15, 4738-4747.
- Su, J.J., Osoegawa, M., Matsuoka, T., Minohara, M., Tanaka, M., Ishizu, T., Mihara, F., Taniwaki, T. & Kira, J. (2006) Upregulation of vascular growth factors in multiple sclerosis: correlation with MRI findings. J. Neurol. Sci., 243, 21-30.
- Subang, M.C. & Richardson, P.M. (2001) Influence of injury and cytokines on synthesis of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 mRNA in peripheral nervous tissue. *Eur. J. Neurosci.*, **13**, 521-528.

- Sun, S.C., Ganchi, P.A., Ballard, D.W. & Greene, W.C. (1993) NF-kappa B controls expression of inhibitor I kappa B alpha: evidence for an inducible autoregulatory pathway. *Science*, **259**, 1912-1915.
- Sun, Y., Jin, K., Childs, J.T., Xie, L., Mao, X.O. & Greenberg, D.A. (2004) Increased severity of cerebral ischemic injury in vascular endothelial growth factor-B-deficient mice. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab., 24, 1146-1152.
- Sun, Y., Jin, K., Childs, J.T., Xie, L., Mao, X.O. & Greenberg, D.A. (2006) Vascular endothelial growth factor-B (VEGFB) stimulates neurogenesis: evidence from knockout mice and growth factor administration. *Dev. Biol.*, 289, 329-335.
- Sun, Y., Jin, K., Xie, L., Childs, J., Mao, X.O., Logvinova, A. & Greenberg, D.A. (2003) VEGF-induced neuroprotection, neurogenesis, and angiogenesis after focal cerebral ischemia. J. Clin. Invest., 111, 1843-1851.
- Svaren, J. & Meijer, D. (2008) The molecular machinery of myelin gene transcription in Schwann cells. *Glia*, **56**, 1541-1551.
- Sweitzer, S.M., Colburn, R.W., Rutkowski, M. & DeLeo, J.A. (1999) Acute peripheral inflammation induces moderate glial activation and spinal IL-1beta expression that correlates with pain behavior in the rat. *Brain Res.*, **829**, 209-221.
- Takahashi, A., Sasaki, H., Kim, S.J., Tobisu, K., Kakizoe, T., Tsukamoto, T., Kumamoto, Y., Sugimura, T. & Terada, M. (1994) Markedly increased amounts of messenger RNAs for vascular endothelial growth factor and placenta growth factor in renal cell carcinoma associated with angiogenesis. *Cancer Res.*, 54, 4233-4237.
- Takeda, Y., Uemura, S., Iwama, H., Imagawa, K., Nishida, T., Onoue, K., Takemoto, Y., Soeda, T., Okayama, S., Somekawa, S., Ishigami, K., Takaoka, M., Kawata, H., Kubo, A., Horii, M., Nakajima, T. & Saito, Y. (2009) Treatment with recombinant placental growth factor (PIGF) enhances both angiogenesis and arteriogenesis and improves survival after myocardial infarction. *Circ J*, **73**, 1674-1682.
- Tamatani, M., Che, Y.H., Matsuzaki, H., Ogawa, S., Okado, H., Miyake, S., Mizuno, T. & Tohyama, M. (1999) Tumor necrosis factor induces Bcl-2 and Bcl-x expression through NFkappaB activation in primary hippocampal neurons. J. Biol. Chem., 274, 8531-8538.
- Tammela, T., Enholm, B., Alitalo, K. & Paavonen, K. (2005) The biology of vascular endothelial growth factors. *Cardiovasc. Res.*, 65, 550-563.
- Tammela, T., Zarkada, G., Wallgard, E., Murtomaki, A., Suchting, S., Wirzenius, M., Waltari, M., Hellstrom, M., Schomber, T., Peltonen, R., Freitas, C., Duarte, A., Isoniemi, H., Laakkonen, P., Christofori, G., Yla-Herttuala, S., Shibuya, M., Pytowski, B., Eichmann, A., Betsholtz, C. & Alitalo, K. (2008) Blocking VEGFR-3 suppresses angiogenic sprouting and vascular network formation. *Nature*, 454, 656-660.
- Taniuchi, M., Clark, H.B., Schweitzer, J.B. & Johnson, E.M., Jr. (1988) Expression of nerve growth factor receptors by Schwann cells of axotomized peripheral nerves: ultrastructural location, suppression by axonal contact, and binding properties. J. Neurosci., 8, 664-681.
- Taskinen, H.S., Olsson, T., Bucht, A., Khademi, M., Svelander, L. & Roytta, M. (2000) Peripheral nerve injury induces endoneurial expression of IFN-gamma, IL-10 and TNF-alpha mRNA. J. Neuroimmunol., 102, 17-25.
- Taskinen, H.S. & Roytta, M. (2000) Increased expression of chemokines (MCP-1, MIP-1alpha, RANTES) after peripheral nerve transection. J. Peripher. Nerv. Syst., 5, 75-81.
- Taveggia, C., Zanazzi, G., Petrylak, A., Yano, H., Rosenbluth, J., Einheber, S., Xu, X., Esper, R.M., Loeb, J.A., Shrager, P., Chao, M.V., Falls, D.L., Role, L. & Salzer, J.L. (2005) Neuregulin-1 type III determines the ensheathment fate of axons. *Neuron*, 47, 681-694.

- Tegeder, I., Niederberger, E., Schmidt, R., Kunz, S., Guhring, H., Ritzeler, O., Michaelis, M. & Geisslinger, G. (2004) Specific Inhibition of IkappaB kinase reduces hyperalgesia in inflammatory and neuropathic pain models in rats. J. Neurosci., 24, 1637-1645.
- Thomson, C.E., Griffiths, I.R., McCulloch, M.C., Kyriakides, E., Barrie, J.A. & Montague, P. (1993) In vitro studies of axonally-regulated Schwann cell genes during Wallerian degeneration. *J. Neurocytol.*, **22**, 590-602.
- Tjwa, M., Luttun, A., Autiero, M. & Carmeliet, P. (2003) VEGF and PIGF: two pleiotropic growth factors with distinct roles in development and homeostasis. *Cell Tissue Res.*, **314**, 5-14.
- Toews, A.D., Barrett, C. & Morell, P. (1998) Monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 is responsible for macrophage recruitment following injury to sciatic nerve. J. Neurosci. Res., 53, 260-267.
- Tofaris, G.K., Patterson, P.H., Jessen, K.R. & Mirsky, R. (2002) Denervated Schwann cells attract macrophages by secretion of leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF) and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 in a process regulated by interleukin-6 and LIF. *J. Neurosci.*, **22**, 6696-6703.
- Tolwani, R.J., Cosgaya, J.M., Varma, S., Jacob, R., Kuo, L.E. & Shooter, E.M. (2004) BDNF overexpression produces a long-term increase in myelin formation in the peripheral nervous system. J. Neurosci. Res., 77, 662-669.
- Tsopanoglou, N.E. & Maragoudakis, M.E. (1999) On the mechanism of thrombin-induced angiogenesis. Potentiation of vascular endothelial growth factor activity on endothelial cells by up-regulation of its receptors. J. Biol. Chem., 274, 23969-23976.
- Tsuda, M., Shigemoto-Mogami, Y., Koizumi, S., Mizokoshi, A., Kohsaka, S., Salter, M.W. & Inoue, K. (2003) P2X4 receptors induced in spinal microglia gate tactile allodynia after nerve injury. *Nature*, 424, 778-783.
- Valable, S., Montaner, J., Bellail, A., Berezowski, V., Brillault, J., Cecchelli, R., Divoux, D., Mackenzie, E.T., Bernaudin, M., Roussel, S. & Petit, E. (2005) VEGF-induced BBB permeability is associated with an MMP-9 activity increase in cerebral ischemia: both effects decreased by Ang-1. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab., 25, 1491-1504.
- van Bruggen, N., Thibodeaux, H., Palmer, J.T., Lee, W.P., Fu, L., Cairns, B., Tumas, D., Gerlai, R., Williams, S.P., van Lookeren Campagne, M. & Ferrara, N. (1999) VEGF antagonism reduces edema formation and tissue damage after ischemia/reperfusion injury in the mouse brain. J. Clin. Invest., 104, 1613-1620.
- Vargas, M.E. & Barres, B.A. (2007) Why is Wallerian degeneration in the CNS so slow? Annu. Rev. Neurosci., 30, 153-179.
- Veronesi, B. & Boyes, W.K. (1988) Morphometric and electrophysiological evidence for a diameter-based rate of degeneration in the optic nerve of the rat. *Exp. Neurol.*, **101**, 176-189.
- Viatour, P., Merville, M.P., Bours, V. & Chariot, A. (2005) Phosphorylation of NF-kappaB and IkappaB proteins: implications in cancer and inflammation. *Trends Biochem. Sci.*, **30**, 43-52.
- Voros, G., Maquoi, E., Demeulemeester, D., Clerx, N., Collen, D. & Lijnen, H.R. (2005) Modulation of angiogenesis during adipose tissue development in murine models of obesity. *Endocrinology*, 146, 4545-4554.
- Wagner, R. & Myers, R.R. (1996) Endoneurial injection of TNF-alpha produces neuropathic pain behaviors. *Neuroreport*, 7, 2897-2901.
- Waller, A. (1850) Experiments on the section of the glossopharyngeal and hypoglossal nerves of the frog, and observations of the alterations produced thereby in the structure of their primitive fibres. *Philos Trans R* Soc Lond 140, 423-429.

- Weber, K.S., Klickstein, L.B. & Weber, C. (1999) Specific activation of leukocyte beta2 integrins lymphocyte function-associated antigen-1 and Mac-1 by chemokines mediated by distinct pathways via the alpha subunit cytoplasmic domains. *Mol. Biol. Cell*, **10**, 861-873.
- Weinberg, H.J. & Spencer, P.S. (1978) The fate of Schwann cells isolated from axonal contact. J. Neurocytol., 7, 555-569.
- Willis, D., Li, K.W., Zheng, J.Q., Chang, J.H., Smit, A., Kelly, T., Merianda, T.T., Sylvester, J., van Minnen, J. & Twiss, J.L. (2005) Differential transport and local translation of cytoskeletal, injury-response, and neurodegeneration protein mRNAs in axons. J. Neurosci., 25, 778-791.
- Winkelmann, A. (2007) Wilhelm von Waldeyer-Hartz (1836-1921): an anatomist who left his mark. *Clin. Anat.*, **20**, 231-234.
- Wise, L.M., Veikkola, T., Mercer, A.A., Savory, L.J., Fleming, S.B., Caesar, C., Vitali, A., Makinen, T., Alitalo, K. & Stacker, S.A. (1999) Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)-like protein from orf virus NZ2 binds to VEGFR2 and neuropilin-1. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, 96, 3071-3076.
- Wood, J.N. (1995) Regulation of NF-kappa B activity in rat dorsal root ganglia and PC12 cells by tumour necrosis factor and nerve growth factor. *Neurosci. Lett.*, **192**, 41-44.
- Yamauchi, J., Miyamoto, Y., Chan, J.R. & Tanoue, A. (2008) ErbB2 directly activates the exchange factor Dock7 to promote Schwann cell migration. *J. Cell Biol.*, **181**, 351-365.
- Yamazaki, Y. & Morita, T. (2006) Molecular and functional diversity of vascular endothelial growth factors. *Mol. Divers.*, **10**, 515-527.
- Yamazaki, Y., Takani, K., Atoda, H. & Morita, T. (2003) Snake venom vascular endothelial growth factors (VEGFs) exhibit potent activity through their specific recognition of KDR (VEGF receptor 2). J. Biol. Chem., 278, 51985-51988.
- Yamazaki, Y., Tokunaga, Y., Takani, K. & Morita, T. (2005) Identification of the heparin-binding region of snake venom vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF-F) and its blocking of VEGF-A165. *Biochemistry (Mosc).* 44, 8858-8864.
- Yang, D.P., Zhang, D.P., Mak, K.S., Bonder, D.E., Pomeroy, S.L. & Kim, H.A. (2008) Schwann cell proliferation during Wallerian degeneration is not necessary for regeneration and remyelination of the peripheral nerves: axon-dependent removal of newly generated Schwann cells by apoptosis. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.*, 38, 80-88.
- Yang, R., Thomas, G.R., Bunting, S., Ko, A., Ferrara, N., Keyt, B., Ross, J. & Jin, H. (1996) Effects of vascular endothelial growth factor on hemodynamics and cardiac performance. J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol., 27, 838-844.
- Yang, W., Ahn, H., Hinrichs, M., Torry, R.J. & Torry, D.S. (2003) Evidence of a novel isoform of placenta growth factor (PIGF-4) expressed in human trophoblast and endothelial cells. J. Reprod. Immunol., 60, 53-60.
- Yang, X. & Cepko, C.L. (1996) Flk-1, a receptor for vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), is expressed by retinal progenitor cells. J. Neurosci., 16, 6089-6099.
- Yano, K., Liaw, P.C., Mullington, J.M., Shih, S.C., Okada, H., Bodyak, N., Kang, P.M., Toltl, L., Belikoff, B., Buras, J., Simms, B.T., Mizgerd, J.P., Carmeliet, P., Karumanchi, S.A. & Aird, W.C. (2006) Vascular endothelial growth factor is an important determinant of sepsis morbidity and mortality. *J. Exp. Med.*, 203, 1447-1458.
- Yasuhara, T., Shingo, T., Kobayashi, K., Takeuchi, A., Yano, A., Muraoka, K., Matsui, T., Miyoshi, Y., Hamada, H. & Date, I. (2004) Neuroprotective effects of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) upon dopaminergic neurons in a rat model of Parkinson's disease. *Eur. J. Neurosci.*, 19, 1494-1504.

- Yoo, S.A., Yoon, H.J., Kim, H.S., Chae, C.B., De Falco, S., Cho, C.S. & Kim, W.U. (2009) Role of placenta growth factor and its receptor flt-1 in rheumatoid inflammation: a link between angiogenesis and inflammation. *Arthritis Rheum.*, 60, 345-354.
- Yuan, L., Moyon, D., Pardanaud, L., Breant, C., Karkkainen, M.J., Alitalo, K. & Eichmann, A. (2002) Abnormal lymphatic vessel development in neuropilin 2 mutant mice. *Development*, **129**, 4797-4806.
- Zabel, U. & Baeuerle, P.A. (1990) Purified human I kappa B can rapidly dissociate the complex of the NF-kappa B transcription factor with its cognate DNA. *Cell*, **61**, 255-265.
- Zachary, I. & Gliki, G. (2001) Signaling transduction mechanisms mediating biological actions of the vascular endothelial growth factor family. *Cardiovasc. Res.*, **49**, 568-581.
- Zachary, I.C., Frankel, P., Evans, I.M. & Pellet-Many, C. (2009) The role of neuropilins in cell signalling. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.*, **37**, 1171-1178.
- Zhai, Q., Wang, J., Kim, A., Liu, Q., Watts, R., Hoopfer, E., Mitchison, T., Luo, L. & He, Z. (2003) Involvement of the ubiquitin-proteasome system in the early stages of wallerian degeneration. *Neuron*, **39**, 217-225.
- Zhang, H., Palmer, R., Gao, X., Kreidberg, J., Gerald, W., Hsiao, L., Jensen, R.V., Gullans, S.R. & Haber, D.A. (2003) Transcriptional activation of placental growth factor by the forkhead/winged helix transcription factor FoxD1. *Curr. Biol.*, **13**, 1625-1629.
- Zhang, Z.G., Zhang, L., Jiang, Q., Zhang, R., Davies, K., Powers, C., Bruggen, N. & Chopp, M. (2000) VEGF enhances angiogenesis and promotes blood-brain barrier leakage in the ischemic brain. J. Clin. Invest., 106, 829-838.
- Zhao, Q., Egashira, K., Inoue, S., Usui, M., Kitamoto, S., Ni, W., Ishibashi, M., Hiasa Ki, K., Ichiki, T., Shibuya, M. & Takeshita, A. (2002) Vascular endothelial growth factor is necessary in the development of arteriosclerosis by recruiting/activating monocytes in a rat model of long-term inhibition of nitric oxide synthesis. *Circulation*, **105**, 1110-1115.
- Zhou, X.F., Rush, R.A. & McLachlan, E.M. (1996) Differential expression of the p75 nerve growth factor receptor in glia and neurons of the rat dorsal root ganglia after peripheral nerve transection. J. Neurosci., 16, 2901-2911.
- Zhu, C.S., Hu, X.Q., Xiong, Z.J., Lu, Z.Q., Zhou, G.Y. & Wang, D.J. (2008) Adenoviral delivery of soluble VEGF receptor 1 (sFlt-1) inhibits experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in dark Agouti (DA) rats. *Life Sci.*, 83, 404-412.
- Zhu, Y., Culmsee, C., Klumpp, S. & Krieglstein, J. (2004) Neuroprotection by transforming growth factor-betal involves activation of nuclear factor-kappaB through phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase/Akt and mitogen-activated protein kinase-extracellular-signal regulated kinase1,2 signaling pathways. *Neuroscience*, **123**, 897-906.
- Zhu, Y., Jin, K., Mao, X.O. & Greenberg, D.A. (2003) Vascular endothelial growth factor promotes proliferation of cortical neuron precursors by regulating E2F expression. *FASEB J.*, 17, 186-193.

Section VIII

Appendices





Involvement of Placental Growth Factor in Wallerian Degeneration

LINDA CHABALLE,¹ PIERRE CLOSE,² MAXIME SEMPELS,¹ STÉPHANIE DELSTANCHE,¹ JULIEN FANIELLE,¹ LIEVE MOONS,³ PETER CARMELIET,⁴ JEAN SCHOENEN,¹ ALAIN CHARIOT,² AND RACHELLE FRANZEN^{1*}

¹GIGA Neurosciences, Axonal Regeneration and Cephalic Pain unit, University of Liege, Avenue de l'Hopital, Liege, Belgium
 ²GIGA Signal Transduction, Laboratory of Medical Chemistry, University of Liege, Avenue de l'Hopital, Liege, Belgium
 ³Laboratory of Neural Circuit Development and Regeneration, Zoological Institute KU Leuven, Naamsestraat, Leuven, Belgium
 ⁴Vesalius Research Center, VIB, Leuven, Belgium and Vesalius Research Center, KU Leuven Herestraat, Leuven, Belgium

KEY WORDS

PNS injury; inflammation; Schwann cell; cytokine; NF-κB

ABSTRACT

Wallerian degeneration (WD) is an inflammatory process of nerve degeneration, which occurs more rapidly in the peripheral nervous system compared with the central nervous system, resulting, respectively in successful and aborted axon regeneration. In the peripheral nervous system, Schwann cells (SCs) and macrophages, under the control of a network of cytokines and chemokines, represent the main cell types involved in this process. Within this network, the role of placental growth factor (PIGF) remains totally unknown. However, properties like monocyte activation/ attraction, ability to increase expression of pro-inflammatory molecules, as well as neuroprotective effects, make it a candidate likely implicated in this process. Also, nothing is described about the expression and localization of this molecule in the peripheral nervous system. To address these original questions, we decided to study PIGF expression under physiological and degenerative conditions and to explore its role in WD, using a model of sciatic nerve transection in wild-type and $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice. Our data show dynamic changes of PIGF expression, from periaxonal in normal nerve to SCs 24h postinjury, in parallel with a p65/ $NF{\boldsymbol{\cdot}}\kappa B$ recruitment on Pgf promoter. After injury, SC proliferation is reduced by 30% in absence of PIGF. Macrophage invasion is significantly delayed in $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice compared with wild-type mice, which results in worse functional recovery. MCP-1 and proMMP-9 exhibit a 3-fold reduction of their relative expressions in $Pgf^{-/-}$ injured nerves, as demonstrated by cytokine array. In conclusion, this work originally describes PIGF as a novel member of the cytokine network of WD. © 2010 Wiley-Liss, Inc.

INTRODUCTION

Wallerian degeneration (WD) is the active process of degradation of the nerve segment distal to the lesion site. First described in 1850 (Waller, 1850), WD is critical for successful axonal regeneration and occurs more rapidly in the peripheral than in the central nervous system, where axonal regeneration fails (Lawson et al., 1994; Perry et al., 1987). The sequence of degenerative events comprises cellular and molecular changes, and requires effective Schwann cell (SC) and macrophage

responses (Stoll et al., 1989). Indeed, following injury, SCs dedifferentiate, proliferate, and align in "bands of Büngner" providing structural guidance and growthpromoting substrates to regenerating axons (Vargas and Barres, 2007). SCs also participate in the clearance of myelin debris, which occurs during the first few days postinjury (Stoll et al., 1989) and release a wide variety of chemokines and cytokines, which in turn recruit circulating macrophages to the degenerating nerve (Shamash et al., 2002; Siebert et al., 2000; Tofaris et al., 2002). Macrophages mediate the second phase of myelin debris removal, a type-3 complement receptor-dependent mechanism (CR-3/Mac-1/CD11b) (Slobodov et al., 2001). All these events are orchestrated by a network of cytokines and chemokines, of which the induction is partly regulated by the activation of the transcription nuclear factor kappa B (NF-kB) signaling pathway (Fu et al., 2010; Subang and Richardson, 2001), as well as by neurotrophic factors, secreted both by SCs and macrophages: interleukin-1beta (IL1-β) (Perrin et al., 2005; Shamash et al., 2002), IL-6 (Bolin et al., 1995), tumornecrosis factor alpha (TNF- α) (Shamash et al., 2002), monocyte chemotactic protein-1 (MCP-1) (Perrin et al., 2005), macrophage inflammatory protein-1 alpha (MIP- $1\alpha)$ (Perrin et al., 2005), nerve growth factor (NGF) (Funakoshi et al., 1993) and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) (Scarlato et al., 2003). Placental growth factor (PlGF), belonging to the VEGF family, has not been implicated in WD up to now. Identified in 1991 in the placenta (Maglione et al., 1991), PlGF has also been detected in heart, lung, thyroid, skeletal muscle (Persico et al., 1999) and brain (Beck et al., 2002). There are 3 isoforms of PlGF in humans, but only one, PlGF-2, is present in mice (DiPalma et al., 1996). Mice

DOI 10.1002/glia.21108

Published online 6 December 2010 in Wiley Online Library (wileyonlinelibrary. com).

Grant sponsor: K.U.Leuven (Federal Government-Belgium); Grant number: IUAP06/30; Grant sponsor: Methusalem funding (Flemish Government, Concerted Research Activities); Grant number: GOA2006/11; Grant sponsors: National Fund for Scientific Research (Belgium), Charcot Foundation (Belgium), "Gunter Verbraeckel" Foundation (private foundation, Belgium), ABMM association from Belgium, "Leon Fredericq" foundation (University of Liege).

^{*}Correspondence to: Franzen Rachelle, GIGA Neurosciences, Axonal Regeneration and Cephalic Pain Unit, University of Liege, Tour de Pathologie B36, +1, Avenue de l'Hôpital, 1, 4000 Liege, Belgium. E-mail: rfranzen@ulg.ac.be

Received 23 June 2010; Accepted 18 October 2010

in which the PIGF gene has been deleted ($Pgf^{-/-}$ mice) do not exhibit any defects in development or reproduction, but show impaired angiogenesis in pathological conditions (Autiero et al., 2003a,b; Carmeliet et al.,2001; Ribatti, 2008). PIGF is produced by activated endothelial cells (ECs), inflammatory cells, bone marrow cells, as well as neurons (Beck et al., 2002; Luttun et al., 2002). Interestingly, PIGF displays pro-inflammatory properties: it mobilizes macrophages, has a chemotactic activity on blood monocytes (Clauss et al., 1996) and increases mRNA expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines such as TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-8, MCP-1, MIP-1α, and VEGF (Bottomley et al., 2000; Perelman et al., 2003; Selvaraj et al., 2003). Recently, PIGF was found to have neuroprotective and angiogenic effects in cerebral ischemia (Liu et al., 2006), but its precise role in the nervous system remains elusive.

Considering the above-described properties of PIGF, we decided to study its expression in peripheral nerves under physiological and degenerative conditions, to investigate the signaling pathway that regulates its expression and to explore its role in the inflammatory context of WD, using a model of sciatic nerve transection in adult wild-type (wt) and $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice.

MATERIALS AND METHODS Animals

Adult (10–12 weeks), 50%Swiss-50%129SV female wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice were used (Vesalius Research Center, Pr Carmeliet, KUL, Belgium). The experiments were performed in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Ethical Committee for animal research of the Belgian National Fund for Scientific Research.

Surgical Procedure: Sciatic Nerve Complete Transection

Mice were anesthetized by intraperitoneal (i.p.) injection of a mixture of ketamine (75 mg/kg; Ketalar[®], Bayer HealthCare, Brussel, Belgium) and xylazine (10 mg/kg; Rompun[®], Pfizer, Brussel, Belgium). Under aseptic conditions, sciatic nerves were exposed and WD induced by a complete axotomy of the nerves at the upthigh level. Proximal and distal stumps were left in their original position to allow axonal regeneration. Muscles and skin were carefully closed in two layers.

Tissue Processing

Mice were killed after different survival times (1, 3, 7, 14, 21, and 28 days postinjury) by an overdose of Nembutal (150 mg/kg, i.p., CEVA Santé Animale, Brussel, Belgium) and the distal parts of the transected sciatic nerves were freshly harvested, embedded in Tissue-Tek[®] O.C.T.TM Compound (Labonord SAS, Templemars, France) and directly frozen. Ten micrometer-thick longi-

tudinal or transverse sections were collected onto gelatin-coated slides, and stored at $-20^\circ\mathrm{C}$ until used.

Dorsal root ganglions (DRG) from the lumbar segment were harvested from uninjured mice, directly frozen, before being cryosectioned for further immunofluorescent staining.

Primary Schwann Cell Culture

Adult SCs were isolated from sciatic and trigeminal nerves of wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice as described (Bouquet et al., 2007). After careful dissection under sterile conditions, nerves were left for 2 weeks in degeneration medium: DMEM, 10% foetal bovine serum, Fungizone (2.5 mg/mL, GIBCO[®], InvitrogenTM, Carlsbad, CA), Forskolin (2 mM, Calbiochem®, Darmstadt, Germany), Gentamycine (50 mg/mL, GIBCO) and Heregulin-B1 (10 ng/ mL, HRG; R&D Systems GmbH, Wiesbaden, Germany) at 37°C, 5% CO₂. After enzymatic and mechanical dissociation, cells were plated on precoated poly-L-lysine (50 µg/mL, Sigma-Aldrich, Saint Louis, MO) and laminin (10µg/mL, Sigma-Aldrich) T25 culture dishes and incubated at 37°C, 5% CO_2 in $N2^{HRG}$ medium: 50% DMEM 50% F12 supplemented with N2 (GIBCO[®]), gentamycin (50µg/mL), fungizone (2.5 µg/mL), forskolin (2µM), and HRG (10 ng/mL). At confluence, SCs were purified by magnetic cell-sorting using the anti-low affinity NGF receptor (p75NGFr; AB1554; 1/200; Millipore, Temecula, CA) antibody (Ab), according to the manufacturer's instructions (Miltenyi Biotech GmbH, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany).

Immunofluorescent Stainings

To characterize PIGF expression, double immunofluorescenct stainings for PIGF (sc-27134; 1:50; Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA, Taylor and Goldenberg, 2007) and NF-H (MAB5448/clone TA51; 1:500; Millipore, De Girolamo et al., 2000) for axons, Neu-N (MAB377/ clone A60; 1:250; Millipore, Borsani et al., 2010) for neuronal cell nuclei, S100 (ZO311; 1/200; DakoCytomation, Gould et al., 1986) for quiescent SCs, p75NGFr (AB1554; 1/200; Millipore, Runyan and Phelps, 2009) for proliferating SCs, von Willebrand factor (**vWF**; AB6994; 1/2000; Abcam, Yin et al., 2010) for endothelial cells, patched-1 (Ptc-1; sc-9016/H-267; 1/50; Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Chen et al., 2007) for fibroblasts, CD11b (MCA74; 1/250; Serotec, Springer et al., 1979) for macrophages, P0 (AB9352; 1/50; Millipore) for peripheral myelin, were performed. After drying, tissue sections were fixed in cold acetone for 10 min at 4°C. Nonspecific binding was prevented by 1h incubation in 10% normal serum solution in 0.1% triton-PBS (0.1 M, pH 7.4). Sections were then incubated overnight at room temperature (RT) with the specific primary Abs, rinsed 3 times with PBS and incubated with their respective secondary Abs coupled with rhodamine or FITC (1/500, Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories, West Grove, Pennsylva-



Fig. 1. Confirmation of PIGF Ab specificity. (A) PIGF immunostaining on transverse section of sciatic nerve. (B) Negative control: nerve section stained with anti-PIGF Ab preincubated with its specific blocking peptide. (C) PIGF immunostaining on placenta used as positive control tissue and (D) on liver used as negative control tissue. Scale bar: $60\mu m$.

nia), for 1h at RT. Sections were then rinsed twice in PBS, twice in distilled water, and mounted under coverslips using vectashield solution (Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA). To assess the specificity of the anti-PIGF Ab, negative controls were obtained by incubation of the primary Ab with its specific blocking peptide (sc-27134 P; Santa Cruz Biotechnology) before applying it on the tissue sections. Also, specific positive (placenta) and negative (liver) tissues for PIGF were used to confirm this specificity (Fig. 1).

Prediction of NF-κB Binding Sites and Luc Assay

To identify NF- κ B binding sites, computational analysis of the promoter sequence of mouse *Pgf* gene (Green et al., 2001) was performed using four different programs designed to look for transcription factor binding sites (MatInspector program, MatchTM program, Promo, TFSEARCH).

For luciferase assays, the region including the two κB sites were inserted into the pGL3-Promoter Vector (Promega). 293 cells (4 \times 10⁵ cells per well) were seeded in 6-well (35 mm) plates. After 12 h, cells were transfected as described above with 0.5 µg of either the Pgf- κB -luciferase or the Ig- κB -luciferase (Leonardi et al., 2000) and with expression plasmids as indicated. The total amount of transfected DNA was kept constant by

adding empty expression vector DNA as needed. Cell extracts were prepared 24 h after transfection, and reporter gene activity was determined by using Dual-Luciferase Reporter Assay System (Promega). The pRL Vector (40 ng), which provides constitutive expression of *Renilla* luciferase, was used to normalize for transfection efficiencies.

Chromatin Immunoprecipitation (ChIP) Assay

Sciatic nerves (from uninjured [UI] and 24h postinjured wt mice) were surgically removed from four adult mice per condition, minced and immediately fixed in PBS containing 1% paraformaldehyde (PFA) for 25 min at RT. The nerves were washed twice with cold PBS containing protease inhibitors (CompleteTM, Roche Applied Science, Mannheim, Germany) and then homogenized into 1.5 mL of lysis buffer (1% SDS, 10 mM EDTA, 50 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0, protease inhibitors). The lysates were sonicated for 15 min with alternating 30-s pulses at high power with a Bioruptor sonicator (Diagenode, Liege, Belgium), and then centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 5 min. The protein concentration of lysates was measured using the BCA protein assay kit (ThermoScientific, Rockford, Illinois). Inputs were kept for later analysis. Lysates were diluted 10 times into dilution buffer (1% Triton X-100, 150 mM NaCl, 2 mM EDTA, 20 mM Tris-

TABLE 1. Quantitative PCR probe informations

Amplicon	Gene	Primer	Oligonucl.
name	localization	type	Sequence (5'-3')
PlGF kB1 site PlGF kB2 site PlGF gene	-908 to -1015 -1041 to -1120 624 to 753	Reverse Forward Reverse Forward Reverse Forward	ACGTGCCTCCAGAACCGTCC CCAGGTGCCCCGAGGTGTTT CTCCTGTCAGGTCAG

HCl pH 8.0, protease inhibitors). The sheared chromatin was incubated with $4\mu g$ of anti-NF- κB subunit p65 (p65; sc-109, Santa Cruz Biotechnology) or anti-Flag (used as negative control; F3165, Sigma-Aldrich) at 4°C on a rotating platform overnight. The immune complexes were incubated for 2 hours at 4°C with Protein A-agarose beads (Santa Cruz Biotechnology) blocked with BSA (100 µg/mL) and shared salmon sperm DNA (500 $\mu g/mL$; InvitrogenTM). The immunoprecipitates were then washed three times with 1 mL low salt washing buffer (1% triton X-100, 0.1% SDS, 150 mM NaCl, 2 mM EDTA, 20 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0, protease inhibitors), once with 1 mL high salt washing buffer (same buffer but containing 500 mM NaCl), once with 1 mL LiCl buffer (0.25 M LiCl, 1% IGEPAL CA630 (Sigma-Aldrich), 1 mM EDTA, 1% deoxycholic acid, 10 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0), and finally once 1 mL with TE buffer (10 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0, 1 mM EDTA). Immunoprecipitated (IP) chromatin was eluted in 250 µL elution buffer (1% SDS, 0.1 M NaHCO₃) for 15 min at RT, twice. Chromatin inputs were also diluted in elution buffer. Protein-DNA cross-links were reversed by incubation with 20 μ L of 5 M NaCl at 65°C for 4h and proteins were digested by addition of 10 µL of 0.5 M EDTA, 20 µL of 1M Tris-HCl pH 6.5 and 20µg of proteinase K (Promega, Madison, Wisconsin) and incubation 1h at 45°C. DNA was purified with phenol/chloroform (Sigma-Aldrich) using Phase Lock GelTM tube (Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany). The aqueous phase was incubated 1h at -20°C after the addition of 45 µL of 3 M NaAC pH 5.5, 30 µg of glycogen (Roche Applied Science) and 1 mL of absolute ethanol and then centrifuged 5 min at 13,000 rpm. The DNA pellets were washed with 70% ethanol, resuspended in 100 µL of DNase-free distilled water. Quantitative PCR (using SYBR green PCR master mix; Applied Biosystems) was performed to analyse the IP DNA. Signals were normalized to respective inputs and compared with negative control (anti-Flag IP). The primers (Eurogentec, Seraing, Belgium) used to amplify specific KB sites of *Pgf* gene are resumed in Table 1.

Axonal Regeneration Study

To evaluate axonal regeneration, longitudinal sections from the distal part of injured sciatic nerves were fluorescently stained with anti-NF-H Ab as described above. For the quantification, nonoverlapping successive fields covering the entire tissue sections (which means the whole length of the distal part) were taken using Olympus DP50 digital camera connected to an Olympus AX-70 microscope (magnification 10x). The mean number of fields/section was similar between wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice (7.47 \pm 0.76 and 7.54 \pm 0.64, respectively), resulting in comparable total tissue length. Each field was then allocated to one of the following group: (i) field containing a majority of debris and few regenerating profiles; (iii) field containing scarce debris and a majority of regenerating fibers; and (iv) field containing only regenerating fibers. Data were expressed as a mean proportion of field numbers in each of those 4 groups per total nerve section (%)± standard error.

Motor Recovery Evaluation

Before lesion and at 3, 7, 10, 14, 17 and 21 days following unilateral left sciatic nerve axotomy, mice were allowed to walk down a 60cm long corridor lined with graph paper after inking their hind paws. For each animal (5 wt and 5 $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice), at every time point, at least four clear footprints were obtained for each foot. Measurements of print length were then made on the operated side (OPL) and the normal side (NPL). A mean of four values was then calculated for the OPL (xOPL) and NPL (xNPL), and a print-length factor (PLF) was calculated as follows: PLF = (xOPL - xNPL)/xNPL (George et al., 2003).

Quantification of Schwann Cell Proliferation

In vivo

Longitudinal sections of sciatic nerves were stained with anti-Ki67 Ab according to the above-described protocol (NCL-Ki67p; 1/250; NovocastraTM, Leica Microsystems GmbH). Ki67 positive SC nuclei (magnification 20x) were manually counted within nonoverlapping successive fields covering the entire nerve section, and results were expressed as a mean number \pm standard error of Ki67 positive SC nuclei per mm² of nerve tissue.

In vitro

Cultured SCs were plated on coated glass coverslips at a concentration of 25,000 cells/300 μ L. 20 μ M bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU; Sigma-Aldrich) was directly added to the cultures for 16h before fixation in 4% PFA for 10min. Cells were treated in HCl 2N for 10min at 37°C and then washed in borate buffer (0.1M; pH 8.5). Cells were permeabilised and nonspecific binding was prevented by 1h incubation in 10% normal serum 0.1% triton-PBS solution. Then cells were incubated overnight with anti-BrdU Ab (OBT0030; 1/250; Serotec) and antip75NGFr Ab to assess the purity of SC culture. After 3 PBS washes, cells were incubated with their respective

PLGF IN WALLERIAN DEGENERATION

TABLE 2. RT-PCR probe informations

Gene	Primer type	Oligonucleotide sequence $(5'-3')$	PCR product size (bp)	Cycle nb
mPlGF	Reverse	TTCCCCTTGGTTTTCCTCCTT	130	45
GAPDH	Reverse Forward	GCCTTCTCCATGGTGGTGGAAGAC GACCCCTTCATTGACCTCAACTACATG	210	25



Fig. 2. Double immunofluorescent stainings on uninjured sciatic nerve $(\mathbf{A}-\mathbf{D})$ and dorsal root ganglion (\mathbf{E}) sections. PIGF (Rhodamine) and NF (A, B), P0 (C), Ptc-1 (D), NeuN (E) (FITC) double immunofluorescent stainings, on transverse (A, C, D) and longitudinal (B) sections of uninjured sciatic nerve. PIGF is expressed in axons and has a peri-

axonal expression pattern (A, B). However, PIGF is not present in the myelin sheath, as no co-localization could be seen with P0 (C). Finally, besides its periaxonal localization, PIGF is also expressed by fibroblasts in the endoneurium (D, arrows show PIGF/Ptc-1 labelled fibroblasts, and * design axons). Scale bar: A, C, D: 20 μ m; B: 10 μ m, E: 50 μ m.

secondary Abs coupled with rhodamine or FITC, for 1h at RT. Coverslips were then rinsed in PBS and distilled water, and mounted on slides using vectashield solution containing DAPI to visualize all nuclei for the determination of the total cell number. Double-stained

p75NGFr/BrdU cells and total number of p75NGFr positive cells (magnification 20x) were manually counted within nonoverlapping successive fields, and results were expressed as a mean $\% \pm$ standard error of proliferating SCs.



Fig. 3. Double immunofluorescent stainings on normal and injured sciatic nerve sections. PIGF (Rhodamine) and S100 (A, A'), p75NGFr (B, B') or NF (C, D) (FITC) double immunostainings, on longitudinal sections of normal (A, A') and injured (distal segment, B, B', C, and D) sciatic nerves. PIGF is not expressed by myelinating SCs, as no co-local-

RT-PCR

RNA from cultured SCs was extracted with TRIzol[®] (InvitrogenTM) and isolated according to the manufacturer's protocol. PIGF and glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH, as internal control), mRNAs were amplified with aliquot of 20 ng of total RNA using a RT-PCR kit (GeneAmp Thermostable rTth reverse transcriptase RNA PCR kit; Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA) and appropriate "forward" and "reverse" primers (oligonucleotide sequences shown in Table 2; Eurogentec, Seraing, Belgium). Reverse transcription was performed at 70°C for 15 minutes followed by 2 minutes of incubation at 95°C for denaturation of RNA-DNA heteroduplexes. Amplification consisted in cycles of 15 seconds at 94°C, 20 seconds at 58°C, and 20 seconds at 72°C. RT-

proliferate after loss of axonal contact, express PIGF from the first day after injury (B, B'). Axonal PIGF expression decreases after injury, following the time course of axonal degradation (C). 28 days postinjury, PIGF reappears in the regenerating fibres (D). Scale bar: 60μ m.

ization is observed with S100 (A, A'). SCs, which dedifferentiate and

PCR products were resolved on 10% polyacrylamide gel, stained with GelStar (Lonza, Rockland, Maine).

DAB Immunostainings

Tissues were fixed with 4% PFA for 5 min, then incubated in a 0.3% H₂O₂, 0.1% Na azide solution in PBS for 20 min at RT to reduce endogenous peroxydase activity. Nonspecific binding was prevented by 1h incubation in 3% normal serum and 1% bovine serum albumin solutions in 0.1% triton-PBS. Sections were then incubated overnight at RT with the specific Abs: anti-p75NGFr (AB1554; 1/200; Millipore) to study SC dedifferentiation or anti-CD11b (MCA74; 1/250; Serotec) to study macrophage recruitment. After 3 PBS rinses, they were incu-

bated with their respective secondary biotinylated antibodies (Vector Laboratories) diluted and centrifuged in a 3% mouse normal serum and 1% BSA in 0.1% triton-PBS solution, for 1h at RT. Then sections were incubated 1h with the avidin-biotin-peroxydase complex (Vector Laboratories), diluted 1/1000 in PBS and the immunostaining revealed with 3,3'-diaminobenzidine.

Image Analysis

To quantify SC dedifferentiation, pictures (magnification 20x) were converted to gray scale. A threshold intensity of gray-colored staining was set and applied to each slice. Then, immunostaining was quantified within nonoverlapping successive fields covering the total nerve tissue area using the Olympus AnalySIS computer program. Data were expressed as the mean integral intensity \pm standard error of total stained area (pixel²) per total nerve tissue area (pixel²). For the macrophage recruitment quantification, CD11b-positive macrophages (magnification 10x) were manually counted within nonoverlapping successive fields covering the entire nerve section, and results were expressed as a mean number \pm standard error of CD11b-positive macrophages per 0.1 mm² of nerve tissue.

Toluidine Blue Staining

Mice were perfused with Karnovski solution containing 1% PFA and 1.25% glutaraldehyde in 0.2M Sorensen buffer (~ 750 mOsm). Sciatic nerves were carefully harvested and postfixed with Karnovski overnight at 4°C. After two washes in 0.1M Sorensen buffer, nerves were postfixed with 1% osmium in Sorensen buffer for 1h at 4°C. Sciatic nerves were progressively dehydrated in successive ethanol baths and then soaked in epoxypropane twice during 10 min each. Tissues were embedded in epon resin by soaking in a mixture of epoxypropane/ epon in proportions 2/1, then 1/1 and finally 1/2, 1h each. The resin was harded at 265°C for 2 days. The blocks were trimmed and semi-thin transverse sections (1 µm) were cut with a Leica Ultracut UCT microtome, picked up onto glass slides, and then dried on a hot plate at 60°C for 1h. To have a good dye impregnation in the tissue, sections were treated with 1% potassium tetraborate before staining with 0.5% toluidine blue. Intact myelin sheaths (magnification 40x) were manually counted within nonoverlapping successive fields covering the entire nerve section, and results were expressed as a mean number \pm standard error of intact myelin sheaths per 0.01 mm² of nerve tissue.

Cytokine Array

Expressions of IL-1 α , IL-1 β , IL-6, TNF- α , IL-10, VEGF, VEGF receptor-1 (VEGFr1), MCP-1, MIP-1 α and the pro-matrix metalloprotease-9 (proMMP-9) were



Fig. 4. NF-kB binding on Pgf gene promoter after sciatic nerve injury. (A) The prediction of NF- κB binding sites has revealed two putative κB motifs (grey letters) located at positions 994-1004 ($\kappa B1$) and 1075-1084 ($\kappa B2$) bps upstream the ATG translation initiation site of the mouse Pgf gene. (**B**) p65 is specifically recruited to the Pgf gene promoter after injury, as examined by chromatin immunoprecipitation assays using normal uninjured sciatic nerves (UI) or 1 day-injured sciatic nerves (1d). After normalization to inputs and to negative flag IP, signal in UI condition was set to 1 and the one obtained in injured condition was expressed relative to it. Results are from three independent experiments and error bars denote standard deviation. We observed no fold induction for the kB1 primers. (C) The κB sites found in the Pgf promoter are functional in activating NF-kB, as examined by Luciferase assay. Pgf-kB or Ig-kB (positive control) vectors were transfected in 293 cells, with or without the p50/p65 expression vectors, as indicated. Signals were normalized by measuring Renilla activity of a co-transfected pRL vector. For each vector, the value obtained in the absence of p50/p65 was set to 1 and the other was expressed relative to it. Results are from three independent experiments and error bars denote standard deviation.

measured in tissue extracts of UI and injured sciatic nerves from wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice using RayBio[®] Cytokine Antibody Arrays (RayBiotech, Norcross, Georgia). 200µg of total protein were used per sample. The cytokine array membranes were scanned with a Las-4000 luminescent image analyser (Fujifilm, Tokyo, Japan). The intensity of the signal was measured with the Quantity One 1-D Analysis software (Bio-RAD Laboratories, Hercules, CA). The results were expressed as the mean relative signal intensity, i.e. the ratio of sample signal intensity/positive control signal intensity. Each signal intensity of positive controls and samples was normalized by the background substraction.



Fig. 5. In vivo cell proliferation. (A) Ki67 immunoreactivity in longitudinal sections of wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ sciatic nerves 3 days after axotomy (scale bar: 50 µm). (B) Cell quantification shows a significant difference between wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice in the number of Ki67 positive cells 1 and 3 days postinjury. **P < 0.01; *P < 0.05 (mean ± SE; N = 5 mice per group).

Statistical Analysis

Means and standard errors for each experimental time point were calculated. Statistical significance was set at P < 0.05. The statistical significances between wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice were tested separately at each time points using a Student t-test (for CD11b, NGFr immunostaining and Toluidine blue quantifications).

To evaluate the group effect in motor recovery during time (foot-print data), we used Zerbe's nonparametric model, which compares both the global evolution of two groups and the values at the different time point separately. All quantifications were performed blind to the genotype. Statistical analyses were supervised by the Department of Biomedical Statistics of the University of Liege.

RESULTS PIGF Expression in Normal and Injured Adult Mouse Sciatic Nerve

To investigate PIGF expression in the normal nerve and after axotomy, we performed various double immunofluorescent stainings to screen all cell types and/or structures present in the nerve: axons, myelin, myelinating and proliferating SCs, fibroblasts, ECs, and invading macrophages.

within the axons of the normal sciatic nerve and more precisely at the periphery of axons (Fig. 2A,B). This expression is found in close contact with, but not within the myelin sheath, as no co-localization can be seen with the P0/PlGF double staining (Fig. 2C). Fibroblasts within the endoneurium, labeled with the Ptc-1 Ab, express PIGF (Fig. 2D). to further assess neuronal expression of PIGF, we also performed PIGF/NeuN double immunofluorescent staining on lumbar dorsal root ganglion sections, where neuronal cell bodies are located. This staining clearly shows that PIGF is expressed within the neuronal cell body (Fig. 2E). Finally, vWF Ab, used to identify endothelial cells, never co-localized with PIGF (data not shown). PIGF/S100 staining confirms that myelinating Schwann cells (SCs) do not express PIGF (Fig. 3A,A'). After nerve transection, the detection of proliferating SCs by immunostaining with p75NGFr interestingly shows that PIGF is seen in these cells as soon as 1 day postaxotomy (Fig. 3B,B') and persists during the first week after injury (data not shown). Concomitantly, PIGF is no more detectable in the degenerating fibres (Fig. 3C). When axonal regeneration occurs, starting as soon as 14 days postinjury, PlGF-positive fibres reappear in the distal segment of the sciatic nerve (Fig. 3D). Finally, after injury, no PlGF was observed in invading macrophages nor in ECs (data not shown).

Based on PIGF/NF double staining, PIGF is found



Fig. 6. In vitro Schwann cell proliferation. (A) BrdU (rhodamine)/ p75NGFr (FITC) immunostaining of wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ SCs after BrdU incorporation (scale bar: 50µm). (B) Quantification shows a significant decrease of $Pgf^{-/-}$ SC proliferation. *P < 0.05 (mean ± SE; N = 3 cul-

ture experiments). (C) Polyacrylamide gel showing PIGF (P) and GAPDH (G) RT-PCR amplification products from wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ cultured SCs. RT-PCR confirmed PIGF expression in wt SCs in culture conditions and, as expected, no expression in $Pgf^{-/-}$ SCs.

PIGF Expression Induction: Role of NF-кВ

During WD, one of the main transcription factor that regulates the cyto- and chemo-kine expression by SCs is NF-κB (Fu et al., 2010; Subang and Richardson, 2001). As we demonstrated that PIGF is expressed by SCs in a postinjury inflammatory context, we investigated the potential implication of NF-kB in the induction of PlGF expression during WD by ChIP assay. Firstly, we analysed the *Pgf* promoter sequence, using transcription factor binding site prediction programs, to identify putative κB motifs on the mouse Pgf promoter. We detected the presence of two putative NF-κB binding sites within the mouse Pgf promoter region (Fig. 4A). To investigate the NF-kB binding to these two kB motifs, we immunoprecipitated the chromatin, from UI and one day-injured sciatic nerves, using an anti-p65 Ab. DNA fragments of IP chromatin were amplified by quantitative PCR, using primers specifically designed to amplify predicted kB1 or $\kappa B2$ site (Table 1). The Fig. 4B shows a threefold increase in NF- κ B binding to the κ B2 site after injury compared with UI nerve controls, whereas no significant recruitment of NF- κ B was observed to the κ B1 site. To further prove that the sites were functional in activating gene expression, they were inserted into a luciferase reporter vector, transfected into 293 cells and NF- κ B activation was assessed upon co-transfection with two NF- κ B subunits, p50 and p65. As shown in the Fig. 4C, the κ B sites found in the *Pgf* promoter (Pgf- κ B) were indeed functional as the p50/p65 heterodimer induced luciferase gene expression (about 4-5 fold).

PIGF in WD

Role of PlGF on Schwann cell proliferation and formation of Büngners' bands

The WD process in the distal stump of the injured nerve is associated with activation and proliferation of SCs, which form the bands of Büngner and express



Fig. 7. P75NGFr immunostaining and quantification. (A) P75NGFr immunoreactivity in longitudinal sections of wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ sciatic nerves before (UI) and after axotomy (scale bar: 100µm). (B) Image analysis and staining quantification show a significant difference between wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice in the intensity of P75NGFr staining 7, 21 and 28 days postinjury. **P < 0.01; *P < 0.05 (mean ± SE; N = 5-9 mice per group).

p75NGFr. To assess the role of PIGF in these processes, we compared the proliferation of SCs within the sciatic nerves of wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice after axotomy. Using immunofluorescent staining against Ki67, a nuclear protein expressed in cells undergoing proliferation, we quantified the number of proliferating cells at 1, 3 and 7 days after axotomy in the distal stump of nerves from wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice (Fig. 5A,B). We found a significant decrease of cell proliferation in $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice at 1 and 3 days postinjury (Fig. 5B). Because of a conflict between Abs, we were not able to perform the double immunofluorescent staining Ki67/p75NGFr to identify the proliferating cells as SCs. We can nevertheless attest that the Ki67-positive cells are not inflammatory cells, such as invading macrophages, as they do not express CD11b (data not shown).

To confirm the *in vivo* finding of decreased SC proliferation in mice lacking PIGF, we compared the proliferation of primary cultures of SCs isolated from wt or $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice. Using BrdU incorporation and double im-

munofluorescent staining against BrdU and p75NGFr (Fig. 6A), we counted the mean number of proliferating SCs. The number of BrdU positive $Pgf^{-/-}$ SC nuclei was significantly decreased (Fig. 6B). To attest that SCs express PIGF in culture condition, which corresponds to the proliferating state they adopt after a nerve injury, we performed a RT-PCR for PIGF on RNA extracts from wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ SC cultures, using GAPDH as housekeeping gene. The polyacrylamide gel showing RT-PCR amplification products (Fig. 6C) confirmed a PlGF expression in proliferating wt SCs. We then assessed p75NGFr expression in wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice after several post-transection survival times. As illustrated in Fig. 7, p75NGFr is weakly expressed in UI nerves (Fig. 7A). In wt animals, its expression increases 3 days after axotomy and reaches a peak at day 7 (Fig. 7B). At that time, the longitudinal aspect of the p75NGFr staining is likely due to the alignment of SCs to form the bands of Büngner, still observed 14 days after the lesion. In $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice, the peak of expression of p75NGFr is only



Fig. 8. CD11b immunostaining and quantification. (A) CD11b immunostaining of longitudinal sections of wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ sciatic nerves before (UI) and after axotomy (scale bar: 200µm). (B) Cell quantification shows a significant difference between wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice in the number of invading macrophages 1, 3, and 7 days postinjury. ***P < 0.001; **P < 0.01; *P < 0.05 (mean ± SE; N = 5-12 mice per group).

reached 14 days after the lesion, and decreases more rapidly afterwards. Also, at day 7, the longitudinal aspect of the staining is much less pronounced than in tissue sections of wt animals (Fig. 7A).

Role of PIGF on macrophage recruitment and myelin sheath degradation

The other main cell type involved in the WD process are macrophages, which accumulate within the degenerating nerve segment and facilitate the removal of axonal and myelin debris. As PlGF plays a role in the chemo-attraction of macrophages (Clauss et al., 1996), we first quantified the number of invading macrophages within the degenerating segment at several postinjury times, comparing wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice. CD11b immunostaining of longitudinal nerve sections revealed a clear delay in the macrophage infiltration in $Pgf^{-/-}$ nerves respective to wt nerves (Fig. 8A). While infiltration peaked between the 3rd and the 7th day postinjury in wt mice, it did so only between 14 and 21 days in $Pgf^{-/-}$ tissue (Fig. 8B). To verify if this delay affects the degradation of myelin sheaths, we stained the latter with toluidine blue and counted them on semi-thin transverse wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ nerve sections at various survival times (Fig. 9A). These counts clearly confirmed that the clearance of myelin sheaths is slower in $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice (Fig. 9B).

Role of PIGF on cytokine and chemokine expression

WD is orchestrated by a large cyto-/chemo- kine network, which regulates SC and macrophage functions. As PIGF absence affects more particularly early events of WD, we compared the expression of 10 cyto/chemokines in extracts of UI, and 1, 3 and 7 days- injured sciatic nerves from wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice. The following molecules were studied: IL-1 α , IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-10, TNF- α , VEGF, VEGFr1, MCP-1, MIP-1 α and proMMP-9. The CHABALLE ET AL.



Fig. 9. Myelin sheath quantification. (A) Toluidine blue staining on semithin transverse sections from wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ sciatic nerves before (UI) and 7 days after axotomy (scale bar: 20 µm). Quantification shows a significant difference between wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice in the number of intact myelin sheaths (white arrowheads) 3 and 7 days postinjury. *P < 0.05 (mean ± SE; N = 5-9 mice per group).

quantitative analysis of the signal intensity revealed significant decreases in $Pgf^{-/-}$ extracts of MCP-1 at 1 day, and proMMP-9 at 7 days postinjury (P < 0.05) (Fig. 10).

Role of PIGF in axonal regeneration and functional recovery

As SC and macrophage functions appear to be delayed during WD in $Pgf^{-/-}$ animals, axonal regeneration might also be altered. To test this hypothesis, we compared the NF-H immunostainings of transected sciatic nerves in wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice. At 7 days postinjury, all axons are degraded in both wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ nerve distal

parts, as illustrated by the high number of axonal debris (Fig. 11A). At 14 days, regeneration starts in wt nerves, as more longitudinal profiles can be observed in wt than in $Pgf^{-/-}$ nerves. This observation was confirmed by counting the proportion of fields containing either axonal debris (dotted aspect of NF staining), axonal profiles (lon-gitudinal profiles on NF staining), or both (Fig. 11B). Almost 60% of the total length of the nerve corresponds to fields containing fields occupy less than 10% in wt mice. As a corollary, fields with higher proportions of regenerating axons occupy 50% of the nerve length in wt mice compared with less than 5% in $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice. No field containing only axonal profiles was observed 14



Fig. 10. Cytokine arrays on sciatic nerve extracts from wt and Pgf $^{-/-}$ mice. (A) MCP-1 doesn't increase its expression in Pgf $^{-/-}$ nerve as much as in wt nerves 1 day after injury. (B) Pro-MMP-9 peaks at 7 days postinjury only in wt nerves. *P < 0.05 (mean \pm SE; N = 6 mice per group).

days postinjury. After 21 days, regenerating profiles were more numerous, reflecting the repair progress, and there were no more difference between wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice. This finding suggests therefore that absence of PIGF leads to a transient delay of axonal regeneration. To assess the consequence of this delayed axonal regeneration on functional recovery, we further evaluated motor recovery after sciatic nerve axotomy in $Pgf^{-/-}$ compared with wt mice, using the walking track method in which footprints are analysed (Fig. 12A). The print-length of uninjured (NPL) and injured (OPL) sciatic nerves were measured preoperatively, as well as 3, 7, 10, 14, 17 and 21 days after axotomy and were used to calculate the print-length factor (PLF, described in Methods section). During the first week following injury, this PLF increases and reaches after 7 days the value of about 0.5 and 0.35 for wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice, respectively, indicating a marked disability in the injured paw. At day 10, the PLF of wt mice starts to decrease and reaches a value of about 0.3 at 21 days after injury, whereas the PLF of Pgf⁻ mice continues to get worse and reaches a value of about 0.6 at 21 days. Figure 12B illustrates the recovery of motor function determined by the PLF. We observe no functional recovery for the $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice. **P < 0.01; *P < $0.05 \text{ (mean} \pm \text{SE}; N = 5 \text{ mice per group}).$

DISCUSSION

This study provides evidence of a new function for PIGF within the PNS, where its expression had never been described. Using immunohistochemistry, double immunofluorescent stainings, *in vivo* and *in vitro* cell proliferation assays, cytokine arrays, RT-PCR, foot-prints, Luc assay and ChIP assay, we propose an original model for PIGF role in the inflammatory context of WD (Fig. 13).

PIGF is Expressed in the Peripheral Nervous System

Since its initial discovery in the placenta in 1991, PIGF has been found in other organs, including the brain (Beck et al., 2002). Until now, nothing was known about its distribution in the PNS. As the goal of our study was to investigate its potential role in WD in a model of sciatic nerve injury, the first part of our work focused on the expression of PIGF in the sciatic nerve. Using immunostaining on intact nerve and DRG, we are providing evidence that PIGF is expressed in neuronal cell bodies and axons, but not in SCs, nor in myelin sheaths. The peculiar peri-axonal localization of PIGF could be due to its particular basic carboxyl end that confers him the ability to bind polyanionic molecules like acidic phopholipids of cell membranes (Autiero et al., 2003a; De Falco et al., 2002; Persico et al., 1999).

PIGF Expression During WD

Axotomy results in axonal breakdown and disintegration, which can explain the decrease of PIGF expression observed in injured axons during the first week postinjury. Thereafter, WD in the PNS leads to successful axonal regeneration, explaining the re-expression of PIGF in axons. Our results also show that SCs transiently express PIGF after nerve injury. An induction of VEGF expression in injured peripheral nerves has been previously reported (Höke et al., 2001; Scarlato et al., 2003). Axonal rupture causes a loss of contact between the axolemma and its corresponding SC that switches from a differentiated state to an undifferentiated, proliferating state. This SC response is, among others, due to a neuronal release of the cytokine TGF- β 1, which induces SC proliferation (Rogister et al., 1993). Interestingly, TGF- β 1 has been shown to activate PlGF expression in cultured keratinocytes (Failla et al., 2000) and in retinal pigment epithelial cells (Hollborn et al., 2006). Hence, the transient expression of PIGF in SC observed after injury might be due to axonal released TGF- β 1.

PIGF: A Target of NF-кВ

The NF- κ B factor plays important roles in immune, inflammatory and apoptotic responses through the induction of the transcription of numerous genes coding



Fig. 11. Neurofilament immunostaining and semiquantification. (A) NF immunostaining on longitudinal sections of wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ sciatic nerves 7 and 14 days after axotomy (scale bar: 100 µm). Inserts illustrate representative fields considered as "debris (*)" or "fibres (**)." (B)

Quantification shows that after 14 days, $Pgf^{-/-}$ nerves contain a significant higher proportion of debris than wt nerves, while more regenerating profiles are observed in wt nerves than $Pgf^{-/-}$ ones. ***P < 0.001; **P < 0.01 (mean ± SE; N = 5-7 mice per group).

for pro-inflammatory cytokines (Ledeboer et al., 2005; Vallabhapurapu and Karin, 2009), chemokines (Giraud et al., 2010; Grove and Plumb, 1993), matrix metalloproteases (Hnia et al., 2008; Rhee et al., 2007), and adhesion molecules (Haddad et al., 2010; Moynagh et al., 1994). After axotomy, activation of NF-kB in SCs is also implicated in the regulation of the inflammatory response occurring during WD (Fu et al., 2010; Subang and Richardson, 2001). Previous study has revealed that human PIGF expression during hypoxia was regulated by NF-KB (Cramer et al, 2005). Our results of chromatin immunoprecipitation assay agree with the fact that PlGF transcription is regulated by the NF- κ B signalling pathway. By Luciferase assay, we further confirmed that the κB sites found in the *Pgf* promoter are functional in activating NF-κB.

PIGF Deletion Causes a Delay in Cellular and Molecular Events of WD

Lack of PIGF delays Schwann cell dedifferentiation and decreases their proliferation

Nerve injury stimulates the generation of proliferative nonmyelinating SCs within 24h after the lesion. In $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice, SC proliferation rates were shown, both *in vitro* and *in vivo*, significantly delayed. Flt-1, which binds both VEGF and PlGF-2, mediates VEGF-triggered proliferation of astroglial cells (Krum et al., 2008; Mani et al., 2005). It is thus possible that in wt animals the PlGF released by injured axons activates Flt-1 receptors on SC membranes hence inducing their proliferation. As

PLGF IN WALLERIAN DEGENERATION



Fig. 12. Functional recovery. (A) Representative footprints obtained from wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice, 21 days after unilateral left sciatic nerve transection. Measures of the length of the operated footprints (OPL) and the normal footprints (NPL) were used to calculate the print-length factor (PLF). (B) Graph showing the recovery of motor function after sciatic nerve transection determined by the PLF (described in the Methods section). Worse recovery is evident in mice lacking PIGF compared with their wt controls.

other mitotic agents act on SCs during WD (D'Antonio et al., 2006; Kwon et al., 1997; Li et al., 2005; Ogata et al., 2006), the sole absence of PIGF can only decrease SC proliferation, but not abolish it.

Lack of PIGF delays macrophage recruitment and myelin clearance

Macrophages play an essential role during WD. In addition to rapid clearance of axonal and myelin debris, they secrete neurotrophins (Barrette et al., 2008), promoting successful axonal regeneration. PlGF is chemoattractive for macrophages (Clauss et al., 1996), and stimulates chemokine secretion (Selvaraj et al., 2003). It is therefore not surprising to observe a significant delay in macrophage invasion during the first week of WD in $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice. This observation is corroborated by our cytokine array results, where significant difference of MCP-1 expression was observed between wt and $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice. Indeed, while MCP-1 rapidly increases after injury in wt nerves, it takes 2 more days before an increase occurs in $Pgf^{-/-}$ nerves. MCP-1 mRNA is known to be induced very early after transection in the distal portion of the sciatic nerve (Perrin et al., 2005; Toews et al., 1998). MCP-1 is necessary for specific and full recruit-



Fig. 13. Model of PIGF function in the injured peripheral nerve. Following axonal breakdown, the released PIGF can bind to its flt-1 receptor on SC, which in turn (i) produces PIGF and chemokines through the activation of the NF-kB signaling pathway, (ii) proliferate, and (iii)align to form bands of Büngner, promoting axonal regeneration. PIGF also influences directly monocyte chemoattraction, thereby increasing macrophage activity of myelin debris phagocytosis, necessary to successful axonal regeneration.

ment of monocytes during WD (Perrin et al., 2005; Siebert et al., 2000).

The delay observed in myelin degradation and clearance, which is dependent on SCs and macrophages, is therefore the consequence of the delayed recruitment and reduced activity of these two cell types.

Lack of PIGF delays the formation of Büngner's bands

In addition to their role in the inflammatory response, SCs migrate and line up to form the bands of Büngner. SC migration involves several molecules like cell-signaling factors, integrins, as well as proteases (Lauffenburger and Horwitz, 1996). Among them, MMP-9, which is over-expressed by SCs after nerve injury and promotes SC migration (Mantuano et al., 2008), was found to be a target for PlGF (Hattori et al., 2002). Indeed, our cytokine arrays show a significant decrease of proMMP-9 expression 7 days after injury in $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice relative to wt. NGF and its low affinity receptor p75NGFr are also involved in SC migration (Anton et al., 1994) and in our study p75NGFr expression is delayed in $Pgf^{-/-}$ mice after injury. Interestingly, mice lacking the neuropilin-2 receptor for PIGF-2 do also show a delayed regeneration after sciatic crush injury, due to a delayed reestablishment of contact between axons and SCs (Bannerman et al., 2008). Moreover, it is known that VEGF has migratory effects on SCs mainly through its tyrosine kinase receptors flk-1 and flt-1 (Mani et al., 2010; Schratzberger et al., 2000) and that flt-1, the PIGF receptor, mediates migration of endothelial cells (Bae et al., 2005; Li et al., 2006), and retinal pigment epithelial cells (Hollborn et al., 2006). The delay of SC alignment could thus also be related to a dampened action of VEGF, of which the effects are normally amplified by PIGF via various mechanisms (Autiero et al., 2003b; Carmeliet et al., 2001; Ribatti, 2008).

Lack of PIGF delays cyto/chemokine expression

A large cyto/chemokine network regulates the sequential WD cellular events described above. PIGF is able to induce an increase of several of these molecules like inflammatory cyto/chemokines (Bottomley et al., 2000; Selvaraj et al., 2003) or enzymes such as metalloproteases (Hattori et al., 2002). In our cytokine arrays PIGF has a significant effect on the expression of MCP-1 and proMMP-9. These molecules are essential for early WD events: MCP-1 attracts macrophages (Perrin et al., 2005), and MMP-9 is responsible for SC migration (Mantuano et al., 2008). Thus, PIGF lack of expression can directly affect macrophage invasion as well as MCP-1 and MMP-9 levels of expression. Additionally, as SCs increase their expression of both MCP-1 (Taskinen and Röyttä, 2000) and MMP-9 (Chattopadhyay and Shubayev, 2009) after injury, their delayed proliferation in the absence of PIGF can also trigger a decrease in MCP-1 and MMP-9 expression, leading indirectly to a decrease of macrophage activation and a delayed axonal regrowth.

In conclusion, we show that PIGF is involved in the early postaxotomy SC proliferation and macrophage chemoattraction, which can explain that in Pgfmice, axonal regeneration and functional recovery are delayed. Indeed, the delay in myelin and axonal debris clearance by SCs and macrophages leads to an unfavorable environment for regeneration. Also, the delay of SC p75NGFr expression and bands of Büngner formation could decrease the beneficial effect that neurotrophins have on the regenerating axons (Taniuchi et al., 1988). This work is the first demonstration of the implication of a new member in the cytokine network regulating WD, the cytokine PlGF, whose function(s) in the intact and injured nervous system were not known up to now. The original observation that PlGF is in particular instrumental in the early events of WD like Schwann cell proliferation and macrophage invasion raises important questions and perspectives for regeneration in the CNS. It is well known indeed that following injury in the CNS, axonal regeneration partly fails because of a less pronounced macrophage invasion compared with PNS. What about PlGF expression after a CNS injury? Could regeneration be promoted by providing PIGF after a CNS lesion? In addition to its potential beneficial effect on the postinjury inflammatory reaction, PIGF treatment could also enhances neo-angiogenesis (Takeda et al., 2009), which

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors are grateful to Ms. Mosen, Ms. DiPrima, and Ms. Wouters for their technical assistance to this work. They thank Prof. A. Noel (GIGA-Cancer, Liege, Belgium) for careful reading of the manuscript. A special thank to Dr. Nothias from Jussieu (Paris) and A. Paye for their precious advises on Schwann cell primary cultures and cytokine arrays.

REFERENCES

- Anton ES, Weskamp G, Reichardt LF, Matthew WD. 1994. Nerve growth factor and its low-affinity receptor promote Schwann cell migration. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 91:2795–2799.
- Autiero M, Luttun A, Tjwa M, Carmeliet P. 2003a. Placental growth factor and its receptor, vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-1: Novel targets for stimulation of ischemic tissue revascularization and inhibition of angiogenic and inflammatory disorders. J Thromb Haemost 1:1356–1370.
- Autiero M, Waltenberger J, Communni D, Kranz A, Moons L, Lambrechts D, Kroll J, Plaisance S, De Mol M, Bono F, Kliche S, Fellbrich G, Ballmer-Hofer K, Maglione D, Mayr-Beyrle U, Dewerchin M, Dombrowski S, Stanimirovic D, Van Hummelen P, Dehio C, Hicklin DJ, Persico G, Herbert JM, Communi D, Shibuya M, Collen D, Conway EM, Carmeliet P. 2003b. Role of PIGF in the intra- and inter-molecular cross talk between the VEGF receptors Flt1 and Flk1. Nat Med 9:936–943.
- Bae DG, Kim TD, Li G, Yoon WH, Chae CB. 2005. Anti-flt1 peptide, a vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 1-specific hexapeptide, inhibits tumor growth and metastasis. Clin Cancer Res 11:2651-2661.
- Bannerman P, Ara J, Hahn A, Hong L, Mc Cauley E, Friesen K, Pleasure D. 2008. Peripheral nerve regeneration is delayed in neuropilin 2-deficient mice. J Neurosci Res 86:3163–3169.
- Barrette B, Hébert MA, Filali M, Lafortune K, Vallières N, Gowing G, Julien JP, Lacroix S. 2008. Requirement of myeloid cells for axon regeneration. J Neurosci 28:9363–9376.
- Beck H, Acker T, Puschel AW, Fujisawa H, Carmeliet P, Plate KH. 2002. Cell type-specific expression of neuropilins in an MCA-occlusion model in mice suggests a potential role in post-ischemic brain remodelling. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 61:339–350.
- Bolin LM, Verity AN, Silver JE, Shooter EM, Abrams JS. 1995. Interleukin-6 production by Schwann cells and induction in sciatic nerve injury. J Neurochem 64:850–858.
- Borsani E, Albertini R, Labanca M, Lonati C, Rezzani R, Rodella LF. 2010. Peripheral purinergic receptor modulation influences the trigeminal ganglia nitroxodergic system in an experimental murine model of inflammatory orofacial pain. J Neurosci Res 88:2715–2726.
- Bottomley MJ, Webb NJ, Watson CJ, Holt L, Bukhari M, Denton J, Freemont AJ, Brenchley PE. 2000. Placenta growth factor (PIGF) induces vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) secretion from mononuclear cells and is co-expressed with VEGF in synovial fluid. Clin Exp Immunol 119:182–188.
- Bouquet Ĉ, Ravaille-Veron M, Propst F, Nothias F. 2007. MAP1B coordinates microtubule and actin filament remodeling in adult mouse Schwann cell tips and DRG neuron growth cones. Mol Cell Neurosci 36:235–247.
- Carmeliet P, Moons L, Luttun A, Vincneti V, Compernolle V, De Mol M, Wu Y, Bono F, Devy L, Beck H, Scholz D, Acker T, DiPalma T, Dewerchin M, Noel A, Stalmans I, Barra A, Blacher S, Vandendriessche T, Ponten A, Eriksson U, Plate KH, Foidart JM, Schaper W, Charnock-Jones DS, Hicklin DJ, Herbert JM, Collen D, Persico MG. 2001. Synergism between vascular endothelial growth factor and placental growth factor contributes to angogenesis and plasma extravasion in pathological conditions. Nat Med 7:575–583.
- Chattopadhyay S, Shubayev V. 2009. MMP-9 controls Schwann cell proliferation and phenotypic remodelling via IGF-1 and ErbB receptormediated activation of MEK/ERK pathway. GLIA 57:1316–1325.
- Chen Y, Li X, Tian L, Lui VC, Dallman MJ, Lamb JR, Tam PK. 2007. Inhibition of sonic hedgehog signaling reduces chronic rejection and

prolongs allograft survival in a rat orthotopic small bowel transplantation model. Transplantation 83:1351-1357.

- Clauss M, Weich H, Breier G, Knies U, Röckl W, Waltenberger J, Risau W. 1996. The vascular growth factor receptor Flt-1 mediates biological activities: Implications for a functional role of placenta growth factor in monocyte activation and chemotaxis. J Biol Chem 27:17629–17634.
- Cramer M, Nagy I, Murphy BJ, Gassman M, Hottiger MO, Georgiev O, Schaffner W. 2005. NF-kB contributes to transcription of placental growth factor and interacts with metal responsive transcription factor-1 in hypoxic human cells. Biol Chem 386:865–872.
- D'Antonio M, Droggiti A, Feltri ML, Roes J, Wrabetz L, Mirsky R, Jessen KR. 2006. TGFbeta type II receptor signaling controls Schwann cell death and proliferation in developing nerves. J Neurosci 26:8417–8427.
- De Falco S, Gigante B, Persico MG. 2002. Structure and function of placental growth factor. Trends Cardiovasc Med 12:241–246.
- De Girolamo LA, Billett EE, Hargreaves AJ. 2000. Effects of 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine on differentiating mouse N2a neuroblastoma cells. J Neurochem 75:133–140.
- DiPalma T, Tucci M, Russo G, Maglione D, Lago CT, Romano A, Saccone S, Della Valle G, De Gregorio L, Dragani TA, Viglietto G, Persico MG. 1996. The placenta growth factor gene of the mouse. Mamm Genome 7:6–12.
- Dray C, Rougon G, Debarbieux F. 2009. Quantitative analysis by in vivo imaging of the dynamics of vascular and axonal networks in injured mouse spinal cord. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 106:9459– 9464.
- Failla CM, Odorisio T, Cianfarani F, Schietroma C, Puddu P, Zambruno G. 2000. Placenta growth factor is induced in human keratinocytes during wound healing. J Invest Dermatol 115:388–395.
- Fu ES, Zhang YP, Sagen J, Candiotti KA, Morton PD, Liebl DJ, Bethea JR, Brambilla R. 2010. Transgenic inhibition of glial NF-kappa B reduces pain behavior and inflammation after peripheral nerve injury. Pain 148:509–518.
- Funakoshi H, Frisén J, Barbany G, Timmusk T, Zachrisson O. 1993. Differential expression of mRNAs for neurotrophins and their receptors after axotomy of sciatic nerve. J Cell Biol 123:455–465.
- George LT, Myckatyn TM, Jensen JN, Hunter DA, Mackinnon SE. 2003. Functional recovery and histomorphometric assessment following tibial nerve injury in the mouse. J Reconstr Microsurg 19:41–48.
- Giraud SN, Caron CM, Pham-Dinh D, Kitabgi P, Nicot AB. 2010. Estradiol inhibits ongoing autoimmune neuroinflammation and NF{kappa}B-dependent CCL2 expression in reactive astrocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 107:8416-8421.
- Gould VE, Moll R, Moll I, Lee I, Schwechheimer K, Franke WW. 1986. The intermediate filament complement of the spectrum of nerve sheath neoplasms. Lab Invest 55:463–474.
- Green CJ, Lichtlen P, Huynh NT, Yanovsky M, Laderoute KR, Schaffner W, Murphy BJ. 2001. Placenta growth factor gene expression is induced by hypoxia in fibroblasts: A central role for metal transcription factor-1. Cancer Res 61:2696–703.
- Grove M, Plumb M. 1993. C/EBP, NF-kappa B, and c-Ets family members and transcriptional regulation of the cell-specific and inducible macrophage inflammatory protein 1 alpha immediate-early gene. Mol Cell Biol 13:5276–5289.
- Haddad O, Chotard-Ghodsnia R, Verdier C, Duperray A. 2010. Tumor cell/endothelial cell tight contact upregulates endothelial adhesion molecule expression mediated by NFkappaB: Differential role of the shear stress. Exp Cell Res. 316:615–626.
- shear stress. Exp Cell Res. 316:615–626.
 Hattori K, Heissig B, Wu Y, Dias S, Tejada R, Ferris B, Hicklin DJ, Zhu Z, Bohlen P, Witte L, Hendrikx J, Hackett NR, Crystal RG, Moore MA, Werb Z, Lyden D, Rafii S. 2002. Placental growth factor reconstitutes hematopoiesis by recruiting VEGFR1(+) stem cells from bone marrow microenvironment. Nat Med 8:841–849.
- Hnia K, Gayraud J, Hugon G, Ramonatxo M, De La Porte S, Matecki S, Mornet D. 2008. L-arginine decreases inflammation and modulates the nuclear factor-kappaB/matrix metalloproteinase cascade in mdx muscle fibers. Am J Pathol 172:1509–1519.
- Hobson MI, Green CJ, Terenghi G. 2000. VEGF enhances intraneural angiogenesis and improves nerve regeneration after axotomy. J Anat 197:591–605.
- Höke A, Sun HS, Gordon T, Zochodne DW. 2001. Do denervated peripheral nerve trunks become ischemic? The impact of chronic denervation on vasa nervorum. Exp Neurol 172:398–406.
- Hollborn M, Tenckhoff S, Seifert M, Köhler S, Wiedemann P, Bringmann A, Kohen L. 2006. Human retinal epithelium produces and responds to placenta growth factor. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol 244:732–741.
- Krum JM, Mani N, Rosenstein JM. 2008. Roles of the endogenous VEGF receptors flt-1 and flk-1 in astroglial and vascular remodeling after brain injury. Exp Neurol 212:108–117.

- Kwon YK, Bhattacharyya A, Alberta JA, Giannobile WV, Cheon K, Stiles CD, Pomeroy SL. 1997. Activation of ErbB2 during Wallerian degeneration of sciatic nerve. J Neurosci 17:8293–8299.
- Lauffenburger DA, Horwitz ,AF. 1996. Cell Migration: A physically integrated molecular process. Cell 84:359–369.
- Lawson LJ, Frost L, Risbridger J, Fearn ,S, Perry VH. 1994. Quantification of the mononuclear phagocyte response to Wallerian degeneration of the optic nerve. J Neurocytol 23:729-744.
- Ledeboer A, Ĝamanos M, Lai W, Martin D, Maier SF, Watkins LR, Quan N. 2005. Involvement of spinal cord nuclear factor kappaB activation in rat models of proinflammatory cytokine-mediated pain facilitation. Eur J Neurosci 22:1977–1986.
- Leonardi A, Chariot A, Claudio E, Cunningham K, Siebenlist U. 2000. CIKS, a connection to Ikappa B kinase and stress-activated protein kinase. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 97:10494–10499.
- Li X, Gonias SL, Campana WM. 2005. Schwann cells express erythropoietin receptor and represent a major target for Epo in peripheral nerve injury. GLIA 51:254–265.
- Li B, Sharpe EE, Maupin AB, Teleron AA, Pyle AL, Carmeliet P, Young PP. 2006. VEGF and PlGF promote adult vasculogenesis by enhancing EPC recruitment and vessel formation at the site of tumor neovascularization. FASEB J 20:1495–1497.
- Liu H, Honmou O, Harada K, Nakamura K, Houkin K, Hamada H, Kocsis JD. 2006. Neuroprotection by PIGF gene-modified human mesenchymal stem cells after cerebral ischaemia. Brain 129:2734–2745.
- Incosts J. 2000. Red opported in the main and in the second state in the second sta
- Maglione D, Guerriero V, Viglietto G, Delli Bovi P, Persico MG. 1991. Isolation of a human placenta cDNA coding for a protein related to the vascular permeability factor. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 88:9267– 9271.
- Mani N, Khaibullina A, Krum JM, Rosenstein JM. 2005. Astrocyte growth effects of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) application to perinatal neocortical explants: Receptor mediation and signal transduction pathways. Exp Neurol 192:394–406.
- Mani N, Khaibullina A, Krum JM, Rosenstein JM. 2010. Vascular endothelial growth factor enhances migration of astroglial cells in subventricular zone neurosphere cultures. J Neurosci Res 88:248–257.
- Mantuano E, Inoue G, Li X, Takahashi K, Gaultier A, Gonias SL, Campana ,WM. 2008. The hemopexin domain of matrix metalloproteinase-9 activates cell signaling and promotes migration of schwann cells by binding to low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein. J Neurosci 28:11571–11582.
- Moynagh PN, Williams DC, O'Neill LA. 1994. Activation of NF-kappa B and induction of vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 and intracellular adhesion molecule-1 expression in human glial cells by IL-1. Modulation by antioxidants. J Immunol 153:2681–2690.
- Ogata T, Yamamoto S, Nakamura K, Tanaka ,S. 2006. Signaling axis in schwann cell proliferation and differentiation. Mol Neurobiol 33:51–62.
- Perrin FE, Lacroix S, Avilès-Trigueros M, David S. 2005. Involvement of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1, macrophage inflammatory protein-1 α and interleukin-1 β in Wallerian degeneration. Brain 128:854–66.
- Perry VH, Brown MC, Gordon S. 1987. The macrophage response to central and peripheral nerve injury. A possible role for macrophages in regeneration. J Exp Med 165:1218–1223.
- Persico MG, Vincenti V, Di Palma T. 1999. Structure, expression and receptor-binding properties of placenta growth factor (PlGF). Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 237:31–40.
- Perelman N, Selvaraj SK, Batra S, Luck LR, Erdreich-Epstein A, Coates TD, Kalra VK, Malik P. 2003. Placenta growth factor activates monocytes and correlates with sickle cell disease severity. Blood 102:1506-1514.
- Rhee JW, Lee KW, Kim D, Lee Y, Jeon OH, Kwon HJ, Kim DS. 2007. NF-kappaB-dependent regulation of matrix metalloproteinase-9 gene expression by lipopolysaccharide in a macrophage cell line RAW 264.7. J Biochem Mol Biol 40:88–94.
- Ribatti D. 2008. The discovery of the placental growth factor and its role in angiogenesis: A historical review. Angiogenesis 11:215–221.
- Rogister B, Delrée P, Leprince P, Martin D, Sadzot C, Malgrange B, Munaut C, Rigo JM, Lefebvre PP, Octave J-N, Schoenen J, Moonen G. 1993. Transforming growth factor β as a neuronoglial signal during peripheral nervous system response to injury. J Neurosci Res 34:32-43.
- Runyan SA, Phelps PE. 2009. Mouse olfactory ensheathing glia enhance axon outgrowth on a myelin substrate in vitro. Exp Neurol 216:95–104.

- Scarlato M, Ara J, Bannerman P, Scherer S, Pleasure D. 2003. Induction of neuroplins-1 and -2 and their ligands, Sema3A, Sema3F, and VEGF, during Wallerian degeneration in the peripheral nervous system. Exp Neurol 183:489–498.
- Schratzberger P, Schratzberger G, Silver M, Curry C, Kearney M, Magner M, Alroy J, Adelman LS, Weinberg DH, Ropper AH, Isner JM. 2000. Favorable effect of VEGF gene transfer on ischemic peripheral neuropathy. Nat Med 6:405–413.
- Selvaraj SK, Giri RK, Perelman N, Johnson C, Malik P, Kalra VK. 2003. Mechanism of monocyte activation and expression of proinflammatory cytochemokines by placenta growth factor. Blood 102:1515– 1524.
- Shamash S, Reichert F, Rotshenker S. 2002. The cytokine network of Wallerian degeneration: Tumor necrosis factor- α , interleukin-1 α and interleukin-1 β . J Neurosci 22:3052–3060.
- Siebert H, Sachse A, Kuziel WA, Maeda N, Brück W. 2000. The chemokine receptor CCR2 is involved in macrophage recruitment to the injured peripheral nervous system. J Neuroimmunol 110:177–185.
- Slobodov U, Reichert F, Mirski R, Rotshenker S. 2001. Distinct inflammatory stimuli induce different patterns of myelin phagocytosis and degradation in recruited macrophages. Exp Neurol 167:401-409.
- Springer T, Galfré G, Secher DS, Milstein C. 1979. Mac-1: A macrophage differentiation antigen identified by monoclonal antibody. Eur J Immunol 9:301–306.
- Stoll G, Griffin JW, Li CY, Trapp BD. 1989. Wallerian degeneration in the peripheral nervous system: Participation of both Schwann cells and macrophages in myelin degradation. J Neurocytol 18:671–683.
- Subang MC, Richardson PM. 2001. Influence of injury and cytokines on synthesis of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 mRNA in peripheral nervous tissue. Eur J Neurosci 13:521–528.
- Takeda Y, Uemura S, Iwama H, Imagawa K, Nishida T, Onoue K, Takemoto Y, Soeda T, Okayama S, Somekawa S, Ishigami K, Takaoka M, Kawata H, Kubo A, Horii M, Nakajima T, Saito Y. 2009. Treatment

with recombinant placental growth factor (PlGF) enhances both angiogenesis and arteriogenesis and improves survival after myocardial infarction. Circ J 73:1674–1682.

- Taskinen HS, Röyttä M. 2000. Increased expression of chemokines (MCP-1, MIP-1alpha, RANTES) after peripheral nerve transection. J Peripher Nerv Syst 5:75–81.
- Taniuchi M, Clark HB, Schweitzer JB, Johnson EM. 1988. Expression of Nerve growth factor receptors by Schwann cells of axotomized peripheral nerves: Ultrastructural location, suppression by axonal contact, and binding properties. J Neurosci 8:664–681.
 Taylor AP, Goldenberg DM. 2007. Role of placenta growth factor in
- Taylor AP, Goldenberg DM. 2007. Role of placenta growth factor in malignancy and evidence that an antagonistic PIGF/Flt-1 peptide inhibits the growth and metastasis of human breast cancer xenografts. Mol Cancer Ther 6:524-531;
- Toews A, Barrett C, Morell P. 1998. Monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 is responsible for macrophage recruitment following injury to sciatic nerve. J Neurosci Res 53:260-267.
 Tofaris G, Patterson PH, Jessen KR, Mirsky R. 2002. Denervated
- Tofaris G, Patterson PH, Jessen KR, Mirsky R. 2002. Denervated Schwann cells attract macrophages by secretion of leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF) and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 in process regulated by interleukin-6 and LIF. J Neurosci 22:6696–6703.
- Vallabhapurapu S, Karin M. 2009. Regulation and function of NF-kappaB transcription factors in the immune system. Annu Rev Immunol 27:693–733.
- Vargas ME, Barres BA. 2007. Why is Wallerian degeneration in the CNS so slow? Annu Rev Neurosci 30:153–179.
- Waller A. 1850. Experiments on the section of the glossopharyngeal and hypoglossal nerves of the frog, and observations of the alterations produced thereby in the structure of their primitive fibres. Philos Trans R Soc Lond 140:423–429.
- Yin X, Wright J, Wall T, Grammas P. 2010. Brain endothelial cells synthesize neurotoxic thrombin in Alzheimer's disease. Am J Pathol 176:1600-1606.
Acta Neurol. Belg., 2011, 111, 000-000

Placental growth factor: a tissue modelling factor with therapeutic potentials in neurology?

Linda CHABALLE, Jean SCHOENEN and Rachelle FRANZEN Axonal Regeneration and Cephalic Pain Research Unit, GIGA Neurosciences, University of Liege, Liege, Belgium

Abstract

Placental growth factor (PlGF) is an angiogenic factor that belongs to the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) family. Besides its well known capacity to potentiate the angiogenic action of VEGF, PlGF also participates in inflammatory processes by attracting and activating monocytes; it plays therefore more specifically a role in pathological conditions. PIGF and its two receptors, VEGFR-1 and neuropilins (NRPs), are expressed in the brain and increase after experimental stroke, but their precise functions in the nervous system remain underexplored. In this review article, we summarize present knowledge on the role of PIGF in various nervous system disease processes. Given the available data, PIGF has neuroprotective and neurotrophic properties that make it an actor of considerable interest in the pathophysiology and potentially in the therapy of degenerative and traumatic brain or spinal cord diseases.

Key words: PIGF; neuroprotection; trauma; neuro-degeneration; neuropilins; VEGFR-1.

Introduction

From Andreas Vesalius' anatomical drawings to current research, the number of studies highlighting the parallelism between vessel and nerve patterning is constantly increasing (1-8). The best known angiogenic factors belong to the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) family. The VEGF family includes seven secreted glycoproteins, designated VEGF-A, VEGF-B, VEGF-C, VEGF-D, VEGF-E, VEGF-F and placental growth factor (PlGF). They possess different physical and biological properties and act, as dimeric glycosylated proteins, through specific receptors: three protein-tyrosine kinase receptors (VEGFR-1, VEGFR-2, and VEGFR-3), present on most vascular endothelial cells and two non-protein kinase co-receptors, neuropilin-1 and neuropilin-2 (Fig. 1). Discovered first (9, 10),

VEGF-A is the best characterized VEGF family member. VEGF-A mediates its effects by interacting with VEGFR-1 (also referred to as fms-like tyrosine kinase, Flt-1), and VEGFR-2 (also referred to as fetal liver kinase, Flk-1/KDR). In addition, VEGF₁₄₅ and VEGF₁₆₅ two isoforms of VEGF-A, can also bind to neuropilins (NRPs) (11, 12). Numerous reports have described the role of VEGF in the nervous system (NS), both during development (3, 6, 8, 13-17) and in neurogical disorders such as amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (18-28), Alzheimer's (29-31) or Parkinson's diseases (32, 33), brain ischemia (29, 34-43) or spinal cord injury (44, 46).

While VEGF is important under physiological and pathological conditions, PIGF (47), much less studied than VEGF-A, appears to be more specifically involved in pathological states (15). Although scientific data are scarce, we thought it timely to summarize our present knowledge on PIGF and the nervous system, as some of the pathological processes that are influenced by PIGF are relevant for the pathophysiology of various neurological disorders, and, possibly in the future, for their therapy. We will review the available information coming from direct studies of PIGF's functions in the nervous system from effects observed after its binding to its two receptors, VEGFR-1 and NRPs. The major findings on the known respective roles of VEGF and PIGF in experimental models of nervous system disorders are shown in table 1.

PIGF: biochemistry and functions

PIGF is a ~46 KDa dimeric glycoprotein that occurs in 3 isoforms in humans (131, 152 and 203 amino acids). Only one isoform, PIGF-2, is expressed in mice due to alternative mRNA splicing from a single gene (48). While PIGF was originally identified in the placenta (47), it has been detected

L. CHABALLE ET AL.

Table 1

VEGF and PIGF neurobiological effects in experimental models of neurological disorders. Normal: beneficial effect; *Italic*: deleterious effect

Growth factor	Experimental models of neurological disorders	Neurobiological effect	References
VEGF	ALS (Mouse, SOD-1)	neuroprotection and neurotrophic action	19; 20; 22; 24; 27; 28
		reduction of astrogliosis and increased formation of neuromuscular junctions	26
	Cerebral ischemia (Rat, MCAO)	neuroprotection	37; 38; 42; 43
	Spinal cord injury (rat, clip injury)	increased angiogenesis, proliferation of glial progenitors, neuroprotection, tissue sparing, improvement of locomotor recovery	44; 45; 46
		exacerbation of lesion volume	86
	Parkinson (Rat, 6-OHDA)	neuroprotection, neovascularization and astroglial proliferation (anti-oxidant, GDNF source)	32; 33
	Alzheimer (Mouse, APP23Tg)	maintenance of the chronic inflammatory response	31
	Peripheral nerve injury	increased nerve regeneration, neurotrophic action, mitogenic activity on Schwann cells	82-84
PlGF	Cerebral ischemia	neuroprotection	50; 72
	Peripheral nerve injury	pro-inflammatory effects, mitogenic activity on Schwann cells	85

in several other organs including heart, lung, thyroid gland, skeletal muscles and more recently in brain. Numerous cell types, like endothelial cells, pericytes, macrophages, bone marrow cells, tumour cells, astrocytes and neurons, produce PIGF especially when they are activated or stressed like in hypoxia, inflammation or trauma (49-51).

PIGF potentiates the angiogenic effects of VEGF such as stimulation of endothelial cell proliferation and migration, increase of endothelial cell survival, induction of neoangiogenesis and vessel maturation (51). PIGF is also involved in inflammatory processes where it stimulates chemotaxis and activation of monocytes, and increases their secretion of pro-inflammatory cyto- and chemokines such as TNF- α , IL-1 β and MCP-1 (52-54).

PIGF: a neuroprotective and neurotrophic factor

Contrasting with VEGF (55-59), there are only few reports on the potential neurotrophic/neuroprotective role of PIGF. The first study showing that PIGF might play an important role in the nervous system was performed by Beck *et al.* (50), who explored the expression pattern of NRPs, known to regulate both angiogenesis and neuronal axon guidance (3, 5, 8), in an experimental model of cerebral

ischemia. Because NRPs have short intracellular segments without cytoplasmic signal transduction domains, they require an association with other receptors to be functional. These putative co-receptors include plexin A (52) as well as VEGFR-1 and VEGFR-2 (11, 13). Thus, in addition to NRPs, Beck et al. (50) also studied the expression of their co-receptors VEGFR-1 and 2, and their ligands VEGF-A and PIGF (61, 62). They demonstrated for the first time that both PIGF mRNA and its protein are expressed in neurons in the normal brain, but not in astrocytes, nor in vessels. They further showed that 3 days following a middle cerebral artery occlusion (MCAO), the PIGF transcript and protein are upregulated in vessels inside and around the infarcted area. as well as in neurons and astrocytes located at the ischemic border zone. These results were confirmed one year later in another report that assessed the expression of angiogenic genes after experimental brain ischemia (63). Thus, in addition to providing further support for the potential neurotrophic and neuroprotective roles of VEGF, these data suggested for the first time that PIGF may be implicated in pathological processes of the nervous system. This hypothesis was established later, notably thanks to Cheng et al. (64), who demonstrated that PIGF is able to exert an anti-chemorepulsive effect on axons through its NRP binding. NRPs are known to be



FIG. 1. — VEGF family members and receptors. The tyrosine kinase receptor VEGFR-1 binds VEGF-A, VEGF-B and PIGF with high affinity. VEGFR-2 binds VEGF-A, VEGF-C, VEGF-D, VEGF-E and VEGF-F. VEGFR-3 is a tyrosine kinase receptor with only six Ig-homology domains, which preferentially binds VEGF-C and VEGF-D. Neuropilin-1 and -2 (NRP-1 and NRP-2), the two non-tyrosine kinase-type co-receptors, respectively bind VEGF-A₁₆₅, VEGF-B and PLGF and VEGF-A, VEGF-C, VEGF-D and PLGF.

involved in axonal guidance during development, and the balance between their ligands, semaphorins and VEGF, plays a crucial role. On the one hand, NRPs, in conjunction with their co-receptors plexins, bind Sema3A and transduce repulsive signals to axons (60). On the other hand, when associated with VEGFR, NRPs bind VEGF and mediate attractive signal (13). Cheng et al. (64) analyzed neurite outgrowth in DRG explants and the effect of the NRP ligands, semaphorins, VEGF and PIGF, on the collapse of growth cones. Only VEGF₁₆₅ and PIGF were able to counteract the chemorepulsive effect of sema3A which supports a specific role for NRPs in mediating the neurotrophic actions of VEGF₁₆₅ and PIGF. More recently, a neuroprotective effect of PIGF was confirmed in vitro by a study showing that it promotes the survival of cultured primary cortical neurons under conditions of oxygen and glucose deprivation (65).

The neurotrophic and neuroprotective effects of PIGF, in addition to its already known angiogenic properties, are of great interest for the treatment of cerebral ischemia. The beneficial effects of cell therapy in experimental models of cerebral ischemia were shown in several studies (66-69). In particular, bone marrow derived mesenchymal stem cell (MSC) transplantations have beneficial neuroprotective and angiogenic effects, which are notably mediated by paracrine mechanisms (70). Among the various fac-

tors released by MSCs, VEGF and PIGF are indeed good candidates to explain these effects (71). This hypothesis is supported by a study (72) comparing the efficacy of systemically delivered human MSCs transfected or not with an adenoviral vector coding for PIGF in a rat MCAO model of cerebral ischemia. Transplantation of both cell types 3 hours after MCAO reduced the lesion size, induced angiogenesis and improved motor function, but greater effects were observed when rats were treated with the PIGFtransformed MSCs. These results suggest that PIGF might be an interesting candidate for neuroprotective treatment in ischemic stroke. Moreover, PIGF, probably via its binding to NRPs, could also be of therapeutic interest in neurodegenerative disorders where decreased vascularisation was described, or in spinal cord trauma where angiogenesis and neuroprotection are necessary to support and enhance axonal regeneration.

PIGF: a glial activator?

The glial response plays an important role after nervous injury. In the injured central nervous system, the proliferation and migration of astrocytes result in a gliotic scar that can exert both beneficial and detrimental effects. As a matter of fact, this glial scar isolates the injury site by re-establishing the glia limitans, thus restricting the propagation of secondary



FIG. 2. — Double immunofluorescent stainings on normal and injured mouse sciatic nerve sections. PIGF (Rhodamine) and NF (A) or S100 (B) (FITC) double immunostainings, on crosssection of normal (A) and longitudinal section of injured (distal segment, B) sciatic nerves. In normal sciatic nerve, PIGF is found in axons underneath the axolemma (A). Schwann cells, which dedifferentiate and proliferate after loss of axonal contact, express PIGF from the first day after injury (B). Arrows point to Schwann cells expressing PIGF 24h after injury.

lesions, but it also creates a physical and chemical barrier to axonal regeneration (73, 74). In central nervous system injury, the role of VEGF in the glial response has already been assessed. Several studies show that VEGF stimulates astroglial proliferation and migration via its flt-1 receptor, but also that it facilitates the expression of several growth factors, such as ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF) and basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) (75-77). By contrast, the influence of PIGF in the formation of the astroglial scar remains unknown. However, highlights have been recently brought by recent studies showing that the early growth response (Egr-1) factor, which regulates the astrocytic expression of



FIG. 3. — Functional recovery. (A) Representative footprints obtained from wt and $Pgf \leftarrow mice$, 21 days after unilateral left sciatic nerve transection. Measurements of print length were made on the operated side (OPL) and the normal side (NPL). A mean of four values was then calculated for the OPL (xOPL) and NPL (xNPL), and a print-length factor (PLF) was calculated as follows: PLF = (xOPL – xNPL)/xNPL. (B) Graph showing the recovery of motor function after sciatic nerve transection determined by the PLF. During the first week following injury, PLF increases, indicating a marked disability in the injured paw. Later on, the PLF in wt mice progressively decreases, indicative of functional recovery. Worse recovery is evident in mice lacking PIGF compared to their wt controls.

phosphacan, a glial scar component, after experimental stroke (78), is a target gene for PIGF (79).

After peripheral nervous system injury, VEGF is expressed by Schwann cells (80, 81), stimulating their proliferation and migration (82-84) which is a crucial step for efficient axonal regeneration. Recently, we have published the first description of the expression and function of PIGF in the peripheral nervous system under normal physiological situation and after nerve injury (85). In the intact mouse sciatic nerve, PIGF is found in axons underneath the axolemma, while it is expressed by Schwann cells after axotomy (Fig. 2). Using transgenic knock-out mice for the PIGF gene (Pgf^{-r}) and a multidisciplinary approach, we were able to demonstrate that PIGF plays a role in Wallerian degeneration: it stimulates proliferation and migration of Schwann cells, as well as the inflammatory response by inducing MCP-1 expression and macrophage recruitment, essential for successful repair. Thus, PIGF depletion in Pgf^{-r} results in delayed axonal regeneration and impaired functional recovery (Fig. 3).

Conclusion

Currently, PIGF has received much less attention than VEGF-A as a potential treatment for neurological disorders. However, this careful analysis of the literature highlights the fact that the neuroprotective and neurotrophic effects of VEGF-A are mainly due to its binding to neuropilins and to a lesser extent to VEGFR-1, both of which being also PIGF receptors. It is only recently that specific studies have been devoted to PIGF demonstrating that it has its proper neuroprotective/neurotrophic properties.

A major drawback of the therapeutic use of VEGF-A in brain or spinal cord injury is increase in vascular permeability and oedema formation (87) because of its pro-angiogenic properties (9, 86). The effect of PIGF on vascular permeability remains disputed. Some reports have shown that only VEGF-A analogues activating VEGFR-2 are able to increase vascular permeability (88, 89). The lack of such an effect for PIGF could thus make it a more appropriate candidate than VEGF-A for neurological treatment. However, experiments using mutant mice in which PIGF is under- or over-expressed have respectively revealed a decrease (90) or an increase (91, 92) of the vascular permeability in pathological conditions. One explanation, according to Carmeliet et al. (93) is that the PIGF-induced increase in vascular permeability is an indirect effect, consequence of the displacement of VEGF-A from VEGFR-1 to VEGFR-2, as PIGF competes with VEGF-A for VEGFR-1 in pathological conditions.

Taken together, VEGF and PIGF, despite proven experimental advantages, could be double-sided swords as neuroprotective/neurotrophic treatments for ischemic, degenerative or traumatic neurological disorders. In future therapeutic studies, it might be worthwhile to explore the effect of a combination of PIGF to induce beneficial tissue modelling effects and a VEGFR-2 inhibitor to block the VEGFdependent angiogenic effect.

REFERENCES

- 1. Vesalius A. De Humani Corporis Fabrica (The Fabric of the Human Body). Oporinus, Basel, 1543.
- Martin P, Lewis J. Origins of the neurovascular bundle: interactions between developing nerves and blood vessels in embryonic chick skin. Int. J. Dev. Biol. 1989;33:379-387.

- 3. Neufeld G, Cohen T, Shraga N, Lange T, Kessler O, Herzog Y. The neuropilins: multifunctional semaphorin and VEGF receptors that modulate axon guidance and angiogenesis. Trends Cardiovasc Med. 2002;12:13-19.
- 4. Carmeliet P. Blood vessels and nerves: common signals, pathways and diseases. Nature Rev. Genet. 2003;4:710-720.
- Gu C, Rodriguez ER, Reimert DV, Shu T, Fritzsch B. et al. Neuropilin-1 conveys semaphorin and VEGF signaling during neural and cardiovascular development. Dev Cell. 2003;5:45-57.
- 6. Autiero M, De Smet F, Claes F, Carmeliet P. Role of neural guidance signals in blood vessel navigation. Cardiovasc Res. 2005;65:629-638.
- Carmeliet P, Tessier-Lavigne M. Common mechanisms of nerve and blood vessel wiring. Nature. 2005;436:193-200.
- 8. Fantin A, Maden CH, Ruhrberg C. Neuropilin ligands in vascular and neuronal patterning. Biochem Soc Trans. 2009;37:1228-32.
- 9. Senger DR, Galli SJ, Dvorak AM, Perruzzi CA, Harvey VS, Dvorak HF. Tumor cells secrete a vascular permeability factor that promotes accumulation of ascites fluid. Science. 1983;219:983-985.
- Leung DW, Cachianes G, Kuang WJ, Goeddel DV, Ferrara N. Vascular endothelial growth factor is a secreted angiogenic mitogen. Science. 1989;246: 1306-1309.
- Soker S, Takashima S, Miao HQ, Neufeld G, Klagsbrun M. Neuropilin-1 is expressed by endothelial and tumor cells as an isoform-specific receptor for vascular endothelial growth factor. Cell. 1998;92: 735-45.
- Gluzman-Poltorak Z, Cohen T, Herzog Y, Neufeld G. Neuropilin-2 is a receptor for the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) forms VEGF-145 and VEGF-165. J Biol Chem. 2000;275:18040-5. Erratum in: J Biol Chem. 2000;275:29922.
- Bagnard D, Vaillant C, Khuth ST, Dufay N, Lohrum M. *et al.* Semaphorin 3A-vascular endothelial growth factor-165 balance mediates migration and apoptosis of neural progenitor cells by the recruitment of shared receptor. J Neurosci. 2001;21:3332-3341.
- Jin K, Zhu Y, Sun Y, Mao XO, Xie L, Greenberg DA. Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) stimulates neurogenesis in vitro and in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2002;99:11946-11950.
- Tjwa M, Luttun A, Autiero M, Carmeliet P. VEGF and PIGF: two pleiotropic growth factors with distinct roles in development and homeostasis. Cell Tissue Res. 2003;314:5-14.
- Zhu Y, Jin K, Mao XO, Greenberg DA. Vascular endothelial growth factor promotes proliferation of cortical neuron precursors by regulating E2F expression. FASEB J. 2003;17:186-193.
- 17. Le Bras B, Barallobre MJ, Homman-Ludiye J, Ny A, Wyns S. *et al.* VEGF-C is a trophic factor for neural progenitors in the vertebrate embryonic brain. Nature Neurosci. 2006;9:340-348.

- Oosthuyse B, Moons L, Storkebaum E, Beck H, Nuyens D. *et al.* Deletion of the hypoxia-response element in the vascular endothelial growth factor promoter causes motor neuron degeneration. Nat Genet. 2001;28:131-138.
- 19. Lambrechts D, Storkebaum E, Morimoto M, Del-Favero J, Desmet F. *et al.* VEGF is a modifier of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis in mice and humans and protects motoneurons against ischemic death. Nat Genet. 2003;34:383-94.
- Li B, Xu W, Luo C, Gozal D, Liu R.VEGF-induced activation of the PI3-K/Akt pathway reduces mutant SOD1-mediated motor neuron cell death. Brain Res Mol Brain Res. 2003;111:155-64.
- 21. Devos D, Moreau C, Lassalle P, Perez T, De Seze J. *et al.* Low levels of the vascular endothelial growth factor in CSF from early ALS patients. Neurology. 2004;62:2127-9.
- Van Den Bosch L, Storkebaum E, Vleminckx V, Moons L, Vanopdenbosch L. *et al.* Effects of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) on motor neuron degeneration. Neurobiol Dis. 2004;17:21-28.
- 23. Zheng C, Nennesmo I, Fadeel B, Henter JI. Vascular endothelial growth factor prolongs survival in a transgenic mouse model of ALS. Ann Neurol. 2004;56: 564-7.
- 24. Wang Y, Mao XO, Xie L, Banwait S, Marti HH, Greenberg DA, Jin K. Vascular endothelial growth factor overexpression delays neurodegeneration and prolongs survival in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis mice. J Neurosci. 2007;27:304-7.
- 25. Chen D, Shen L, Wang L, Lu A, Zhang H. *et al.* Association of polymorphisms in vascular endothelial growth factor gene with the age of onset of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Amyotroph Lateral Scler. 2007;8:144-9.
- Zheng C, Sköld MK, Li J, Nennesmo I, Fadeel B, Henter JI. VEGF reduces astrogliosis and preserves neuromuscular junctions in ALS transgenic mice. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2007;363:989-93.
- 27. Hwang DH, Lee HJ, Park IH, Seok JI, Kim BG, Joo IS, Kim SU. Intrathecal transplantation of human neural stem cells overexpressing VEGF provides behavioral improvement, disease onset delay and survival extension in transgenic ALS mice. Gene Ther. 2009;16:1234-44.
- Lunn JS, Sakowski SA, Kim B, Rosenberg AA, Feldman EL. Vascular endothelial growth factor prevents G93A-SOD1-induced motor neuron degeneration. Dev Neurobiol. 2009;69:871-84.
- 29. Kalaria RN, Cohen DL, Premkumar DR, Nag S, LaManna JC, Lust WD. Vascular endothelial growth factor in Alzheimer's disease and experimental cerebral ischemia. Brain Res. 1998;62:101-105.
- Mateo I, Llorca J, Infante J, Rodriguez-Rodriguez E, Fernandez-Viadero C. *et al.* Low serum VEGF levels are associated with Alzheimer's disease. Acta Neurol Scand. 2007;116:56-58.
- 31. Ryu JK, Cho T, Choi HB, Wang YT, McLarnon JG. Microglial VEGF receptor response is an integral

chemotactic component in Alzheimer's disease pathology. J Neurosci. 2009;29:3-13.

- 32. Yasuhara T, Shingo T, Muraoka K, wen Ji Y, Kameda M. *et al.* The differences between high and low-dose administration of VEGF to dopaminergic neurons of in vitro and in vivo Parkinson's disease model. Brain Res. 2005;1038:1-10.
- 33. Tian YY, Tang CJ, Wang JN, Feng Y, Chen XW. *et al.* Favorable effects of VEGF gene transfer on a rat model of Parkinson disease using adeno-associated viral vectors. Neurosci Lett. 2007;421:239-44.
- Zhang ZG, Zhang L, Jiang Q, Zhang R, Davies K. *et al.* VEGF enhances angiogenesis and promotes blood-brain barrier leakage in the ischemic brain. J Clin Invest. 2000;106:829-38.
- 35. Croll SD, Wiegand SJ. Vascular growth factors in cerebral ischemia. Mol Neurobiol. 2001;23:121-35.
- 36. Yang ZJ, Bao WL, Qiu MH, Zhang LM, Lu SD, Huang YL, Sun FY. Role of vascular endothelial growth factor in neuronal DNA damage and repair in rat brain following a transient cerebral ischemia. J Neurosci Res. 2002;70:140-9.
- Sun Y, Jin K, Xie L, Childs J, Mao XO, Logvinova A, Greenberg DA. VEGF-induced neuroprotection, neurogenesis, and angiogenesis after focal cerebral ischemia. J Clin Invest. 2003;111:1843-51.
- 38. Manoonkitiwongsa PS, Schultz RL, McCreery DB, Whitter EF, Lyden PD Neuroprotection of ischemic brain by vascular endothelial growth factor is critically dependent on proper dosage and may be compromised by angiogenesis.J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2004;24:693-702.
- Chu K, Park KI, Lee ST, Jung KH, Ko SY. *et al.* Combined treatment of vascular endothelial growth factor and human neural stem cells in experimental focal cerebral ischemia. Neurosci Res. 2005;53:384-90.
- Wang Y, Galvan V, Gorostiza O, Ataie M, Jin K, Greenberg DA. Vascular endothelial growth factor improves recovery of sensorimotor and cognitive deficits after focal cerebral ischemia in the rat. Brain Res. 2006;1115:186-93.
- 41. Hermann DM, Zechariah A. Implications of vascular endothelial growth factor for postischemic neurovascular remodeling. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2009;29:1620-43.
- 42. Wang YQ, Cui HR, Yang SZ, Sun HP, Qiu MH, Feng XY, Sun FY. VEGF enhance cortical newborn neurons and their neurite development in adult rat brain after cerebral ischemia. Neurochem Int. 2009;55:629-36.
- 43. Emerich DF, Silva E, Ali O, Mooney D, Bell W. *et al.* Injectable VEGF hydrogels produce near complete neurological and anatomical protection following cerebral ischemia in rats. Cell Transplant. 2010 Apr 21.
- 44. Facchiano F, Fernandez E, Mancarella S, Maira G, Miscusi M. *et al.* Promotion of regeneration of corticospinal tract axons in rats with recombinant vascular endothelial growth factor alone and combined with

adenovirus coding for this factor. J Neurosurg. 2002; 97:161-8.

- 45. Liu Y, Figley S, Spratt SK, Lee G, Ando D. *et al.* An engineered transcription factor which activates VEGF-A enhances recovery after spinal cord injury. Neurobiol Dis. 2010;37:384-93.
- 46. Kim HM, Hwang DH, Lee JE, Kim SU, Kim BG. Ex vivo VEGF delivery by neural stem cells enhances proliferation of glial progenitors, angiogenesis, and tissue sparing after spinal cord injury. PLoS One. 2009;4:e4987.
- Maglione D, Guerriero V, Viglietto G, Delli Bovi P, Persico MG. Isolation of a human placenta cDNA coding for a protein related to the vascular permeability factor. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 1991;88:9267-9271.
- De Falco S, Gigante B, Persico MG, Structure and function of Placental growth factor. Trends Cardiovasc. Med. 2002;12:241-6.
- 49. Yonekura H, Sakurai S, Liu X, Migita H, Wang H, Yamagishi S-I *et al.* Placenta growth factor and vascular endothelial growth factor B and C expression in microvascular endothelial cells and pericytes. J Biol Chem. 1999;274:35172-8.
- Beck H, Acker T, Puschel AW, Fujisawa H, Carmeliet P, Plate KH. Cell type-specific expression of neuropilins in an MCA-occlusion model in mice suggests a potential role in post-ischemic brain remodelling. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 2002;61: 339-50.
- 51. Autiero M, Luttun A, Tjwa M, Carmeliet P, Placental growth factor and its receptor, vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-1 : novel targets for stimulation of ischemic tissue revascularization and inhibition of angiogenic and inflammatory disorders. J Thromb Haemost. 2003;1:1356-70.
- 52. Clauss M, Weich H, Breier G, Knies U, Röckl W, Waltenberger J, Risau W. The vascular endothelial growth factor receptor Flt-1 mediates biological activities. Implications for a functional role of placenta growth factor in monocyte activation and chemotaxis. J Biol Chem. 1996;271:17629-34.
- 53. Selvaraj SK, Giri RK, Perelman N, Johnson C, Malik P, Kalra VK. Mechanism of monocyte activation and expression of proinflammatory cytochemokines by placenta growth factor. Blood 2003;102:1515-24.
- 54. Perelman N, Selvaraj SK, Batra S, Luck LR, Erdreich-Epstein A, Coates TD *et al.* Placenta growth factor activates monocytes and correlates with sickle cell disease severity. Blood 2003;102:1506-14.
- 55. Storkebaum E, Lambrechts D, Carmeliet P. VEGF: once regarded as a specific angiogenic factor, now implicated in neuroprotection. Bioessays. 2004;26: 943-54.
- Góra-Kupilas K, Jo ko J. The neuroprotective function of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF). Folia Neuropathol. 2005;43:31-9.
- 57. Sun FY, Guo X. Molecular and cellular mechanisms of neuroprotection by vascular endothelial growth factor. J Neurosci Res. 2005;79:180-4.

- Hansen TM, Moss AJ, Brindle NP. Vascular endothelial growth factor and angiopoietins in neurovascular regeneration and protection following stroke. Curr Neurovasc Res. 2008;5:236-45.
- 59. Pucci S, Mazzarelli P, Missiroli F, Regine F, Ricci F. Neuroprotection: VEGF, IL-6, and clusterin: the dark side of the moon. Prog Brain Res. 2008;173:555-73.
- 60. Takahashi T, Fournier A, Nakamura F, Wang LH, Murakami Y. *et al.* Plexin-neuropilin-1 complexes form functional semaphorin-3A receptors. Cell. 1999;99:59-69.
- 61. Migdal M, Huppertz B, Tessler S, Comforti A, Shibuya M. *et al.* Neuropilin-1 is a placenta growth factor-2 receptor. J Biol Chem. 1998;273:22272-8.
- Neufeld G, Kessler O, Herzog Y. The interaction of Neuropilin-1 and Neuropilin-2 with tyrosine-kinase receptors for VEGF. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2002;515:81-90.
- 63. Hayashi T, Noshita N, Sugawara T, Chan PH. Temporal profile of angiogenesis and expression of related genes in the brain after ischemia. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab. 2003;23:166-80.
- 64. Cheng L, Jia H, Löhr M, Bagherzadeh A, Holmes DI, Selwood D, Zachary I. Anti-chemorepulsive effects of vascular endothelial growth factor and placental growth factor-2 in dorsal root ganglion neurons are mediated via neuropilin-1 and cyclooxygenasederived prostanoid production. J Biol Chem. 2004;279:30654-61.
- 65. Du H, Li P, Pan Y, Li W, Hou J. *et al.* Vascular endothelial growth factor signaling implicated in neuroprotective effects of placental growth factor in an in vitro ischemic model. Brain Res. 2010;1357:1-8.
- 66. Chen J, Li Y, Wang L, Lu M, Zhang X, Chopp M. Therapeutic benefit of intracerebral transplantation of bone marrow stromal cells after cerebral ischemia in rats. J Neurol Sci. 2001;189:49-57.
- 67. Iihoshi S, Honmou O, Houkin K, Hashi K, Kocsis JD. A therapeutic window for intravenous administration of autologous bone marrow after cerebral ischemia in adult rats. Brain Res. 2004;1007:1-9.
- Honma T, Honmou O, Iihoshi S, Harada K, Houkin K. *et al.* Intravenous infusion of immortalized human mesenchymal stem cells protects against injury in a cerebral ischemia model in adult rat. Exp Neurol. 2006;199:56-66.
- 69. van Velthoven CT, Kavelaars A, van Bel F, Heijnen CJ. Regeneration of the ischemic brain by engineered stem cells: fuelling endogenous repair processes. Brain Res Rev. 2009;61:1-13.
- Chen X, Li Y, Wang L, Katakowski M, Zhang L. *et al.* Ischemic rat brain extracts induce human marrow stromal cell growth factor production. Neuropathology. 2002;22:275–9.
- Kinnaird T, Stabile E, Burnett MS, Shou M, Lee CW. *et al.* Local delivery of marrow-derived stromal cells augments collateral perfusion through paracrine mechanisms. Circulation. 2004;109:1543-9.

- 72. Liu H, Honmou O, Harada K, Nakamura K, Houkin K, Hamada H, Kocsis JD Neuroprotection by PIGF gene-modified human mesenchymal stem cells after cerebral ischaemia. Brain. 2006;129: 2734-2745.
- Stichel C, Müller HW. The CNS lesion scar: new vistas on an old regeneration barrier, Cell Tissue Res. 1998;294:1-9.
- Sofroniew MV. Molecular dissection of reactive astrogliosis and glial scar formation. Trends Neurosci. 2009;32:638-47.
- 75. Mani N, Khaibullina A, Krum JM, Rosenstein JM. Astrocyte growth effects of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) application to perinatal neocortical explants: receptor mediation and signal transduction pathways. Exp Neurol. 2005;192:394-406.
- 76. Krum JM, Mani N, Rosenstein JM. Roles of the endogenous VEGF receptors flt-1 and flk-1 in astroglial and vascular remodeling after brain injury. Exp Neurol. 2008;212:108-17.
- Mani N, Khaibullina A, Krum JM, Rosenstein JM. Vascular endothelial growth factor enhances migration of astroglial cells in subventricular zone neurosphere cultures. J Neurosci Res. 2010;88:248-57.
- Beck H, Semisch M, Culmsee C, Plesnila N, Hatzopoulos AK. Egr-1 regulates expression of the glial scar component phosphacan in astrocytes after experimental stroke. Am J Pathol. 2008;173:77-92.
- 79. Patel N, Kalra VK. Placenta growth factor (PIGF)induced early growth response 1 (Egr-1) regulates hypoxia inducible factor-1{alpha} (HIF-1{alpha}) in endothelial cells. J Biol Chem. 2010;285:20570-9.
- 80. Scarlato M, Ara J, Bannerman P, Scherer S, Pleasure D. Induction of neuropilins-1 and -2 and their ligands, Sema3A, Sema3F, and VEGF, during Wallerian degeneration in the peripheral nervous system. Exp Neurol. 2003;183:489-98. Erratum in: Exp Neurol. 2004;187:539.
- Gupta R, Gray M, Chao T, Bear D, Modafferi E, Mozaffar T. Schwann cells upregulate vascular endothelial growth factor secondary to chronic nerve compression injury. Muscle Nerve. 2005;31:452-60.
- 82. Sondell M, Lundborg G, Kanje M. Vascular endothelial growth factor has neurotrophic activity and stimulates axonal outgrowth, enhancing cell survival and Schwann cell proliferation in the peripheral nervous system. J Neurosci. 1999a;19: 5731-40.
- Sondell M, Lundborg G, Kanje M. Vascular endothelial growth factor stimulates Schwann cell invasion and neovascularization of acellular nerve grafts. Brain Res. 1999b;846: 219-28.

- Hobson MI, Green CJ, Terenghi G. VEGF enhances intraneural angiogenesis and improves nerve regeneration after axotomy. J Anat. 2000;197:591-605.
- 85. Chaballe L, Close P, Sempels M, Delstanche S, Fanielle J. *et al.* Involvement of Placental growth factor in Wallerian degeneration. Glia;in press.
- Benton RL, Whittemore SR. VEGF165 therapy exacerbates secondary damage following spinal cord injury. Neurochem Res. 2003;28:1693-703.
- van Bruggen N, Thibodeaux H, Palmer JT, Lee WP, Fu L. *et al.* VEGF antagonism reduces edema formation and tissue damage after ischemia/ reperfusion injury in the mouse brain. J Clin Invest. 1999;104:1613-20.
- Hillman NJ, Whittles CE, Pocock TM, Williams B, Bates DO. Differential effects of vascular endothelial growth factor-C and placental growth factor-1 on the hydraulic conductivity of frog mesenteric capillaries. J Vasc Res. 2001;38:176-86.
- Brkovic A, Sirois MG. Vascular permeability induced by VEGF family members in vivo: role of endogenous PAF and NO synthesis. J Cell Biochem. 2007;100:727-37.
- Luttun A, Brusselmans K, Fukao H, Tjwa M, Ueshima S. *et al.* Loss of placental growth factor protects mice against vascular permeability in pathological conditions. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2002;295:428-34.
- Odorisio T, Schietroma C, Zaccaria ML, Cianfarani F, Tiveron C. *et al.* Mice overexpressing placenta growth factor exhibit increased vascularization and vessel permeability. J Cell Sci. 2002;115:2559-67.
- 92. Oura H, Bertoncini J, Velasco P, Brown LF, Carmeliet P, Detmar M. A critical role of placental growth factor in the induction of inflammation and edema formation. Blood. 2003;101:560-7.
- 93. Carmeliet P, Moons L, Luttun A, Vincenti V, Compernolle V. *et al.* Synergism between vascular endothelial growth factor and placental growth factor contributes to angiogenesis and plasma extravasation in pathological conditions. Nat Med. 2001;7:575-83.

Rachelle Franzen, Axonal Regeneration and Cephalic Pain Research Unit, Giga Neurosciences B36, +1, University of Liege, Avenue de l'Hôpital, 1, 4000 Liege (Belgium). E-mail: rfranzen@ulg.ac.be